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The Group will reinforce the core positioning of Trendsetting designs and EBBENEE WBLERBES  BFHRIEBETE:
state-of-the-art Craftsmanship through product mix refinement. SIEEIR - D&z O FERL



By adjusting our business strategies in a timely and forward-
looking manner, the Group will continue to deliver better
returns to our shareholders in the future.

HAVRIE B8 MR A B BT R A5 BRE J92 -
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
BBEE

Dividend Per Share (HK$) Turnover (HK$'M)
SRS (BT) EERTE(E¥BEET)
012 - 5,000
0.104
o1l 0.094 f 4137 4,065
» i 4,000 - e
o | 3,41 3 N
0.08 |- i 3 . 1 ;
! NIL NIL o i 2914
0.0525 / : ! 3,000 i ! i . 2,649
006/ | | | | | | .
¢ | | | | | | |
0.04 3 3 3 2,000 3 3 3 3 3
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
Net Assets Attributable to Owners of (Loss)/Profit Attributable to Owners of
the Company Per Share (HK$) the Company (HK$'M)
KARIHEANGREMFEE (BT) RAREEAEN (BB /&N (BEEET)
54
5r 60 - 49
4.63 4.67 A
o 40 23 1
¢ 437 ! P
| | | 20 [ | s
i | ® | ! i
| | oF | | |
aF 3 N 20k 3 :
| | i N 3.6 8 | | | (44)
| | | N\ ¢ -40 ; | | .
! | | L3 : | | : g
| | | | | 60 | | (90) |
| | | | | 80 | | | ) |
3 ‘ : : : : : : : b :
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

005



“It’s not how or where you work that counts,
but only the quality of your ideas and
the skills you bring to bear on each task.”

ENGAGING A
NEW WAY
OF WORKING



FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS (CONTINUED) -Bt #% 1 2 (#&)

Year ended
31 March
2021
HZ20215F
3A31H
HEE

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (HK$'M)

Fatzmiaik CB¥AET)

Thirteen
Year ended Year ended  months ended Year ended
31 March 31 March 31 March 28 February
2020 2019 20184 2017
#HZE2020F HZE2019F HZE20185F HZE2017F
3HZH 3H3H 3A3AL 2R28H
IFFE HFE T=EA HFE

Turnover BERE 2,649
(Loss)/profit before tax BrEAT (B518),/ &R m
(Loss)/profit for the year/period %5 /%8 (&E),/ BF (44)
(Loss)/profit attributable to RARHEA AN (E18),/ &7

owners of the Company (44)

2914 4,065 4,137 341
(60) 99 90 52
(90) 54 50 23
(90) 54 49 23

PER SHARE (HK$)

LA RRET (FS7T)
(Loss)/earnings (B518) /&7 (0.18)
Dividend 15850 Nil
Dividend payout ratio EELLLE Nil
Net assets attributable to RARBEARIEFEE

owners of the Company 3.78
Market price mE 0.84

(0.36) 0.22 0.20 0.09*
Nil 0.104 0.094 0.0525
Nil 48% 47% 48%

3.61 4.37 4.67 4.63

0.90 1.80 2.20 2.50

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (HK$'M)

el RmE (B aET)

No. of shares ("M shares) R RS (B &) 249 249 249 247 210
Shareholders’ funds BEES 942 900 1,086 1153 974
Borrowings BE 989 1,014 788 787 1,023
Cash and cash equivalent RekHeSEY 379 337 251 268 324
Net gearing ratio® =R ta 31% 49% 35% 40% 55%
Market capitalisation Dkl 209 224 447 543 526
a Pursuant to a resolution of the Board dated 23 May 2017, the Company’s financial ~ * RIEESZTEN2017FS5A23B ZREE » BHZE2018F

year end date has been changed from 28 February (or 29 February in a leap year)
to 31 March commencing from the financial period ended 31 March 2018.

Adjusted for the bonus issue effected during the thirteen months ended 31 March
2018.

# The net gearing ratio is the ratio of total interest-bearing debts, which excludes
lease liabilities, less cash and cash equivalents and time deposits to total equity.

IANBALEYBEREE ARG ZMBREREEEHR2A
288 (R EFEA2A298) FA3IA31H »

* RIEAIRR 3 7TE 20183 A31A L+ =@ A MM &
YEH AR -

: FRELRRRHAEEE (TREEERRA
ReEEMARERER) BEEG 2L E -
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
~EEH

COMPANY NAME YNCIEE
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Chui Chi Yun, Robert BEEC

Chan Yue Kwong, Michael BRAA

Chow Chee Wai, Christopher A&
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Ng Yi Kum, Estella hE=E

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES REREK

Yau On Yee, Annie i ea

Ng Yi Kum, Estella hE=sE

AUDIT COMMITTEE BREES

Chui Chi Yun, Robert (Chairman) EEC(FE)

Chan Yue Kwong, Michael BRAA

Chow Chee Wai, Christopher e
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE FMEES

Chow Chee Wai, Christopher (Chairman) BRE (£mE)

Chui Chi Yun, Robert EEC

Chan Yue Kwong, Michael PR

Yau On Yee, Annie il

Ng Yi Kum, Estella L=

NOMINATION COMMITTEE REZEES

Chan Yue Kwong, Michael (Chairman) FR¥A Y (EFE)

Chow Chee Wai, Christopher ARE

Yau On Yee, Annie il

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE BITEEE

Yau On Yee, Annie (Chairman) R (F/E)

Ng Yi Kum, Estella hE=

LEGAL ADVISER EERE

Reed Smith Richards Butler BEBABEMT

17/F, One Island East, EEHRE

Taikoo Place, 18 Westlands Road, EBRIS ALY
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong BEERLTE
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AUDITOR

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor

27/F, One Taikoo Place, 979 King’s Road, Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS
Hang Seng Bank Limited
83 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong

China CITIC Bank International Limited
61-65 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong

China Construction Bank (Asia) Corporation Limited
28/F, CCB Tower, 3 Connaught Road Central, Central, Hong Kong

Fubon Bank (Hong Kong) Limited
Fubon Bank Building, 38 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong

United Overseas Bank Limited
28/F, Champion Tower, 3 Garden Road, Central, Hong Kong

Chong Hing Bank Limited
G/F, Chong Hing Bank Centre, 24 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong

Bangkok Bank Public Company Limited, Hong Kong Branch
Bangkok Bank Building, 28 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong

Dah Sing Bank, Limited
26/F, Dah Sing Financial Centre,
248 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17/F, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Ground Floor, Block B, Summit Building,
30 Man Yue Street, Hunghom, Kowloon, Hong Kong

STOCK CODE
417

WEBSITE

www.tslj.com
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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS

Dear Shareholders,

|, on behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Tse Sui Luen Jewellery
(International) Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the
“Group”), present the annual report and consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 March 2021 (the “Year”).

The length and scale of the COVID-19 pandemic has come to define the Year
as an extraordinary one for all - no one’s life was left untouched by this
scourge. City lock downs, travel restrictions, quarantine and social distancing
measures became the norm, with life becoming more like a roller coaster as
the virus advanced and retreated within communities and countries seemingly
at will. Economic activity plunged resulting in a sharp GDP contraction in most
countries. Nevertheless, challenging environments breed opportunities for
growth. The COVID-19 crisis has accelerated structural changes within the retail
industry, particularly in e-commerce development which now becomes the
economic growth engine for most retailers. The vaccines have now launched
in various countries across the globe giving a shot of hope, but uncertainties
about their efficacy and the emerging COVID-19 variants still cloud the near to
midterm outlook.

In the past year, the pandemic has exacerbated the US-China trade war and
political tensions that pushed Hong Kong into deeper recession. The sharp fall
in Mainland Chinese and international visitors has taken a significant toll on the
retail and tourism-related markets in Hong Kong and Macau. Coupled with the
rising unemployment rate, local economic activities and private consumption
have shrunk dramatically to compound matters. We are still hamstrung by high
rentals on some existing shop tenancies, and the diminishing rental concessions
are not sufficient to help out our loss of business from reduced customer traffics.
Compared with last year's low base figures, we have achieved some growth
in the last quarter of the Year despite the sales volume being only a fraction
of that in a normal year. The Group’s overall business in Hong Kong continued
to suffer in the midst of a recession, and recovery has hitherto proved fragile.
There is no escaping that the on and off national lockdowns in Malaysia caused
disruption to our business operation in Malaysia. We have made strenuous effort
in boosting the promotional and discount activities in all our operating regions
to unlock ourselves in this difficult time.

R R B &R A
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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS (CONTINUED) -8 R &y (i (&)

Mainland China’s effective containment policies and stringent lockdowns have
quickly curb the domestic spread of the pandemic, together with the “internal
circulation” policy, the consumer sentiment and spending have rebounded
since the summer of 2020. Notwithstanding the ongoing US-China trade war
and Renminbi fluctuation, China’s economy is hitting its stride again with
speedy recovery. Life in Mainland China has almost returned to normal. Against
this backdrop, we have benefited from the domestic travel boom and the
encouraging local consumption power that have made us some good turns in
the stressful economic environment.

In tandem with various cost saving measures taken to constrain the expenditure
in times of adversity, we have kept up investment in our vision of the new
digital life. The pandemic has given us a difficult time to go through, but also
sent us challenges to bolster our inner strength. In preparation of our brand
rejuvenation to take the Group to a new chapter, we sped up our online business
development progress. The upgrade of the Group’s major IT systems has been
concluded during the Year. | am delighted to share with you that our official
Hong Kong eShop was launched in early 2021. We are also refining the store
network for a balance of profitability and customer reach to better serve our in-
store and online customers for future organic growth.

In furtherance of in-store and online as complimentary channels, we will carry
on upgrading our physical and online shops and rolling out the custom-made
services to enrich the Group’s virtual and in-store offerings. At the same time,
we are revitalizing our brand positioning of “Trendsetting Craftsmanship” that
the Group offers styles for different stages of life through gem-set jewelry,
stylish accessories and wedding accouterments. By connecting and providing
meaningful interaction with shoppers, both in the physical and digital worlds,
our customer centricity through omni-channel engagement will usher in a new
facet of retail experience to consumers.
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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS (CONTINUED) -8 R & (i (&)

The healthiness of staff and customers is of paramount importance to us,
particularly under the pandemic. We have redoubled our safety and hygiene
measures to ensure that our customers and staff could continue to enjoy a safe
shopping and working environment. Further details of measures and activities
undertaken during the Year relating to our corporate social responsibility will
be disclosed in a separate Environmental, Social and Governance Report. The
section headed “The TSL | #{E& 8 Foundation” in this annual report also narrated
the events of The TSL | 3w Foundation, a charitable trust, for sustaining the
development of creative industries in Hong Kong.

Lastly, | would like to thank Mr. Erwin Steve Huang, our former non-executive
director who retired from his position at the last annual general meeting in
September 2020, for his dedication and countless contributions to the Group
over the years. | would also like to thank for the effort from my fellow directors
during this difficult year, and the trust and support from our business partners
and other stakeholders. My sincere gratitude also goes to our devoted staff
members, particularly the frontline staff, for their wholehearted effort towards
the development of the Group, and to our loyal customers for their fondness
for our brand and products. We are committed to striving for long-term growth
with the aim of generating sustainable returns for our shareholders.

Yau On Yee, Annie
Chairman

Hong Kong, 23 June 2021
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEEBZT®RDN

RESULTS OF THE GROUP

The turnover of the Group for the Year was HK$2,648.6 million, representing a
decrease of 9.1% as compared to HK$2,913.8 million for the year ended 31 March
2020 (*2019/20”). The loss attributable to owners of the Company for the Year
reduced by 51.0% from HK$89.7 million to HK$44.0 million. The loss per share
for the Year was 17.6 HK cents.

During the Year, the ever-evolving COVID-19 pandemic continued to challenge
governments, business and society generally as each scrambled to try to find
acceptable solutions and to balance between these in order to address the
numerous health and financial impacts of the same. International travel came to
a standstill with many countries closing their borders and/or imposing severe
entry restrictions and quarantine rules and enacting a large range of social
distancing measures all of which have severely dampened consumer sentiment.

The COVID-19 pandemic has been a catastrophe for the retail industry,
particularly for jewelry and luxury retailers. The Group, as a jeweler, was
not spared and encountered unprecedented challenges to its business in all
operating regions. We have seen the economies of some regions emerge more
quickly from the pandemic than others as different regions took different
approaches to combat/control the pandemic with varying degrees of success.
Fortunately, Mainland China was one of the first to start to emerge from the
pandemic since mid-2020 when it reopened its factories, stores and restaurants
resulting in a rebound in its economy. Under the stimulus of the easing of border
restrictions that brought visitors back to Macau, our business in Macau was on a
track of recovery since September 2020. Such a rebound offers us glimpses of
hope that the Group’s businesses in Mainland China and Macau have gradually
recovered to pre-pandemic level, whereas the recurring COVID-19 has put the
sales in other operating regions under pressure, particularly Hong Kong.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED) - BB Ez s m k2 (&)

To overcome such difficult times, especially in Hong Kong, the Group has
continued to implement various cost saving measures, such as relentless
negotiation with landlords for rental relief and more favorable lease renewal,
shortening of shop opening hours and temporary shop closures to minimize
operating expenses and the lowering of inventory to a healthy level. The Group
also streamlined its organizational structure and restructured its retail network
in a timely and forward-looking manner to mitigate the impacts of COVID-19 on
its businesses at the initial stage of the outbreak. The resulting full year effect of
the above measures together with the government subsidies helped relieve our
stress from the pandemic. Despite a comparatively more positive outlook for
the upcoming financial year, the COVID-19 pandemic is unlikely to subside in the
near future, as it will take time for the vaccines to be deployed globally and for
the business activities and social life to return to normal. The Group will continue
its pursuit of improved cost effectiveness and maintenance of a sound financial
position ready for the steady recovery and post-COVID-19 development.

BUSINESS REVIEW
Retailing Business
Hong Kong and Macau

Both Hong Kong’s and Macau'’s retail sectors rely heavily on tourist footfall and
spending. The absence of tourists due to COVID-19, coupled with the year-long
containment measures and the postponement or cancellation of weddings, have
led to weak consumer sentiment and domestic demand for fine jewelry, which in
turn caused the Group’s sales in Hong Kong and Macau to plummet. The demand
for gold jewelry was also affected by gold price fluctuations, which surged in
the first half of 2020 but then slowly fell with a solid support. Discount-based
promotions have improved the Group’s sales slump since September 2020 with
a slight increase of 4.5% in the average amount per invoice. During the Year,
the turnover of our Hong Kong and Macau retail businesses decreased by 50.2%
with negative same-store sales of 39.0%.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED) -ERBE z 5w k24T (&)

As the retail market in Hong Kong remains lackluster while rents stay
exorbitantly high, the Group has strategically closed 4 underperforming stores
in Causeway Bay, Mong Kok, Tsim Sha Tsui and Wong Tai Sin, resulting in a total
number of 25 stores in Hong Kong as at 31 March 2021. The Group has critically
reviewed the profitability and growth potential of each store upon tenancy
renewals and adjusted its store portfolio to achieve a balanced mix of store
locations. Adhering to a prudent approach and stringent cost management, we
will keep striving to minimize the rental expenses and consider store closure
if its rental cost could not reach our target level. The pace of economic and
retail recovery in Hong Kong heavily depends on the timeline for the significant
relaxation of social distancing measures and the resumption of cross-border
travel. There is a slim chance for border reopening within the coming months
as that hinges on the vaccination rate and transmission risk, but the Group will
certainly weather the storm with the right business strategies.

In stark contrast, Macau opened up its border to Mainland China visitors once it
had reined in the pandemic since last September. The key jump in visitors does
have a positive impact on luxury shopping that drives the Group’s recovery
trajectory in Macau. The Group’s number of stores in Macau remained as 3 at the
end of the Year.

Mainland China

On the bright side, the COVID-19 outbreak has been brought under control
in Mainland China and China’s economy is recovering with good progress.
The Group’s sales performance in Mainland China has returned to almost
pre-pandemic level since summer 2020 and has gradually regained growth
momentum. A year-on-year increase of 3.9% in the turnover of the Group’s self-
operated stores with same-store sales growth of 13.3% in Mainland China were
recorded, such encouraging sales rebound partly offset the Group’s loss during
the Year. The Group will grasp the opportunity arising from the increasing
spending power of the younger generation to rejuvenate our business presence
among first- and second-tier cities in China.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED) - BB Ez s m k2 (&)

The Group’s total number of stores in Mainland China increased from 445 to 450
as at the end of the Year, including 173 self-operated stores and 277 franchised
stores. We will reinforce our retail network and business operations with cautious
expansion through franchising aiming to optimize our overall footprint in Mainland
China, while at the same time keep a watchful eye on any market changes.

China has been taking the lead on the aggregate e-commerce sales and
e-commerce’s share of total retail sales in recent years. Consumer behavior
altered by COVID-19 is likely to be permanent, accelerating e-commerce
prevalence and digital transformation. In addition to leveraging digital channels,
particularly social media marketing for customer engagement, the Group has
also enhanced collaboration with various popular e-commerce platforms and
online malls run by banks in Mainland China to capitalize on the online shopping
boom. Going forward, the Group will continue to strengthen its online presence
and further boost the online-offline synergies.

Malaysia

Different Movement Control Order levels have been imposed in phases by the
Malaysian Government based on the evolving situation in each state from time
to time to contain the COVID-19 outbreak since the beginning. The nationwide
lockdown has interrupted business operations and the Group’s retail outlets,
deemed as non-essential stores, were forced to close at times. Amid the tough
operating environment, the Group managed to narrow the decline in the
turnover of its retail business in Malaysia to 15.3% for the Year when compared
with 2019/20. Looking forward, the Group will strive to steadily improve the
product assortment and sales performance of its 6 stores in Malaysia.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED) -ERBE z 5w k24T (&)

Wholesale Business

Along with the gradual economic recovery in China, the Group’s franchise
business has also picked up from the initial downturn. During the Year, the
turnover of our wholesale business in Mainland China rose by 11.6% and 69 new
franchised stores were opened, resulting in a net increase of our total number
of franchised stores from 253 to 277. The Group will continue to maintain the
close relationships with franchisees and the cautious expansion of its franchise
network in Mainland China in order to strengthen the Group’s market presence
and to grow its wholesale business there.

Other Businesses

The COVID-19 pandemic has proved to be a catalyst for redefining the retail
landscape and accelerating the shift by consumers to e-commerce and
hence marking the start of a new normal for retail. Building on the change in
consumption pattern, we successfully launched our Hong Kong eShop and the
Group’s e-business has experienced a remarkable increase in turnover of 31.7%
during the Year. Not only will the Hong Kong eShop enrich the Group’s online
presence, it will also complement the Group’s China eShop and cooperation with
various e-commerce platforms in Hong Kong and Mainland China. Riding on
the strong momentum of e-commerce, we will put more focus on e-commerce
development through eShop upgrade and collaboration with more renowned
e-commerce platforms to further expand our digital presence and achieve
online-offline integration.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED) - BB Ez s m k2 (&)

OUTLOOK

The rollout of COVID-19 vaccination programs around the world seems to be
the “light at the end of the tunnel” that the retail industry has been desperately
waiting for to enable it to start the journey down the path of a sustainable
recovery. Governments are implementing policies to encourage local consumption,
such as the electronic consumption vouchers to be issued by the Hong Kong
Government to all residents for boosting the battered retail industry. However,
the path to a sustainable recovery is long as mass vaccination takes time and
travel restrictions will remain in place to a certain extent in the near future. The
economic stability, consumer sentiment and tourism recoveries are still facing
strong headwinds from the COVID-19 variants. The Group will continue to exercise
vigilant cost control, maintain healthy inventory, optimize retail network and
refine business strategies in a judicious and forethoughtful manner to get through
the challenging situation.

Adhering to the brand positioning of “Trendsetting Craftsmanship”, the Group
has always attached the highest priority to providing customers with exquisite
jewelry and superior customer service. We endeavor to create customer-
centric experience for every shopper, from store or website design for visual
merchandising, to quality products and after-sales services that cater for
customers’ needs and foster brand loyalty. Leveraging on its well established
brand image, the Group is embarking on a rejuvenation journey that elevate our
brand to a new level, which will pave our way to market penetration for a larger
clientele across different generations.

The COVID-19 pandemic is bringing us to the omnichannel world, where brick-
and-mortar stores and e-commerce platforms co-exist and complement each
other with the optimal balance between human touch and technology as well
as the convergence of real and virtual markets. We will devote more efforts and
resources to offer customers a seamless shopping experience across all channels
so that our customers can shop whenever and wherever they like, in order to
drive sales and strengthen customer retention and consequently thrive in the
post-pandemic era.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED) -ERBE z 5w k24T (&)

FINANCIAL STRUCTURE

Capital expenditure, comprising mainly store renovation, furniture & fixtures and
machinery, incurred during the Year amounted to approximately HK$22.2 million
(2019/20: HK$98.6 million), which was mainly financed by borrowings and funds
generated from internal resources.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group’s total interest-bearing debts decreased from
approximately HK$1,013.8 million (as at 31 March 2020) to approximately
HK$989.1 million, which included current interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings of HK$560.2 million and also non-current interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings of HK$428.9 million. Net borrowings (total interest-
bearing debts less cash and cash equivalents and time deposits) decreased from
HK$445.0 million (as at 31 March 2020) to HK$292.0 million.

Internally generated funding and borrowings have mainly been applied during
the Year to finance the enhancement of the Group’s inventory and capital
expenditure incurred.

The net gearing ratio (the ratio of total interest-bearing debts (less cash and
cash equivalents and time deposits) to total equity) significantly decreased from
49% to 31% during the Year. All borrowings of the Group are denominated in
Hong Kong dollars (2019/20: Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi). Interest on bank
borrowings is calculated on either the inter-bank interest rate or the prime rate
or the benchmark interest rate.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had time deposits, cash and bank balances,
and undrawn banking facilities of approximately HK$697.1 million and HK$117.0
million respectively, which were mostly denominated in Hong Kong dollars,
Renminbi and United States dollars, and in the opinion of the directors of the
Company, are sufficient to meet the Group’s present working capital requirements.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED) - BB Ez s m k2 (&)

Exchange Rates

During the Year, the transactions of the Group were mainly denominated in
Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi and United States dollars. Renminbi is not a freely
convertible currency and any significant exchange rate fluctuation of Renminbi
may have financial impacts on the Group. The Board believes that such foreign
exchange exposure is manageable by using natural hedges that arise from
holding assets and liabilities denominated in the same foreign currencies, and
that the Group’s exposure to foreign exchange fluctuation remains minimal. The
Group will continue to closely monitor its foreign exchange position.

Charge on Group Assets and Contingent Liabilities

Charge on the Group’s assets during the Year is disclosed in note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements. The Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities which have not been provided for in the financial
statements as at 31 March 2021 (as at 31 March 2020: Nil).

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2021, the total number of employees of the Group was
approximately 2,390 (as at 31 March 2020: 2,870). The decrease was mainly
attributable to the streamlining of the Group’s manpower structure and store
network with due regard to our business strategies and the market conditions.
There were no major changes in human resources policies.

The Company offers competitive remuneration packages including salary,
allowances and discretionary bonus. Employees are rewarded on a performance
basis with reference to market rates. Other employee benefits include medical
cover and subsidies for job-related continuing education. Retail frontline staff
are provided with formal on-the-job training by internal senior staff and external
professional trainers. There are discussion forums and in-house seminars for
experience sharing.
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THE FOUNDER
23 A

TSE, SUI LUEN
i I BB

Tse Sui Luen, aged 84, is the Group’s Founder. Mr. Tse provides general advisory
& strategic advice to the Group. He was the Chairman of the Group from 1987
to 2000 and re-joined the Group in September 2011. He is a veteran jewellery
expert having over 50 years of experience in jewellery industry. He has a wide
range of experience in gem setting, quality control, administration, operations,
management and marketing. He also has very good personal networks with the
peers and suppliers, which facilitate the Group’s business development. He is the
father of Mr. Tse Tat Fung, Tommy, the Deputy Chief Executive Officer and the
controlling shareholder of the Group, and the father-in-law of Ms. Yau On Yee,
Annie, the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Group.
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CHAIRMAN & CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

FTRRITBAER

YAU, ON YEE ANNIE
i % 1%

Yau On Yee, Annie, aged 50, is the Chairman, the Chief Executive Officer, the
chairman of the Executive Committee and a member of both the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Company. She joined the
Group in 2002, and became an Executive Director of the Company in 2006. She
is also a director of most subsidiaries of the Company. In the early years at the
Company, she pioneered the Group’s Jewellery ERP discipline and modernised
the Company’s management through business process reengineering. Prior to
joining the Group, she worked for multi-national companies such as Motorola
Semiconductors and IBM. She has over 28 years of management experience in
the USA and Hong Kong. She is a director of each of Partner Logistics Limited
and Blink Technology Limited which have discloseable interests in the Company
under provisions of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”). She
graduated from Boston University, USA and holds a Bachelor of Science degree
in Computer Engineering. Ms. Yau is the spouse of Mr. Tse Tat Fung, Tommy, the
Deputy Chief Executive Officer and the controlling shareholder of the Group,
and the daughter-in-law of Mr. Tse Sui Luen, the Founder of the Group.

Ms. Yau currently serves as the chairman of Hong Kong Retail Management
Association and a director of GS1 Hong Kong. She is also a nominated member
of Hong Kong Brand Development Council, a member of Jewellery Industry
Training Advisory Committee and Jewellery Advisory Committee of Hong
Kong Trade Development Council, and the vice convenor of the Retail Industry
Consultative Networks of Employees Retraining Board.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Ng Yi Kum, Estella, aged 63, is an Executive Director, the Deputy Chairman, the
Chief Strategy Officer & Chief Financial Officer, the Company Secretary and a
member of both the Remuneration Committee and the Executive Committee of
the Company. She joined the Group in 2015 and is responsible for Group Finance
and other administrative functions as well as defining corporate strategies of the
Group. She is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.

From January 2008 to April 2014, Ms. Ng was the Chief Financial Officer of
Country Garden Holdings Company Limited (Stock Code: 2007), a company
whose shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). From September 2005 to November 2007, she was an
executive director of Hang Lung Properties Limited (“Hang Lung”) (Stock
Code: 101), a company whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange. Prior to
her joining in Hang Lung in 2003, she was employed by the Stock Exchange
in a number of senior positions, most recently as Senior Vice President of
the Listing Division. Prior to that, she gained valuable auditing experience
with Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu. Ms. Ng is a qualified accountant and holds
a Master of Business Administration degree from the Hong Kong University
of Science and Technology. She is an associate of The Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales and The Chartered Governance Institute,
a fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and a member of the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. She has been an elected member of
Quality Tourism Services Association Governing Council (Retailer Category)
since February 2019. She has also contributed her time to various public service
appointments, including being a co-opted member of the audit committee of
the Hospital Authority until November 2013.

Ms. Ng is an independent non-executive director of Tianjin Development
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 882), Comba Telecom Systems Holdings Limited
(Stock Code: 2342), CT Vision S.L. (International) Holdings Limited (name
changed from CT Vision (International) Holdings Limited with effect from 2
March 2021) (Stock Code: 994), CMGE Technology Group Limited (Stock Code:
302), Powerlong Commercial Management Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 9909)
and she was appointed as an independent non-executive director of KWG Living
Group Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 3913) with effect from 9 October 2020,
all companies whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange. Besides, she
served as an independent non-executive director of China Power Clean Energy
Development Company Limited (Stock Code: 735) until 26 October 2019, the
shares of which were listed on the Stock Exchange until they were delisted on
20 August 2019.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Chui Chi Yun, Robert, aged 64, is an Independent Non-executive Director,
the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the Remuneration
Committee of the Company, who joined the Group in 1999.

Mr. Chui is a practising Certified Public Accountant in Hong Kong. He holds a
Bachelor’'s degree in Commerce (Major in Accounting) and is a fellow member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants in the United Kingdom. Mr. Chui is an
independent non-executive director of each of National Arts Entertainment
and Culture Group Limited (Stock Code: 8228), Wing Lee Property Investments
Limited (Stock Code: 864), F8 Enterprises (Holdings) Group Limited (Stock
Code: 8347) and Asia Cassava Resources Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 841)
and was appointed as an independent non-executive director of Huiyin Holdings
Group Limited (Stock Code: 1178) with effect from 29 October 2020, and he
served as an independent non-executive director of PPS International (Holdings)
Limited (Stock Code: 8201) until 31 July 2018, all companies whose shares are
listed on the Stock Exchange. He served as the Commissioner of the Hong Kong
Road Safety Patrol and a member of the Road Safety Campaign Committee
of the Road Safety Council, until 30 November 2016. He is also a director of a
number of private companies and associations.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Chan Yue Kwong, Michael, aged 69, is an Independent Non-executive Director,
the chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of both the Audit
Committee and the Remuneration Committee of the Company, who joined the
Group in 2010.

Mr. Chan was the former chairman and is currently a non-executive director
of Café de Coral Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 341), and is a non-executive
director of Tao Heung Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 573) and an independent
non-executive director of each of Pacific Textiles Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 1382), Starlite Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 403), Modern Dental Group
Limited (Stock Code: 3600) and Human Health Holdings Limited (Stock Code:
1419), all companies whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Chan
has worked as a professional town planner with government bodies in Hong
Kong and Canada. He holds a double major degree in Sociology and Political
Science, a Master degree in City Planning from the University of Manitoba,
Canada, an Honorary Doctorate degree in Business Administration, as well as
being bestowed the Honorary Fellow from Lingnan University. Mr. Chan has
many years of professional experience in the public sector and over 36 years
of management experience in the food and catering industry. He is the Adviser
of the Quality Tourism Services Association and the Honorary Chairman of the
Hong Kong Institute of Marketing.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Chow Chee Wai, Christopher, aged 54, is an Independent Non-executive
Director, the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of both
the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Company, who
joined the Group in 2013.

Mr. Chow is the Founding Partner of TCC Capital, an advisory and private equity
fund management company. He holds a Diploma of Investment and Finance from
The Securities Institute of Australia, a Bachelor of Economics degree from The
University of Sydney and is an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Chow has over 20 years’ experience in auditing
and merger and acquisition advisory. Prior to founding TCC Capital, he worked for
two of the “Big Four” international accounting firms in Sydney, Hong Kong and
Beijing and was the Partner in charge of the mergers and acquisitions practice.
He possesses in-depth understanding of financial and capital markets and has
built up substantial experience in advising multinational companies, state owned
enterprises and private companies in Hong Kong and Mainland China on a number
of direct investments, and mergers and acquisitions transactions.
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DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

TSE, TAT FUNG TOMMY
i 12 g

Tse Tat Fung, Tommy, aged 53, is the Group’s Deputy Chief Executive Officer.
He is responsible for the Group’s sales and operations in all markets plus the
Group’s creative directions and supply chain management. He joined the Group
after returning from the USA in 1994. He was the Chairman of the Group from
2000 to 2008 and was, during that time, responsible for the Group’s overall
strategy and business development. During his absence, his life had been
enriched through touching the hearts and souls of the inmates. He re-joined
the Group in September 2011. Mr. Tse graduated from Boston University and
holds a Bachelor of Science (Business Administration) degree, Bachelor of
Science (Mathematics) degree, and Master of Arts (Mathematics) degree. He
is a director of Partner Logistics Limited and Blink Technology Limited which
have discloseable interests in the Company under provisions of the SFO. He is
the son of Mr. Tse Sui Luen, the Founder of the Group, the spouse of Ms. Yau On
Yee, Annie, the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Group, and is the
controlling shareholder of the Group.
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AWARDS AND ACCOLADES
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@)HKRMA

The Hong Kong Retail Management Association

HKRMA Quality Service Programme
2020 Quality Service Retailer of the Year - Chain Stores (Silver)
2020 Quality Service Leader

2020 Service Talent Award
Supervisory Level - Watch & Jewellery (Gold)
Junior Frontline Level - Watch & Jewellery (Silver)
Best Training Award (Silver)
HKRMA 35th Anniversary Award
35th Anniversary - Most Participating Brand (Silver)
35th Anniversary - Most Winning Brand (Bronze)
35th Anniversary - Most Retail Ambassadors’ Brand (Bronze)
Excellent Service Star
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AWARDS AND ACCOLADES (CONTINUED) - # B 82 27 (%)
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URY

EXCELLENCE AWARDS EXCELLENCE AWARDS

E
. EXCELLENCE IN DESIGN ®LacPk
g . SILVER WINNER G
Gold Winner Stlver Winner 2019/20 VISION AWARDS >

ANNUAL REPORT COMPETITION

Tse Sui Luen Jewellery SILVER WINNER
REF Financial Press Limited
iy

N REF Financial Press Limited
Top 100 Reports Worldwide Tse Sui Luen Jewellery (Internation) Limited
To 0tepers erdde
bl s

5

ANNUAL REPORT AWARDS FIREIA

LACP (Vision Awards) 2020 LACP (Vision Awards) 2020

Gold Award Annual Report o3 FR

#39 Top 100 Reports Worldwide #39 FIRFIRI0058

Technical Achievement Award MR R4E1E

Galaxy Awards 2020 Galaxy Awards 2020

Silver Design —Non-traditional — Asia/Pacific FirgS AT — IEES - DR
Bronze Print: Jewelry i 8¢ ENf - BRE

Mercury Awards 2020 Mercury Awards 2020

Gold Overall Presentation: Retail o3 BERR:TE

Silver Interior Design: Traditional Format: Asia/Pacific FirE3 NBEE B AR
Bronze Overall Presentation: Consumer Goods ok BRETR: HER
Honors Cover Design: Special Treatments BEEE HERE - FRIME
Astrid Awards 2020 Astrid Awards 2020

Silver Covers: Artistic Eicgd I - B
ENVIRONMENTAL AWARD RIFIEIE

Hong Kong Awards for Environmental Excellent BERRIRE B AL

MARKETING AWARD TEEMRIE

HKIM Market Leadership Award 2019/2020 2019/2020 & B H KB YIS A M AR
Greater Bay Area Market Leadership Award— Jewellery KERETISEMALE — KB
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THE TSL | # % B FOUNDATION
TSL |#iBES

The TSL | #¥m8 Foundation (“TSLF”) was founded by the Group to help
preserve, promote and grow the art and skills associated with traditional
jewellery craftsmanship. Since then, TSLF has gone on to expand its sponsorship
programmes to include support for creative industries that both provide
development and inspiration for creativity.

Aiming to conserve the cultural heritage of the jewellery industry, TSLF awards
a TSL Scholarship to students enrolling in the Creative Management in Luxury
Industry Programme at The University of Hong Kong. This scholarship is
awarded based on academic performance. The award is aimed at cultivating
more talent in the jewellery industry and to facilitate and encourage students to
pursue further training in the creative field.

The COVID-19 pandemic has shifted multiple industries in unprecedented ways no
one could expect. Organizations and consumers around the globe are adjusting to
the “new normal” of establishing their presence and way of living almost entirely
online. In view of this situation, TSLF also continued to engage in online events to
promote Cantopop preservation and astronomy during the Year.

CANTOPOP PRESERVATION

Local music is an essential part of Hong Kong culture and Hong Kong identity.
In the 90s, Cantopop was very popular not only in Hong Kong but also in
neighbouring regions. Cantonese pop songs were once trendsetting and attracted
many non-Cantonese speaking fans as an audience. With the rise of social media
and streaming technology, musicians can distribute their music more creatively
and connect with their fans more easily. However, under the impacts of the
pandemic, the entertainment industry is struggling to strike a balance between
securing livelihoods and maintaining social distance. With canceled live shows and
postponed music albums, thousands of working musicians and professionals are
out of work and are struggling to make ends meet.
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TSL | # &5 B FOUNDATION (CONTINUED) - TSL | #imBES (8)

Committed to supporting the local music industry and to preserve Cantopop,
TSLF sponsored a series of Mr. Albert Au’s online concerts to support the
sustainable growth of this creative industry and to promote Cantonese pop
songs. Due to COVID-19, many local concerts were either postponed or even
cancelled so musicians were required to adjust to this “new normal” by shifting
their performances/concerts online. Sponsoring online concerts provides direct
relief and financial assistance to local artists and professionals to ease their
burden, support their work and preserve Cantonese pop songs in a different way
during the pandemic.

HIHEL —HER N IH RIS LEXUREERT - F
NEHTRRBEEN—FIGLRES - UFFEEE
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OnlineRIE&

TSLF sponsored Albert Au’s online concerts to support local artists
and behind-the-scenes professionals and to bring joy to Hong
Kong residents who are staying at home to fight against COVID-19
RS U EB BRI BAR LRER XA MEEANRBERE
FAL  URBERFIREEEER GRS
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THE TSL | # % B FOUNDATION (CONTINUED) - TSL | #ilmBiE < (&)

ASTRONOMY PROMOTION

The breathtaking scenery of the jewel-like skies can be observed through
stargazing and astrophotography using advanced equipment and technology.

Worldwide travel being restricted due to COVID-19 during the year, the mobility
of foreign astronomy speakers was limited. Physical lecture tours featuring
well-known astronomy speakers could not be held during the Year. However,
the pandemic did not stop TSLF from discharging its social responsibility and
promoting astronomy. Sponsored by TSLF and organized by The Hong Kong
Astro Forum, 5 online sharing sessions were successfully held during the Year.

 TEBEXX®EMs onlineS TRZM
‘ 5 Feb | 2021 :

EERXNEE

Participants got to interact
with Mr. Carl Chan and learnt
from his experience on
creating large mosaic images
in astrophotography
DEERR—TFAEELE
G A A G E 5 8
BRIAX A B E
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Mr. David Cheng shared
his experience on using
Sequence Generator
Pro and other recent
processing methods to
create mosaic images in
astrophotography
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TSL | &3

The COVID-19 pandemic has canceled many astronomers’ trips to capture
breathtaking nightscape around the globe. Yet, the epidemic will not hinder the
astronomers from observing brilliant astronomical phenomenon. TSLF grasped
this opportunity to invite Mr. Paul Ng to share his magnificent astrophotography
pictures taken worldwide and Mr. Allen Ng to share his experience on local
astronomical imaging and image processing.

Mr. Paul Ng shared
with the audience
stunning astronomy
photos during the
sharing session

Paul Ngt£ED ZE
FEPEE S ZHRSA
EREAK R

Focusing on planetary imaging and image processing, creating mosaic images in
astrophotography and appreciating the magnificent scenery of other countries
as well as Hong Kong. The 5 online seminars allowed participants to interact
with and learn from the speakers, and they shared their personal experience on
astrophotography to facilitate exchange of knowledge.

ASTRO DSLR WITH SONY CMOS
N=NNO]

FOUNDATION (CONTINUED) - TSL | @i E e (&)
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Local astonishing night sky
captured and processed by
Mr. Allen Ng
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Mr. David Cheng also shared
the difference and advantages
concluded from his first-hand
experience of using DSLR
cameras, cooled CCD cameras
and cooled CMOS cameras to
capture the gorgeous scenery
in another online sharing
session
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEERS

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) have pleasure in presenting their
report together with the audited consolidated financial statements for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal
activities and other particulars of the principal subsidiaries are set out in note 1
to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the Year and the financial position of the Group as
at 31 March 2021 are set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages
84 to 211 of this annual report.

No interim dividend was declared during the Year, and the Directors do not
recommend the payment of final dividend for the Year (2019/20 total dividend: Nil).

The Board has adopted a dividend policy with the principles and guidelines as
follows:

(@) In recommending or declaring dividends, the Company shall maintain
adequate cash reserves for meeting its working capital requirements and
future growth as well as the value of the shareholders of the Company
(the “Shareholders”);

(b)  The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend payout ratio;

(c)  The Board has the discretion to declare and distribute dividends to the
Shareholders, subject to the bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-laws”)
and all applicable laws and regulations as well as the factors set out
below;

(d) The Board shall also take into account the following factors of the
Group when considering the declaration and payment of dividends: (i)
financial performance, (ii) cash flow position, (iii) business conditions and
strategies, (iv) future operations and earnings, (v) capital requirements
and expenditure plans, (vi) market benchmark, (vii) the Shareholders’
interests and (viii) any other factors that the Board may consider relevant;
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED) -2 £ &R & (&)

(e) Depending on the financial conditions of the Company and the Group and
the factors as set out above, the following dividends may be proposed
and/or declared by the Board for a financial year or period: (i) interim
dividend, (ii) final dividend, (iii) special dividend and (iv) any distribution
of net profits or contributed surplus where applicable, that the Board may
deem appropriate;

) The Board may from time to time pay to the Shareholders any interim
dividends as appear to the Board to be justified by the Company’s
profits. Save as the foregoing, payment of dividends will be subject to the
Shareholders” approval;

(g) The Company may declare and pay dividends by way of cash or scrip or
by other means that the Board considers appropriate; and

(h)  Any unclaimed dividend shall be forfeited and shall revert to the Company
in accordance with the Bye-laws.

BUSINESS REVIEW

An overview and the outlook of the Group’s business are provided in the
sections headed “Letter to Shareholders” and “Management’s Discussion &
Analysis” of this annual report. Certain financial key performance indicators can
be found in the section headed “Financial Highlights”.

The financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group are shown in
note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.

An account of the Group’s relationship with its key stakeholders and discussions
on the Group’s environmental policies and performance are included in the
section headed “Corporate Governance Report”, and in a separate “Environmental,
Social and Governance Report”, which will be published in compliance with the
stipulations under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules™).

The Company is in compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the Company for the Year.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Thursday, 2
September 2021 to Tuesday, 7 September 2021 (both days inclusive), for the
purpose of ascertaining Shareholders’ entitlement to attend and vote at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to be held on Tuesday, 7
September 2021 (the “2021 AGM™). During the above closure period, no transfer
of shares will be registered. In order to be entitled to attend and vote at the
2021 AGM, all completed transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong
Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited of Shops 1712-1716,
17/F, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong no later
than 4:30 p.m. (Hong Kong Time) on Wednesday, 1 September 2021.

SHARE CAPITAL

There were no movements in the share capital of the Company during the Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws or the laws
in Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata
basis to existing Shareholders.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the share option scheme of the Company as disclosed in the section
headed “Share Option Scheme” of this report of the Directors and in note 28
to the consolidated financial statements, no equity-linked agreements were
entered into by the Group during the Year or subsisted at the end of the Year.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the Year, the Group had not made any charitable and other donations
(2019/20: HK$23,000).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group during
the Year are set out in note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2021, the Company’s reserves available for distribution,
calculated in accordance with the provisions of the Bermuda Companies Act
1981 (as amended from time to time) (the “Bermuda Companies Act”) and the
Bye-laws, amounted to approximately HK$542,054,000, which represented the
contributed surplus and retained profits of the Company.

Under the Bermuda Companies Act and the Bye-laws, the contributed surplus of
the Company is available for distribution. However, the Company cannot declare
or pay a dividend, or make a distribution out of this contributed surplus if: (i) it
is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as they become
due; or (ii) the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less than the
aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital and share premium.

Details of the above are set out in note 37 to the consolidated financial
statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The five largest customers in aggregate accounted for less than 30% of the
Group’s turnover for the Year. The five largest suppliers in aggregate and the
largest supplier of the Group accounted for approximately 65.7% and 36.5%
respectively by value of the Group’s total purchases.

Rosy Blue Hong Kong Limited, one of the Group’s five largest suppliers, is
a fellow subsidiary of Rosy Blue Overseas Holdings Limited, which is the
preference shareholder of Partner Logistics Limited (the Company’s immediate
holding company).

Except for the above, none of the Directors or any of their associates or any of
the Shareholders (which, to the knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5%
of the Company'’s issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in the major
customers and suppliers noted above.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Yau On Yee, Annie (Chairman & Chief Executive Officer)
Ng Yi Kum, Estella (Deputy Chairman, Chief Strategy Officer &
Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary)

Non-executive Director

Huang Erwin Steve (retired on 8 September 2020)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Chui Chi Yun, Robert
Chan Yue Kwong, Michael
Chow Chee Wai, Christopher

In accordance with the provisions of the Bye-laws and to comply with the
Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules, Ms.
Yau On Yee, Annie and Mr. Chow Chee Wai, Christopher will retire as Directors
at the 2021 AGM. Ms. Yau On Yee, Annie and Mr. Chow Chee Wai, Christopher,
being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election as an executive Director and
independent non-executive Director for a term of three years respectively. All
other Directors continue in office for the ensuing year.

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence from each
of the current independent non-executive Directors and as at the date of this
report still considers them to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the 2021 AGM has a service contract
with the Group which is not determinable by the Group within one year without
payment of compensation other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2021, the interests and short positions of the Directors and chief
executive and/or their respective associates of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which were required
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they
were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were
required to be entered in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO, or which were required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (the
“Model Code”), were as follows:

Interests and long positions in ordinary shares of the Company
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Ordinary shares of HK$0.25 each

SREEERB0.25STNEER
Approximate
Derivative percentage of
Personal Family Corporate interest Other total issued
Name of Director interest interest interest (share options) interest share capital*
e BT
PTEIAER RAEE
EEnA EAERE RikfER AR (B HibfEs BRI
Yau On Yee, Annie 130,553 180,691,775 - - - 72.57%
B2 (Note MI5E)
5,219
(Note Fi#5E)
* The percentage was calculated based on 249,182,030 ordinary shares of the B RER 202143 A31B A2 T2 3177249,182,030

Company inissue as at 31 March 2021.
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Note:

180,691,775 ordinary shares of the Company are held by Partner Logistics Limited,
a company which is owned and controlled by Blink Technology Limited. Blink
Technology Limited is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Tse Tat Fung, Tommy,
the spouse of Ms. Yau On Yee, Annie, an executive Director. By virtue of the SFO, Ms.
Yau On Yee, Annie is deemed to be interested in all the shares of the Company held
by Partner Logistics Limited.

5,219 ordinary shares of the Company are held by Mr. Tse Tat Fung, Tommy. By virtue
of the SFO, Ms. Yau On Yee, Annie is deemed to be interested in all the shares of the
Company held by Mr. Tse Tat Fung, Tommy.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2021, none of the Directors, chief
executive and their respective associates of the Company had any other
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of
the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO) which required notification to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions which any such Director or chief executive of the Company was
taken or deemed to have taken under such provisions of the SFO); or which
were required pursuant to section 352 of the SFO to be entered in the register
maintained by the Company; or which were required, pursuant to the Model
Code, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2021, the interests, all being long positions, of any substantial
Shareholders or other persons (not being Directors or chief executive of the
Company) in the shares and/or underlying shares of the Company which have
been disclosed to the Company pursuant to the provisions of Divisions 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO and have been recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

%gf&ktﬁéﬁﬁﬁﬂiﬁ&*ﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁ

HE2021F3AA L - A E2REKEMAT (WIEE
ERARNANERITHRAL) EARR RN K,/ SHAEREA
DHREEBIRIEES KRR ENEXVIFE2RIDBRRTE
BARNBELHE  REREESRIPEIEHE3I36(KE
RAARRGBEEFENELMANERS (BEEFR) T «

Ordinary shares of HK$0.25 each

BREEEB.2STHNEER
Approximate
Number of percentage of
ordinary total issued
Name Capacity shares share capital*
HERITRAAH
=y 54 ZERROHA BRED
() Partner Logistics Limited (Note Fff&¥ 1) Beneficial owner 180,691,775 72.51%
EnEAA
(i) Blink Technology Limited (Note FfzF 1) Interest of controlled corporation 180,691,775 72.51%
SR NGRS
(i)  Tse Tat Fung, Tommy (Note Mi5E 1) Interest of controlled corporation 180,691,775 72.57%
A SRR QA S
Interest of spouse 130,553
BB =
Beneficial owner 5,219
BB A
(iv)  Rosy Blue Overseas Holdings Limited (Note Ffi3F 2) Interest of controlled corporation 180,691,775 72.51%
SR A
(v)  Rosy Blue Jewellery (HK) Limited (Note Miz¥ 2) Interest of controlled corporation 180,691,775 72.51%
ek NG
(vi)  Prime Investments S.A. (Note Fff5¥ 2) Interest of controlled corporation 180,691,775 72.51%
SR NGIE- £
(vii) Rosy Blue Investments S.4.R.L. (Note Ff&F 2) Interest of controlled corporation 180,691,775 72.51%
SR NGIE £
(viii) Elmas Hong Kong Limited (Note 2) Trustee 180,691,775 72.51%
EEN
(ix)  Viraj Rusell Mehta (Note Fif&F 2) Settlor of discretionary trust 180,691,775 72.51%
MEEEZVERTA

Company in issue as at 31 March 2021.

The percentage was calculated based on 249,182,030 ordinary shares of the *

BN LRLR202143 31 B AR RS 317249,182,030
BB AT HE -
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Notes:

180,691,775 ordinary shares of the Company are held by Partner Logistics
Limited, a company which is owned and controlled by Blink Technology
Limited. Blink Technology Limited is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Tse
Tat Fung, Tommy, the spouse of Ms. Yau On Yee, Annie, an executive Director.
By virtue of the SFO, Blink Technology Limited, Ms. Yau On Yee, Annie (her
deemed interest is disclosed under the section headed “Directors’ and Chief
Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures of the Company”) and Mr. Tse Tat Fung, Tommy are deemed to be
interested in all the shares of the Company held by Partner Logistics Limited.

130,553 ordinary shares of the Company are held by Ms. Yau On Yee, Annie. By
virtue of the SFO, Mr. Tse Tat Fung, Tommy is deemed to be interested in all
the shares of the Company held by Ms. Yau On Yee, Annie.

5,219 ordinary shares of the Company are held by Mr. Tse Tat Fung, Tommy.

These ordinary shares of the Company, relating to the same block of shares
mentioned in note 1 above, are held by Partner Logistics Limited, a company
which is owned and controlled by Blink Technology Limited. Rosy Blue
Overseas Holdings Limited is the preference shareholder of Partner Logistics
Limited. Rosy Blue Overseas Holdings Limited is wholly owned by Rosy Blue
Jewellery (HK) Limited, which in turn is wholly owned by Prime Investments
S.A.. Prime Investments S.A. is wholly owned by Rosy Blue Investments
S.a.R.L., which in turn is wholly owned by Elmas Hong Kong Limited. Mr.
Viraj Rusell Mehta is the settlor of a discretionary trust (the “Trust”), which
in turns holds the interest in Rosy Blue Investments S.a.R.L. through Elmas
Hong Kong Limited, as trustee of the Trust. By virtue of the SFO, each of Rosy
Blue Overseas Holdings Limited, Rosy Blue Jewellery (HK) Limited, Prime
Investments S.A., Rosy Blue Investments S.a.R.L., ElImas Hong Kong Limited
and Mr. Viraj Rusell Mehta, is deemed to be interested in all the shares of the
Company held by Partner Logistics Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2021, the Company had not been
notified of any persons who had interests or short positions in the shares
and/or underlying shares of the Company, which were required to be recorded

in the

register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of

the SFO.
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CHANGES OF DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION PURSUANT TO
RULE 13.51B(1) OF THE LISTING RULES

Changes in Directors’ emoluments during the Year are set out in note 9 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Save as disclosed above, there is no change in information of the Directors since
the date of the last interim report which is required to be disclosed pursuant to
Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a new share option scheme at its annual general meeting
held on 21 July 2016 (the “2016 Share Option Scheme”). As at the date of the
report, no options have been granted under the 2016 Share Option Scheme. The
following is a summary of the principal terms of the 2016 Share Option Scheme:

1. Purpose of the 2016 Share Option Scheme:

The purpose of the 2016 Share Option Scheme is to provide incentives
or rewards to participants thereunder for their contribution to the Group
and/or to enable the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre employees
and attract human resources that are valuable to the Group and any
Invested Entity.

2. Participants of the 2016 Share Option Scheme:

(@) any employee(s) (whether full time or part time employee(s),
including any director or executive director but not any
non-executive director) of the Company, its subsidiaries or any
Invested Entity;

(b) any non-executive director (including independent non-executive
directors) of the Company, any of its subsidiaries or any Invested

Entity;

(c) any supplier of goods or services to any member of the Group or
any Invested Entity;

(d) any customer of the Group or any Invested Entity;

BELEHRAUBIBSBMNERNESERE B

KREEHREENENE PR RA P BRI -

BEXPRIREES - B L - HRERL  UEREEEHR
BHARE L HARAE1351BO)ERIELBEE -

BT S

RAEIR2016F7 A21B BRAZRRBF KNS B AREMNE
fRiEErEl ([2016 FHEARAERTEI)) - HEARREHH - &
2016 F B AR AT &I TR B IR AE - 2016 FREARAIERT BIEY
FERRBENT -

1. 20165 HERERTEIR B /Y -

2016 FREMETENENR R T REHREEIE
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BRBEEESREE  ARRAEEREMKRRER
BRMEEAT -

2. 2016FERETEIMNRHEA -
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(e) any person or entity that provides research, development or
technological support or other services to the Group or any
Invested Entity;

) any shareholder of any member of the Group or any Invested Entity
or any holder of any securities issued by any member of the Group
or any Invested Entity;

(g) any adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant to any area of
business or business development of any member of the Group or
any Invested Entity; and

(h)  any other group or classes of participants who have contributed or
may contribute by way of joint venture, business alliance or other
business and/or financial arrangement to the development and
growth of the Group.

Total number of shares available for issue under the 2016
Share Option Scheme and the percentage of issued shares
as at the date of this annual report:

Pursuant to the term of the 2016 Share Option Scheme, the total number
of ordinary shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to
be granted under the 2016 Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company must not in aggregate exceed 10% of
the total number of shares in issue on 21 July 2016 (the “Adoption Date”),
i.e. not exceeding 21,033,622 shares (representing approximately 8.44%
of the issued shares as at the date of this annual report) on the basis
that the total issued share capital of the Company as at the Adoption
Date is 210,336,221 shares. Options lapsed in accordance with the term of
the 2016 Share Option Scheme or any other share option scheme of the
Company will not be counted for the purpose of calculating the 10% limit.
However, the maximum number of ordinary shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the 2016 Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes
of the Company must not exceed 30% of the total number of shares in
issue from time to time.
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Maximum entitlement of each participant under the 2016
Share Option Scheme:

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
the option granted to each participant (including both exercised and
outstanding options) in any 12-month period must not exceed 1% of the
total number of shares in issue of the Company. For any grant of options
to a substantial Shareholder or an independent non-executive Director,
or any of their respective associates, the Company’s shares issued and to
be issued upon exercise of all options already granted and to be granted
(including options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to such person
within any 12-month period shall not exceed 0.1% of the issued shares of
the Company in aggregate and with an aggregate value (based on the
closing price of the Company’s shares at the date of grant) in excess of
HK$5 million.

Any further grant is subject to the Shareholders’ approval in general
meeting with the participant and the close associates of such participant
(or his/her/its associates if the participant is a connected person)
abstaining from voting.

The period within which shares must be taken up under an
option:

The period would be commencing from the date of grant of an option and
ending on such date as the Board may determine in granting the option
but in any event not exceeding 10 years from the date of grant.

The minimum period for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised:

The Board may at its discretion determine the minimum period for which
the option has to be held or other restrictions before the exercise of the
subscription right attaching thereto.
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7. The amount payable on application or acceptance of the
option and the period within which payments must be
made:

Upon acceptance of the option, the grantee shall pay HK$1.00 to the
Company by way of consideration for the grant. Any offer may be
accepted in respect of less than the number of shares for which it is
offered provided that it is accepted in a board lot for dealing in the
Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange or an integral multiple thereof.
An offer is open for acceptance within 28 days from the date of offer
provided that no offer shall be open for acceptance after the expiry of the
2016 Share Option Scheme or after the 2016 Share Option Scheme has
been terminated.

8.  The basis of determining the exercise price:

The exercise price of the option shall be determined by the Board and
such price must be at least the higher of (i) the closing price of the shares
of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet
on the offer date, which must be a trading day; (ii) the average closing
price of the shares of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet for the five trading days immediately preceding the
offer date; and (iii) the nominal value of a share of the Company.

9.  The remaining life of the 2016 Share Option Scheme:

The 2016 Share Option Scheme is valid and effective for a period of 10
years, which will expire on 21 July 2026.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Apart from the share option scheme operated by the Company as disclosed in
the section headed “Share Option Scheme” and in note 28 to the consolidated
financial statements, neither at the end of nor at any time during the Year did
there subsist any arrangement to which the Company, any of its subsidiaries
or holding companies, was a party, and the objects of or one of the objects
of such arrangement were/was to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate.
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS AND CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

With effect from 1 September 2011, (i) Mr. Tse Tat Fung, Tommy (“Mr. Tommy
Tse”), the substantial Shareholder and the spouse of Ms. Yau On Yee, Annie
("Ms. Annie Yau”), the executive Director, has been employed by a subsidiary of
the Company as the Chief Merchandising Officer (subsequently, re-designated
as Deputy Chief Executive Officer with effect from 1 November 2016) (“Tommy
Tse Employment”); and (ii) Mr. Tse Sui Luen, the father of Mr. Tommy Tse
and father-in-law of Ms. Annie Yau, has been employed by a subsidiary of
the Company as the Founder (“Tse Senior Employment”). Both Tommy Tse
Employment and Tse Senior Employment have been revised on 22 June 2012,
further details are disclosed in the announcement dated 22 June 2012. Both
Tommy Tse Employment and Tse Senior Employment constituted continuing
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

During the Year, the amounts in respect of Tse Senior Employment is below
de minimis threshold for the purposes of Rule 14A.76 of the Listing Rules, Tse
Senior Employment is fully exempt from Shareholders’ approval, annual review
and all disclosure requirements under the Listing Rules.

The roles and functions of the senior management of the Group have changed
due to the continued development of the Group in 2016, Mr. Tommy Tse
has taken up the role in supply chain and wholesale business, as well as the
leadership of China retail, travel trade, alternate channels and the Group’s
branding and creative directions. On 31 October 2016, the Company through
its subsidiary entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Tommy Tse
(the “Tommy Tse Employment Agreement”), which superseded his previous
employment agreement. On 29 March 2018, a renewed employment agreement
(the "Renewed Employment Agreement”) was entered into for a further term of
25 months commencing on 1 March 2018 and expiring on 31 March 2020 in light
of the change of the Group’s financial year end date, but is terminable on three
months’ notice in writing by either party.
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Pursuant to Rule 14A.76(2) of the Listing Rules, all of the relevant percentage
ratios for the aggregate annual package of Mr. Tommy Tse was less than 5%,
the Tommy Tse Employment Agreement, the Renewed Employment Agreement
and the annual caps were only subject to the disclosure in annual report,
announcement and annual review by independent non-executive directors and
auditors requirements, but were exempt from the circular and independent
Shareholders’ approval requirements.

On 26 March 2020, a renewed employment agreement (the “New Employment
Agreement”) was entered into for a further term of 2 years commencing on 1
April 2020 and expiring on 31 March 2022, which is terminable on three months’
notice in writing by either party. According to the New Employment Agreement,
the total amount (including salary and discretionary bonus) payable to Mr.
Tommy Tse in each of the financial year ending 31 March 2021 and 2022 shall
not exceed the de minimis threshold for the purposes of Rule 14A.76 of the
Listing Rules. The New Employment Agreement is therefore fully exempt from
Shareholders’ approval, annual review and all disclosure requirements under the
Listing Rules. The total amounts paid under the New Employment Agreement
for the Year was below the de minims threshold.

Save as disclosed above and disclosed in note 33 to the consolidated financial
statements, there was no connected transaction, arrangement or contract of
significance to which the Company, its holding company or subsidiary was a
party, and in which a Director or an entity connected with a Director, either
directly or indirectly, had a material interest; nor any interest in competing
business, whether directly or indirectly; nor contracts of significance between
the Company or its subsidiaries and a controlling Shareholder or its subsidiaries,
subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time during the Year and up to the
date of this report.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Certain significant related party transactions entered into by the Group
during the Year, which do not constitute connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions under the Listing Rules are disclosed in note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements.

054

BIE ETRBIEI4A 76K - FTEERRG EEEENE
FHMETE 2 B AL REERS% - FEBERBHZE - B
BEHEREE EROIREHREE ASARBIIES
TEERZEMFERR AT - BRIERRE TR R
B RAL AR B

F2020F4 A1HEE2022F 38318 It AHMENERE
i ([E R EW]) DMN2020F3 A26 B%E] - A A
TR THAZ@EAZEMBIKL - BEFE
e AN THEEEENESE (BEFS BB
TEAL) IMEE 20215} 202263 A31H IEMBFE S TSR
BIRE EHRBFE4A 76 IENRERERRKE - FALiRE £
THE - FTEEHEAIEZEREETRELIE  FEE
BMEBERBERTE RAFE  REFEBHREASZEN
BEE - FERERREKE o

B bl N kR & B AR M RE 33 BRI - MAFE REAF
EHEEMRELEARE2H - MEFTZBERS &
B EREGEARLDE - EERARRMBARRES —
77 EEESREEAWENERNETAERIMED
BEANE AR BEFEBATMERREENE bR
REHEME AR IR R EMBE AR ZHET L E
REMR e

BEHALRS
ETAEERAFEHBTUNESHEBA LIS TE
M ETRA T BERIZHFEBERS - FHEHRGRE
B TR R M 5E33 -



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED) - & £ & # &

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or
existed as at the end of the Year or at any time during the Year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Bye-laws, every Director or other officers of the Company shall
be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets and profits of the Company
against all losses or damages which he/she may sustain or incur in or about the
execution of the duties of his/her office or otherwise in relation thereto. The
Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance
coverage, which is currently in force and was in force throughout the Year, for
the Directors and officers of the Group.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S
LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the listed securities of the Company during the Year.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Group as at 31 March 2021
are set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-controlling
interests of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on pages 212 to
213 of this annual report.

PROPERTIES

Particulars of the major properties of the Group are shown on pages 214 to 215
of this annual report.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the Human
Resources Department and the employees” emoluments are determined on the
basis of their qualifications, experiences and area of expertises.

The emoluments of the executive Directors and senior management of the
Company are determined by the Remuneration Committee of the Company,
having regard to the Group’'s operating results, individual expertises,
professional experience and comparable market statistics.

The emoluments of the non-executive Directors, including independent
non-executive Directors, were decided by the Board as recommended by
the Remuneration Committee of the Company having regard to comparable
companies, time commitment and responsibilities.

The emoluments of the Directors and employees of the Group include a share
option scheme, details of which are disclosed in the section headed “Share
Option Scheme” of this report of the Directors.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this report, the Company has
maintained the prescribed public float as required under the Listing Rules.
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SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE BY THE CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

Acting as guarantor for the facilities agreement with Hang Seng
Bank Limited, China CITIC Bank International Limited, China
Construction Bank (Asia) Corporation Limited, Fubon Bank
(Hong Kong) Limited, United Overseas Bank Limited, Chong
Hing Bank Limited and Bangkok Bank Public Company Limited,
Hong Kong Branch

On 29 March 2019, the Company and a subsidiary of the Company as guarantors
and certain subsidiaries of the Company as borrowers (the “Borrowers”) entered
into a facilities agreement (the “Facilities Agreement”) with Hang Seng Bank
Limited, China CITIC Bank International Limited, China Construction Bank (Asia)
Corporation Limited, Fubon Bank (Hong Kong) Limited, United Overseas Bank
Limited, Chong Hing Bank Limited and Bangkok Bank Public Company Limited,
Hong Kong Branch acting as mandated lead arrangers and original lenders,
pursuant to which certain loan facilities, comprising a term loan and a revolving
loan, in the aggregate amount of HK$820,000,000 (the “Facilities”), has been
granted to the Borrowers for a term of 3.5 years from the date of the first
utilisation of the Facilities.

Pursuant to the Facilities Agreement, among other things, it will be an event of
default if Ms. Annie Yau, the spouse of Mr. Tommy Tse (being the controlling
Shareholder) ceases to be the chairman of the Board; or Ms. Annie Yau, Annie
and her immediate family members taken as a whole cease to (i) be, directly or
indirectly, the single largest Shareholder; or (i) have control of the Company
(where “control” is defined as meaning the power (whether by way of ownership
of shares, proxy, contract, agency or otherwise) to: (a) appoint or remove all, or
the majority of, directors on the board of directors or such other persons who
may be charged with or entitled to exercise central management and control of
that corporate person; or (b) directly or indirectly to otherwise direct or cause
the direction of management and policies of that corporate person) (which, for
the avoidance of doubt, includes the right to determine the composition of a
majority of the Board); or Ms. Annie Yau and her immediate family members
taken as a whole cease to remain as the direct or indirect, legal and beneficial
owner of at least 36% of the issued share capital of the Company which is free
from any Security (as defined in the Facilities Agreement).
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Upon the occurrence of such an event of default which is continuing, the agent
under the Facilities Agreement may, and shall if so directed by the Majority
Lenders (as defined in the Facilities Agreement), cancel the Commitments (as
defined in the Facilities Agreement) or any part thereof, and/or declare all or
part of the loans outstanding under the Facilities, together with accrued interest,
and all other amounts accrued or outstanding under the Finance Documents
(as defined in the Facilities Agreement) be immediately due and payable, and/
or declare all or part of the loans outstanding under the Facilities be payable
on demand, and/or exercise or direct the security agent to exercise any or all
of its rights, remedies, powers or discretions under the Finance Documents (as
defined in the Facilities Agreement).

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance. Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company is set out in the section headed “Corporate Governance Report”.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year have been
audited by Ernst & Young (“EY”). EY will retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of EY as
independent auditor of the Company will be proposed at the 2021 AGM.

By Order of the Board
Yau On Yee, Annie
Chairman

Hong Kong, 23 June 2021
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board has committed to achieving high corporate governance standards.

The Board believes that high corporate governance standards are essential
in providing a framework for the Company to safeguard the interests of
shareholders and to enhance corporate value and accountability.

During the Year, the Company has applied the principles and complied with
all the code provisions, except for the code provision A.2.1, as set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules.

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of chairman and
chief executive should be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual. The offices of chairman and chief executive officer of the Company
are held by Ms. Yau On Yee, Annie. The Board believes that Ms. Yau On Yee,
Annie can provide the Company with strong and consistent leadership and
allows for effective and efficient planning and implementation of business
decisions and strategies. The Board also considers that the current structure
of vesting the roles of chairman and chief executive in the same person will
not impair the balance of power and authority between the Board and the
management of the Company.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the code for dealing in securities
of the Company by the Directors.

Specific enquiry has been made to all the Directors and all the Directors have
confirmed their compliance with the Model Code throughout the Year.

The Company has also established written guidelines no less exacting than the
Model Code (the “Employees Written Guidelines”) for securities transactions by
employees who are likely to be in possession of unpublished inside information of
the Group. No incident of non-compliance of the Employees Written Guidelines by
the employees was noted by the Company during the Year under review.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The composition of the Board during the Year and up to the date of this report
is as follows:

The Board

Executive Directors:
HITES:
Ms. YAU On Yee, Annie
(Chairman & Chief Executive Officer)
WMEEL L
(EERITEAEHR)
Ms. NG Yi Kum, Estella
(Deputy Chairman, Chief Strategy Officer &
Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary)
h@E+
(BIEE - BEFEEYBEERARWE)

The biographical information of the Directors is set out in the section headed
“Directors Profile” of this annual report. None of the members of the Board is
related to one another.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separate and should not be performed by the same individual.

The offices of chairman and the chief executive officer of the Company are held
by Ms. Yau On Yee, Annie. The Board considers that the current management
structure has operated efficiently. According to the Company’s practice, all
major strategic decisions are taken by the Board, or relevant committee of the
Board, as duly constituted.

The Board considers that the current structure of vesting the roles of chairman

and chief executive in the same person will not impair the balance of power and
authority between the Board and the management of the Company.
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Independent Non-executive Directors:
BYFHITES :

Mr. CHUI Chi Yun, Robert

EXCxE

Mr. CHAN Yue Kwong, Michael

BRI A4

Mr. CHOW Chee Wai, Christopher
AR E

Non-executive Director:
FHITES :
Mr. HUANG Erwin Steve (Deputy Chairman)
(retired on 8 September 2020)
HEKEE (BIEE)
(FR20204F9 A8 HRIE)
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Independent Non-executive Directors

During the Year, the Board at all times met the requirements of the Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent non-executive
Directors, representing one-third of the Board with one of whom possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each of the
independent non-executive Directors in respect of his independence in
accordance with the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Company is of the view that all independent non-executive Directors
are independent.

Mr. Chui Chi Yun, Robert and Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael, independent
non-executive Directors, have served the Board for more than nine years. Both
of them are not connected with any director or substantial shareholder of
the Company. Notwithstanding their long term services, given their extensive
experience as a professional accountant and a seasoned business leader
respectively, would significantly contribute to the strategy development and
continuous improvement on internal controls and other relevant financial and
corporate governance matters of the Company, the Board is of the opinion
that they continue to bring independent and objective perspectives to the
Company'’s affairs.

Non-executive Directors and Directors’ Re-election

Code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code stipulates that non-executive directors shall
be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election, whereas code provision
A.4.2 states that all directors appointed to fill a casual vacancy shall be subject
to election by shareholders at the first general meeting after appointment
and that every director, including those appointed for a specific term, shall be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

Each of the Directors is appointed for a specific term of three years and is
subject to retirement by rotation once every three years.
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Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of the Board
and Management

The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the Company and
oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions and performance and is
collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Company by directing
and supervising its affairs. The Directors make decisions objectively in the
interests of the Company.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, have brought a
wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge and professionalism
to the Board for its efficient and effective functioning.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information of the Company
as well as the services and advice from the Company Secretary and senior
management. The Directors may, upon request, seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses for discharging
their duties to the Company.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices held by them
and the Board regularly reviews the contribution required from each Director to
perform his/her responsibilities to the Company.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to policy matters,
strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management, material
transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of interests), financial
information, appointment of Directors and other significant operational matters
of the Company. Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of the
Board, directing and coordinating the daily operation and management of the
Company are delegated to the management.
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Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Directors keep abreast of responsibilities as a Director and of the conduct,
business activities and development of the Company.

Every newly appointed Director will receive formal, comprehensive and tailored
induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment to ensure appropriate
understanding of the business and operations of the Company and full
awareness of Director’s responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules
and relevant statutory requirements.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional development
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. All Directors are
encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the Company’s expenses.

A summary of training received by Directors during the Year according to the
records provided by the Directors is as follows:
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Attending briefings/
trainings/seminars and/
or reading materials

HEENE EN

Directors 2= ek, HEEME
Ms. YAU On Yee, Annie BEERE 4
Ms. NG Yi Kum, Estella mEErL v
Mr. CHUI Chi Yun, Robert EERCEE v
Mr. CHAN Yue Kwong, Michael BRI ST 4
Mr. CHOW Chee Wai, Christopher FEaELE v
Mr. HUANG Erwin Steve (retired on 8 September 2020) BEKIHE (R20204F9 F8 HR1E) v/
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company'’s affairs.
All the said Board committees of the Company are established with defined
written terms of reference, which are posted on the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange and are available to shareholders upon request.

All or the majority of the members of the said Board committees are
independent non-executive Directors and the list of the chairman and
members of each Board committee is set out in the section headed “Corporate
Information” of this annual report.

Audit Committee

The principal responsibilities of the Audit Committee include the following:

. To review the financial statements and reports and consider any
significant or unusual items raised by the Company’s staff responsible for
accounting and financial reporting function, internal auditor or external
auditor before submission to the Board;

. To review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s financial
reporting system, risk management and internal control systems and
internal audit function; and

. To review the relationship with the external auditor with reference to the
work performed by the auditor, their fees and terms of engagement, and
make recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment
and removal of external auditor.

The Audit Committee oversees the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group, reviews the internal audit report submitted by the Group’s
Internal Audit Department (the “IA Department”), reports to the Board on any
material issues, and makes recommendations to the Board.
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The Audit Committee held two meetings during the Year to review the final results
and annual report for 2019/20 and the interim results and interim report for the
six months ended 30 September 2020 respectively, to approve the audit fee
quotation from external auditor for 2019/20, as well as to review the significant
issues on financial reporting and compliance procedures, risk management and
internal control systems, scope of work and re-appointment of external auditor
with reference to audit fee market data, and audit plan for the Year.

Remuneration Committee

The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee include the
following:

. To make recommendations to the Board on the establishment of formal
and transparent procedures for developing the remuneration policy and
structure for all Directors and the senior management, which shall ensure
that no Director or any of his/her associates will participate in deciding
his/her own remuneration;

. To determine, with delegated responsibility, the remuneration packages of
the executive Directors and the senior management with reference to the
performance of the individual and the Company as well as market practice
and conditions;

. To make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages
of the non-executive Directors with reference to the performance of the
individual and the Company as well as market practice and conditions;
and

. To review and approve the compensation arrangements for the executive
Directors and the senior management in connection with any loss or
termination of their offices or appointments.

The Remuneration Committee met once during the Year to review and approve
the discretionary bonus to and the remuneration packages of the executive
Directors and the senior management, to review and recommend to the Board
on the remuneration of the non-executive Directors, as well as to note the
remuneration package of the Group’s Founder.
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The remuneration of the members of senior management of the Company by ZARATSHREEABNREENSHEE N T -
band for the Year is set out below:

Number of Persons

Range of Remuneration N E AE

HKD2,000,000 to HKD2,999,999 712 000,000 TR #2,999,999 7T 1

HKD3,000,000 to HKD3,999,999 7B#3,000,0007T £ %51 3,999,999 0

HKD4,000,000 to HKD4,999,999 754,000,000 T E#E % 4,999,999 7T 2
Nomination Committee IEZLE®

The principal responsibilities of the Nomination Committee include the following: BEZZEemMTERIFAIEUTZIE
. To review the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board; . B EEeEE - AY - BRERZ T

. To make recommendation to the Board on the appointment or . MEEEIREHEIRESETHINESTSIE
re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors; HaEsE

. To identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members; and . Ve EBESBERAETESENALT &
. To assess the independence of independent non-executive Directors. . WA B I ITE MBI -

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee would take RI(LEESMBENEE  BELZEQBEZEEEYRNESL
into account various diversity aspects under the Board Diversity Policy that ST b EFREM O ZEAE @ LEAATH DO EFRE
complement the Company’s corporate strategy, including but not limited to  # - @FEETRERIER] « £ - MERHEES « HELK
gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional experience, & .« F g2 gt - MBRBREEL - BEESMEERTHIA
talents, skills, knowledge and length of service. All Board appointments would FBAMA ARE]  ZEEEABETSUZTEREEZSBER
be based on meritocracy, and candidates would be considered against objective  #E=ZE& kK 8 % (LR o

criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

066



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED) - (r ¥ & & (&)

The Board has adopted the Director Nomination Policy, which aims to set out the
procedures, process and criteria for nomination and appointment of Directors,
and to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity
of perspectives appropriate to the Company’s business and succession plan.
In identifying, evaluating and selecting suitable candidate for directorship, the
Nomination Committee would consider the candidates’ character and integrity,
potential contributions to the Board in terms of qualifications, skills, knowledge,
experience and time commitment, diversity aspects under the Board Diversity
Policy, independence (for independent non-executive Director) and other relevant
criteria before making recommendation to the Board. The Nomination Committee
would also rank the candidates by order of preference based on the Company’s
needs and the candidates’ reference check where required.

The Nomination Committee met once during the Year to review the structure,
size, composition and diversity of the Board and the Director Nomination Policy
as well as to assess the independence of independent non-executive Directors.
During the meeting, the Nomination Committee has also noted the retirement of
Mr. Huang Erwin Steven and recommended the re-election of Mr. Chui Chi Yun,
Robert at the 2020 annual general meeting after reviewing his overall contribution
and service to the Company and level of participation and performance on the
Board and determining that he continues to meet the above criteria.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the code
provision D.3.1 of the CG Code.

The Board reviewed the Company’s corporate governance policies and
practices, the training and continuous professional development of Directors
and senior management, the Company’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements, the compliance of the Model Code and
Employees Written Guidelines, and the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.
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ATTENDANCE RECORD OF DIRECTORS AND COMMITTEE EERZE€mENHERE

MEMBERS

The attendance record of each Director at the Board and Board committee
meetings and the general meeting of the Company held during the Year is set

out in the table below:

EEERNAFENRLFEZERESEZREERUR

ARFBROBERAEWLENTRHT

Attendance/Number of Meetings

HE S XE

Annual

Nomination Remuneration Audit General

Directors Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting

=3 EEE REEEET FHEEE BREEE REREFAS

Ms. YAU On Yee, Annie 4/4 1/1 1/1 - 1/1
&Lt

Ms. NG Yi Kum, Estella 4/4 - 1/1 - 1/1
hmEL+

Mr. CHUI Chi Yun, Robert 4/4 - 1/1 2/2 1/1
EEChE

Mr. CHAN Yue Kwong, Michael 4/4 11 1/1 2/2 1/1
PRA& ST

Mr. CHOW Chee Wai, Christopher 4/4 1/1 1/1 2/2 1/1
ERREEE

Mr. HUANG Erwin Steve (Note) 1/1 - - - 0/1

|EAKELE ()

Note: Mr. Huang Erwin Steve has retired as a non-executive Director and the Deputy
Chairman of the Company at the conclusion of the annual general meeting held
on 8 September 2020. Prior to his retirement, there was 1 Board meeting held

during the Year.

Apart from regular Board meetings, the Chairman also held a meeting with the
independent non-executive Directors without the presence of other Directors

during the Year.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements of the Company for the Year.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and understandable
assessment of annual and interim reports, inside information announcements
and other financial disclosures required under the Listing Rules and other
statutory and regulatory requirements.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation and information
as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out an informed assessment of the
Company'’s financial statements, which are put to the Board for approval.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the section headed
“Independent Auditor’s Report”.

The remuneration paid/payable to Ernst & Young, the external auditor of the
Company, was approximately HK$2,290,000 for audit services during the Year.
No other assurance services fee was paid/payable to EY. The remuneration
paid/payable to EY was approximately HK$180,000 for non-assurance services
during the Year.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for overseeing the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group and reviewing their effectiveness at
least annually through the Audit Committee. The Group’s executive management
and the |IA Department have been delegated the responsibility of identifying
and evaluating the risks faced by the Group and of designing, operating
and monitoring an effective internal control system that covers governance,
compliance, risk management, financial as well as operational control.

The risk management process includes risk identification, risk evaluation,
risk management measures and risk control and review. The management is
delegated to identify, analyze, evaluate, respond, monitor and communicate
risks associated with any activity, function or process within its scope of
responsibility and authority. It is endeavoured to evaluate and compare the
level of risk against predetermined acceptable levels of risk. For risk control and
monitoring, it involves making decisions regarding which risks are acceptable
and how to address those that are not. Any material risk identified by the
management or the IA Department will be reported to the Audit Committee and
the Board. The management and the IA Department assist the Audit Committee
and the Board to manage and control such risks by ensuring an effective risk
management system is maintained and operated within the Group.

The internal control system is designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute,
assurance on the effectiveness and efficiency of operations in achieving the
established corporate objectives, safeguarding the Group’s assets, providing
reliable financial reporting information and complying with the applicable
laws and regulations. Systems and procedures are also established to identify,
measure, manage and control, rather than eliminate, different risks arising from
different business and functional activities.
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The IA Department plays an important role in enhancing internal control
system of the Group. It assists the Board in determining whether sound internal
control system is maintained and operated in compliance with the established
processes and standards by performing periodic audits over all major operations
of the Group, under a rotational cycle. An annual audit plan (comprising annual
audit focus and audit frequencies) is prepared based on the IA Department’s
independent risk assessment. Such work plan is discussed and agreed with
the Audit Committee at the beginning of each financial year. If any material
risks or internal control defects are found, the IA Department will discuss with
respective department heads to have actions agreed and subsequently followed
up, in order to ensure that satisfactory controls are maintained. Major internal
audit findings will be submitted to the Audit Committee for review and all
improvement actions will be properly followed up by management to ensure
that they are implemented within a reasonable period of time.

In addition, the Group has engaged an independent consulting firm to assist the
|A Department to provide professional internal audit services to the Group. Such
appointment aims to provide leadership to and enhance professionalism and
independence of the IA Department.

The Group complies with the requirements of the SFO and the Listing Rules.
The Group will disclose inside information to the public as soon as reasonably
practicable unless the information falls within any of the “safe harbours”
provisions and satisfies the conditions under the SFO. Before the information is
fully disclosed to the public, the Group will ensure that the information is kept
strictly confidential.

The Group has strictly prohibited unauthorized use of confidential or inside
information and established and implemented procedures for responding to
external enquiries about the Group’s affairs, so that only the executive Directors
are authorized to communicate with parties outside the Group.

Through the Audit Committee, the Board has conducted annual review of the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems for
the Year, covering all material financial, operational and compliance controls,
and considered the Group’s risk management and internal control systems to
be effective and adequate. There were no suspected material irregularities
found or significant areas of concern identified during the Year that might affect
shareholders of the Company.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for shareholders to convene a Special General
Meeting ("SGM™)

Pursuant to bye-law 58 of the Bye-laws and the Bermuda Companies Act,
registered shareholders of the Company holding not less than one-tenth (10%)
of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company (“SGM Requisitionists”) can deposit a written request
to convene a SGM at the registered office of the Company (the “Registered
Office”). The SGM Requisitionists must state in their request(s) the purposes of
the SGM and such request(s) must be signed by all the SGM Requisitionists and
may consist of several documents in like form, each signed by one or more of
the SGM Requisitionists.

The share registrars of the Company will verify the SGM Requisitionists’
particulars in the SGM Requisitionists’ request. Promptly after confirmation from
the share registrars of the Company that the SGM Requisitionists’ request is in
order, the Company Secretary will arrange with the Board to convene a SGM
by serving sufficient notice to all the registered shareholders of the Company
in accordance with all the relevant statutory and regulatory requirements. On
the contrary, if the SGM Requisitionists’ request is verified not in order, the SGM
Requisitionists will be advised of the outcome and accordingly, a SGM will not
be convened as requested.

The SGM Requisitionists, or any of them representing more than one-half of
the total voting rights of all of them, may themselves convene a SGM if within
twenty-one (21) days of the deposit of the SGM Requisitionists’ request, the
Board does not proceed to duly convene a SGM provided that any SGM so
convened is held within three (3) months from the date of the original SGM
Requisitionists’ request. A SGM so convened by the SGM Requisitionists shall be
convened in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings
are to be convened by the Company.
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Procedures for shareholders to put forward proposals at a
general meeting

Pursuant to the Bermuda Companies Act, either any number of the registered
shareholders of the Company holding not less than one-twentieth (5%) of the
paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company (“Requisitionists”), or not less than 100 of such registered
shareholders, can request the Company in writing to (a) give to shareholders
of the Company entitled to receive notice of the next annual general meeting
notice of any resolution which may properly be moved and is intended to be
moved at that meeting; and (b) circulate to shareholders of the Company
entitled to have notice of any general meeting any statement of not more than
1,000 words with respect to the matter referred to in any proposed resolution or
the business to be dealt with at that meeting.

The requisition signed by all the Requisitionists may consist of several documents
in like form, each signed by one or more of the Requisitionists; and it must be
deposited at the Registered Office with a sum reasonably sufficient to meet the
Company’s relevant expenses, not less than six weeks before the meeting in
case of a requisition requiring notice of a resolution or not less than one week
before the meeting in the case of any other requisition. Provided that if an annual
general meeting is called for a date six weeks or less after the requisition has been
deposited, the requisition though not deposited within the time required shall be
deemed to have been properly deposited for the purposes thereof.
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Procedures for directing shareholders’ enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to the Board in
writing through the Company Secretary whose contact details are as follows:

The Company Secretary

Tse Sui Luen Jewellery (International) Limited
Ground Floor, Block B, Summit Building,

30 Man Yue Street, Hunghom, Kowloon, Hong Kong
Fax: (852) 2356 0215

Email: enquiry@tslj.com

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the general meetings of
the Company.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company’s constitutional documents have been posted under the
sub-section “Constitutional Documents” of “Corporate Governance” section on
the Company’s website at ir.tslj.com. There are no changes in the constitutional
documents of the Company during the Year under review.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

e

BYURZBMBES

Ernst & Youn.g KGR E AN Tel E5E: +852 2846 9888
27/F, One Taikoo Place ESHARRSEITOR  Fax HE: +852 2868 4432
979 King's Road Kt —RE27IE ey.com

§j( Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

To the shareholders of Tse Sui Luen Jewellery (International) Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Tse Sui Luen Jewellery
(International) Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set
out on pages 84 to 211, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2021, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2021, and of
its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA™) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
("HKSASs™) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each
matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided
in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report,
including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the
performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks
of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results
of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the
matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.
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Key audit matters (continued)

Key audit matter
BEETSEE

URHEHREE(E)

BRRETTEE(8)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
ZEEEEN PR NAELEE

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets

W BE R R R E A EEEZREN S

As at 31 March 2021, the Group recorded property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets mainly from the lease of retail shops amounting to HK$82
million and HK$167 million, respectively. The Group recorded net loss during
the year ended 31 March 2021 as a result of the negative impact from the
outbreak of COVID-19. Management had performed impairment assessment
on individual cash-generating unit with impairment indicators and the Group
recorded impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets amounting to HK$20 million and HK$34 million, respectively, during the
year to write down the carrying amounts of these assets to the recoverable
amounts. The recoverable amounts were determined based on the value in
use calculation. Significant judgement is required to determine the value in
use amounts based upon the expected future cash flows from the asset or
cash-generating unit estimated. The estimation process is highly based on
assumptions, which are influenced by projected future market and economic
conditions.
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The accounting policies and disclosures of the impairment of property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets are included in notes 2.4, 3,14 and 15 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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Our audit procedures included evaluating the Group’s
policies and procedures in identifying impairment
indicators and assessing management’s significant
assumptions adopted in the cash flow forecasts by
reviewing the Group's business plan and evaluating the
growth rate by comparing to market data. In addition,
we involved our internal valuation specialists to assist
us with our assessment of the methodology and the
discount rates used to determine the recoverable
amounts of the property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets. We also compared the cash flow
forecasts with historical data of the Group.
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Key audit matters (continued)

Key audit matter
BEETEE

B EE(E

)

BRESSHM®)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
ZEEEE R NAEEE

Recognition of deferred tax liabilities regarding withholding tax on unremitted
earnings of subsidiaries established in Mainland China

FERBI A B 7,2 MY 23 B] 2 K 70 B 8 P ey TR FI T 18 B B AL B IR B e

As at 31 March 2021, the Group recognised a deferred tax liability of
approximately HK$18 million for withholding taxes that would be payable in
respect of the unremitted earnings of the Group’s subsidiaries established in
Mainland China that are subject to withholding taxes. Significant management
judgement is required to determine the amount and timing of the payment
of dividends that will be distributed in the foreseeable future. The estimation
process is highly based on assumptions, which are influenced by projected
future market and economic conditions.
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The accounting policies and disclosures of the recognition of deferred tax liabilities
are included in notes 2.4, 3 and 26 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Our audit procedures included evaluating the
management’s assumptions and estimates in relation
to the likelihood of the Group’s operations in Mainland
China remitting their earnings in the foreseeable future,
which included the ability of the Company to generate
sufficient cash flows for dividend distribution and
other financing needs of the Group, based on the latest
approved strategic business plan. We also assessed the
historical accuracy of the management’s assumptions
used.
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Key audit matters (continued)

Key audit matter
BEETSEE

URHEHREE(E)

BRRETTEE(8)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
ZEEEEN PR NAELEE

Net realisable value of inventories

FRZIZEFE

As at 31 March 2021, the Group recorded inventories of approximately HK$1,301
million before provision for impairment of approximately HK$77 million. The
write-down of inventories to net realisable value is estimated by management
through the application of judgement and the use of highly subjective
assumptions. During the year ended 31 March 2021, a provision for impairment
of inventories of approximately HK$25 million was debited to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss based on management’s assessment.
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The accounting policies and disclosure for the impairment provision on inventories
are included in notes 2.4, 3 and 7 to the consolidated financial statements.
HEF
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Our audit procedures included reviewing the Group’s
procedures in identifying and valuing obsolete,
damaged, slow-moving, excess and other inventory
items whose costs may not be fully recoverable;
evaluating inputs and assumptions used by the Group in
calculating the impairment; and assessing the adequacy
of the impairment recorded by reviewing subsequent
sales after the year end and comparing with historical
sales records.

HPNEFEFREFHERENMEERE  BR
W BRAREM ARG 2 A IR 2 R E R

HE BERBEFERERABIITE - BEMERE
B E IR 3565 M SR SE S S 0 S E LB REHAE ASR
REZ AN -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED) - By 8 MM EE(E)

Other information included in the Annual Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the Annual Report, other than
the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated financial
statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirement of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend
to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED) - By &z Sifi sk 5= (&)

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group'’s internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
the directors.

BREMBETFEMBRREBENEE

BMWER RASEVBHRREBES T FEARRE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED) - By 8 MM EE(E)

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements (continued)

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought
to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED) - By &z Sif k5= (&)

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh
the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Lai Ho Yin.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

23 June 2021
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

GEEGER

2021 2020
Year ended 31 March 2021 Notes 20214 20204
HE201F3A831HIEFE B 5 HK$’000 #B¥ Tt HK$'000 &#F T
Turnover = 5 2,648,600 2,913,827
Cost of sales SHE A (1,688,883) (1,765,431)
Gross profit ER 959,717 1,148,396
Other income and gains, net HEAREs - FEE 6 80,961 37,518
Selling and distribution expenses HERDIHE (885,943) (1,036,780)
Administrative expenses THREHA (105,324) (145,814)
PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS rEBR 49,41 3,320
Finance costs BsE A 8 (50,422) (63,348)
LOSS BEFORE TAX KRBt Al 85 7 1,011) (60,028)
Income tax expense i E A n (43,078) (29,726)
LOSS FOR THE YEAR AEEEFIE (44,089) (89,754)
ATTRIBUTABLE TO: R4
Owners of the Company KRBHER A (43,980) (89,670)
Non-controlling interests AR AR SR A (109) (84)
(44,089) (89,754)
LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO A2 FEEAELERER
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY
Basic and diluted EARREE 13 (17.6 HK cents #{ll) (36.0 HK cents /&1l)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

e THKBRFBHRE

2021 2020
Year ended 31 March 2021 Notes 20214 20204
HZE202143 8318 IEFE Bt 3 HK$’000 B¥F 5T HK$'000 &5 F 7T
LOSS FOR THE YEAR KEEEIE (44,089) (89,754)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE Hib2EWE (FE)
INCOME/(LOSS)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) BETHHEEHF > EZEBHEERZ
that will not be reclassified to Hit2mEmukaE /(BE)ER
profit or loss in subsequent periods:
Remeasurement gain/(loss) on REBAFBNEGBKRA (EIE)
defined benefit plan 25 700 (788)
Income tax effect PIEEY TR 26 (115) 130
Net other comprehensive income/(loss) HEFTHREFIBEEEREZ
that will not be reclassified to Htt2muksE /(B8) 8
profit or loss in subsequent periods 585 (658)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) BEAWREHIEZEREZ
that may be reclassified to profit Hiab 2w (FE) -
or loss in subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on translation of BMEGINEE BN Z5E
foreign operations 86,431 (74,644)
Reclassification adjustment for FEINERSEEERIER 2
a foreign operation upon B DA
deregistration (1,058) -
Net other comprehensive income/(loss) HEDREHIEZEREZ
that may be reclassified to profit Hib 2wz (FE) B8
or loss in subsequent periods: 85,373 (74,644)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/ AEEHMEEKE (BE)
(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX HNBRBE 85,958 (75,302)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/ RNEEZENE (BEB)LHE
(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 41,869 (165,056)
Attributable to: FEfh 4% -
Owners of the Company FiN/NEIE Y= 41,993 (164,968)
Non-controlling interests JEIERR IR R A R (124) (88)
41,869 (165,056)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

RS T ES

2021 2020
At 31 March 2021 Notes 20214 20204
HR2021F3 A31H =S HK$’000 &% T T HK$'000 BTt
NON-CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Property, plant and equipment WE - B NEE 14 82,469 132,157
Right-of-use assets FREEE 15(a) 166,842 280,303
Intangible assets BV EE 16 99 99
Other asset HEtEE 17 500 500
Prepayments and deposits B R RS 20 26,835 41,506
Deferred tax assets EEFIBEE 26 33,985 40,526
310,730 495,091
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Inventories rE 18 1,224,196 1,453,755
Trade receivables FEUL AR X 19 116,091 77,783
Prepayments, other receivables and TERR - HAb UG R E A& =
other assets 20 172,758 98,745
Tax recoverable AJ Y 2] 75 78 10,167 14,788
Time deposits TEHATF 21 317,656 232,003
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREZEEY 21 379,422 336,750
2,220,290 2,213,824
CURRENT LIABILITIES REAE
Trade payables FETBR IR 22 (155,355) (245,718)
Other payables and accruals EmENRRESER 23 (281,979) (284,966)
Interest-bearing bank and FTRRITREMER
other borrowings 24 (560,177) (446,150)
Lease liabilities HEaE 15(b) (97,613) (155,162)
Tax payable FEFITE (8,840) (3,355)
(1,103,964) (1,135,351)
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEZRE 1,116,326 1,078,473
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BMEERABERE
LIABILITIES 1,427,056 1,573,564

086




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED) - &2 & BI ik R 3R R (48)

2021 2020
At 31 March 2021 Notes 20214 20204
2021463 A 318 L5 HK$’000 &% F T HK$ 000 B8 T T
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Other payables and accruals Ht SRR ERTER 23 (1,449) (4,278)
Interest-bearing bank and AT RRITREMERR
other borrowings 24 (428,909) (567,611)
Employee benefit obligations EERAER 25 (661) (1,639)
Lease liabilities HEAE 15(b) (34,562) (84,070)
Deferred tax liabilities RIERRIEEE 26 (19,519) (15,879)
(485,100) (673,477)
NET ASSETS EERE 941,956 900,087
EQUITY e
Equity attributable to owners of RATEE AELER
the Company
Issued capital BT A 27 (62,296) (62,296)
Reserves b 29 (879,911) (837,918)
(942,207) (900,214)
Non-controlling interests IR RES 251 127
TOTAL EQUITY e (941,956) (900,087)

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 23 June 2021.

Yau On Yee, Annie I8 & &
Ng Yi Kum, Estella A& =

Directors %

FEERN202196 A23 BEOEI FFA] HIZ -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

GERZEIR

Attributable to owners of the Company

KATHREAER
Share Capital Non-
Issued Share option  and other Retained ~ Proposed controlling Total
capital premium reserve Teserves profits  final dividend Total interests equity
BEf EAR SR
kx RhEE BRERE  EtEE BRA  HERS &% hEER  EREE
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
i BT B%Tn BT BT AMTr  BRTn BETn BT BT
(note 37 (note 37 (note 37
Vear ended 31 March 2021 (note 27) (010) (©)iv)) (o) (note 12)
(W (ks (W
HE0NEIANALER (HizE27) 0  ©w) (i) (M)
At 1 April 2019 R2019E4F1R 62138 121162 15,719 145,017 720,39 15919 1,078,094 (39) 107805
Loss for the year rEEER - - (89,670) (89,670) ®4) (89754
Other comprehensive loss for AEREMRERE:
the year:
Exchange differences on translation g5 £ 7 EH 28
of foreign operations - (74,640) - (74,640) (4) (74,644)
Remeasurement loss on defined AR EMEREE
benefit plan, net of tax NBHE - - (658) (658) - (658)
Total comprehensive loss for the year  AFE2AEELE - - (74640)  (90328) (164,968) (83)  (165,056)
Scrip shares under 2018/19 final 208/19REFERER
dividend 1228 158 849 - (1,007) - -
Forfeiture of share option BARZ EE
Upon expiry 29 - (15,719) - 15,719 - - - -
Dividends paid BERE 12 - - - - (12912) (12912) - (12912)
At 31 March 2020 R2020%3A31R 62,29 12,0m - 70377 645530° 900,214 (127) 900,087
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED) - & A B8 R (E)

Attributable to owners of the Company

KRRERAEL
Capital Non-
Issued Share  and other Retained controlling Total
capital premium reserves profits Total interests equity
EBfT BAXR FER

BE  ROEE  HitRE  REEA A RRER  ERLE
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT E¥TR  E¥TR  E¥TR E%Tr E%Tr B%Tn

(note 37 (note 37

Year ended 31 March 2021 (note 27) ((310)] (c)(ii))
(K37 (GEX)
HE00F3A3BIEFE (Ht&k27) (©)(0)) (o)D)
At 1 April 2020 M2020%4 A18 62,296 122,011 70,377 645,530 900,214 127) 900,087
Loss for the year AEEEE - - - (43,980) (43,980) (109) (44,089)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) AEEEMEE
for the year; Wi/ (B8 :
Exchange differences on translation BEBNEB ELER
of foreign operations - - 86,446 - 86,446 (15) 86,431
Reclassification adjustment for a BN EB TR
foreign operation upon e 2 BN ERE
deregistration - - (1,058) - (1,058) - (1,058)
Remeasurement gain on defined RERAEIMER
benefit plan, net of tax B MREE - - - 585 585 - 585
Total comprehensive income for the year AEE2ANEESE - - 85,388 (43,395) 41,993 (124) 41,869
At 31 March 2021 20213 A31H 62,296 122,011 155,765* 602,135* 942,207 (251) 941,956

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$879,911,000 * WEREBERBEAKGAVERIARRZGEAHEBESLE
(2020: HK$837,918,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position. 879,911,000 7T (20204 : 7##837,918,0007T) °
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

GERERER

2021 2020
Year ended 31 March 2021 Notes 20214 20204
HZE202143A318IEFE B3 HK$’000 &#¥ F 5t HK$'000 7 ¥ F 7T
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING REEBCHRERE
ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax BRA% A& 18 1,011) (60,028)
Adjustments for: FHEE -
Finance costs BB EA 8 50,422 63,348
Interest income FLEWA 6 (9,687) (3,849)
Loss on disposal of items of BEEYF  WERZEEEEIE
property, plant and equipment 7 715 364
Depreciation of property, plant and W - BE MREBITE
equipment 7 52,424 60,613
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 7 158,323 198,171
(Reversal of)/impairment allowance FEURBR N CRUER ), RfE - F5E
of trade receivables 7 (352) 1,116
Impairment of property, plant and Y BRE REERE
equipment 7 20,405 3,447
Impairment of right-of-use assets FEREEERE 7 34,098 13,011
Provision/(reversal of provision) for s (BB FEE
impairment of inventories Al IR R(E - JFEE 7 24,972 (12,499)
Gain on lease modification EMAE 2 s 7 (392) (671)
329,917 263,023
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FEERL /(3 m) 263,107 (57,418)
(Increase)/decrease in trade FEMRER TR (38:h0) iR
receivables (33,447) 61,749
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments, TER R - HAb UK K&
other receivables and other assets Hab&E (g, md (44,279) 62,021
(Decrease)/increase in trade payables FEREBRR CRid),/ #hn (98,288) 22,727
Decrease in other payables and accruals E M RER FR N EHE AR (23,835) (13,481)
Decrease in employee benefit obligations & T1&F3 7w 4> (278) (1,804)
Cash flows generated from operations  REEKEANIRS 392,897 336,817
Hong Kong profits tax paid B X EEFEHR (6,580) (3,313)
Taxes paid other than Hong Kong B BB A E T IE (15,794) (27,837)
Interest element of lease payments HERNRHFEEFH (9,964) (14,625)
Net cash flows from operating activities REEBELS ZIREREFE 360,559 291,042
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED) - 4

ARERERE)

2021 2020

Year ended 31 March 2021 Notes 20214 20204
HZE202143 8318 IEFE Bt 3 HK$’000 &#¥ F 5T HK$'000 &5 F 7T
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING BRETEZ2HER

ACTIVITIES
Interest received B F 8 9,687 3,849
Increase in time deposits TE HAfF Z) 38 00 (69,276) (81,454)
Purchases of items of property, EEM - HERE

plant and equipment 14 (22,217) (68,532)
Purchases of prepaid land lease BEEMLHAE 15(a) - (30,062)
Proceeds from disposal of items of BBV  WERE

property, plant and equipment PS5/ 18 2,135 100
Net cash flows used in investing BREEHMA RS REFE

activities (79,671) (176,099)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING BMETH2HERE

ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from interest-bearing bank I B ARTT R E A E RS 50E

and other borrowings 30(b) 232,000 831,973
Repayment of interest-bearing bank EETBRITREMER

and other borrowings 30(b) (256,675) (605,196)
Principal portion of lease payments AEM RSB0 30(b) (183,786) (185,008)
Interest paid EATHLE (40,458) (48,723)
Dividends paid BRRE - (12,912)
Net cash flows used in financing MEEEMTAZESREFE

activities (248,919) (19,866)
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH ~ R&RE&ZEYZ #FH

EQUIVALENTS 31,969 95,077
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning REVIZEEMIREEEY

of the year 336,750 251,242
Effect of foreign exchange rate HNISTE RSB R L

changes, net 10,703 (9,569)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT REAZEERBELEEY

END OF THE YEAR 379,422 336,750
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH HEeRBRESBEYEEIN

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents HekBESEED 21 379,422 336,750
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Tse Sui Luen Jewellery (International) Limited (the “Company”) is a
limited liability company incorporated in Bermuda. The registered office
of the Company is located at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton
HM 11, Bermuda. The principal place of business of the Company is located
at Ground Floor, Block B, Summit Building, 30 Man Yue Street, Hunghom,
Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The principal activities of the Group are the manufacture, sale and
marketing of jewellery products and the provision of service.

In the opinion of the directors, the immediate holding company is Partner
Logistics Limited, which is incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
("BVI"), and the ultimate holding company is Blink Technology Limited,
which is incorporated in the BVI, and the ultimate controlling party is Mr.
Tse Tat Fung, Tommy (“Mr. Tommy Tse”).

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Place of incorporation/

1. AFAREEER

HIEBHRE (AR BRAR (AR DTRERE
MK BREERR c KRR 2P EEAA
A Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM
11, Bermuda s RARIZ X EWERAB B NELH

RMH305F 2 TRy AE ) RBEE o

AEEZIZEZHAEE  HE HEREERR
PR RS -

EEZRA  MREBEREIBEESM A Partner Logistics
Limited BEBIER AR RKIER AR AR EER
LB EFMA S BIBlink Technology Limited » &%

BIERA T RUEE AL -

=NCIPA -

LNl ==

Issued Percentage of equity

ordinary/registered

RBZFBWOT

attributable to the

Name registration and business share capital Company Principal activities
BRALEREA  AARFMERE
% R/ EMReEms SR A Al TEER
Direct Indirect
E# i
TSL Investment (B.V.1.) Limited BVI HK$1,000 100 - Investment holding
RBRZHS B #1,0007T BEAER
Ankenne Jewelry Co. Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Jewellery trading
BEREERAF 0 BEIT KEES
Beijing Qi Li Yun Jewellery Company Limited#** The People’s Republic Renminbi (“RMB”) - 100 Jewellery retailing
LT RIEFERERRAF of China (“PRC”) 20,000,000 KEZTE
FEARLRE ([HE]) AR#20,000,0007T



CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued) 1.
Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

(continued)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) - Bf 7 ¥ & Mt £ (&)

Issued Percentage of equity

DEREEER (@)
FEB A Bl &M ()
ADEMBARZFENT ¢ (4)

Place of incorporation/ ordinary/registered  attributable to the
Name registration and business share capital Company Principal activities
BRALBRA .  KATAFMERE
% RY/ ZMReEns AR Ok TEER
Direct Indirect
BHE HE
Beijing Qi Li Yun Trading Company Limited*** PRC RMB3,000,000 - 100 Jewellery retailing
TREFEHERRAR H AR®3,000,0007C KETE
Beijing Tse Sui Luen Jewellery PRC United States dollars - 100 Jewellery
Company Limited**(“BTSL") H ("US$”) 2,000,000 manufacturing
I RHAHBKERR DA 2,000,000 7T and trading
KRERERES
Concepts Management (H.K.) Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Trademarks holding
BlSERE (B%)BRAR S BT and investment
in trademarks
FEEERRARE
Excellent Ford Development Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100 Jewellery trading
BHERBRAR ([BHER]) ) 7 #£10,0007T KEES
Guangzhou Hong Yun Jewellery Company Limited®* PRC RMB7,800,000 - 100 Jewellery retailing
BNBEFREERAR i AR#7,800,0007T KETE
Guangzhou Tai Yi Trading Company Limited#* PRC HK$8,000,000 - 100 Jewellery trading
BMEEEEERAR" i #%8,000,0007% KEEH
Guangzhou Xi Yun Jewellery Company Limited*** PRC RMB2,000,000 - 100 Jewellery retailing
BMEEHREERAR" FE AR#2,000,0007C KRETE
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094

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued) 1. QARKEEEH(#)
Information about subsidiaries (continued) B AR ZER (@)
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows: ARARMBARZFBWOT : (8)

(continued)
Issued Percentage of equity

Place of incorporation/ ordinary/registered  attributable to the
Name registration and business share capital Company Principal activities
BRALBRA  KATRMERE
g R,/ EMReagns R Vi TBER
Direct Indirect
BE %
Guangzhou Xi Yun Trading Company Limited** PRC RMB3,000,000 - 100 Jewellery retailing
EMEEBERR AR i AR¥3,000,0007T and franchising
GKETERMBES
Guangzhou Xiang Yun Jewellery Company Limited®* PRC RMB3,000,000 - 100 Jewellery trading
BEMEEHREERAR FE AR#3,000,0007T KEZ S
Impromptus Asia Pacific Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100 Goldsmith and
B A#10,0007T jewellery trading
RERKEES
Infinite Assets Corp BVI HK$277,254 - 100 Investment holding
RERZES A 277,2547T BREER
Liberty Mark Limited BVI US$1 - 100 Investment holding
HERZES [E REER
Richfun Enterprises Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Investment holding
BEPEBRAT BE BT REER
Shanghai Fu Yun Jewellery Company Limited*** PRC RMB1,000,000 - 100 Jewellery retailing
FEREREERRA" FE AE#1,000,0007T KETE
Shanghai Fu Yun Trading Company Limited®* PRC RMB3,000,000 - 100 Jewellery retailing
FEREFEEERAR FE AR#3,000,0007T KETE



CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued) 1.
Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

(continued)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) - Bf 7 ¥ & Mt 3£ (&)

Issued Percentage of equity

DEREEER (@)
FEB A Bl &M ()
ADEMBARZFENT ¢ (4)

Place of incorporation/ ordinary/registered  attributable to the
Name registration and business share capital Company Principal activities
BRALBRA .  KATAFMERE
% RY/ ZMReEns AR Ok FTEEK
Direct Indirect
BHE HE
Shenzhen Jingyan Jewellery Company Limited® PRC HK$8,000,000 - 100 Manufacturing and
RIEHAHREE AR AR H 75#38,000,0007T distribution
of jewellery
KEHERSH
Shenzhen Qianhai Tse Sui Luen Trading PRC RMB100,000 - 100 Jewellery trading
Company Limited#* H AR100,0007T HEE5
YR H IR E S AR AR
Shenzhen Qianhai Tse Sui Luen Logistic PRC RMB100,000 - 100 Logistics and supply
Company Limited#* H AE100,0007T chain management
RYELEA B MR AR AR Wi kA ERE R
Tse Sui Luen Jewellery Company Limited (“TSLJ")*  Hong Kong HK$46,982,090 - 100 Jewellery trading
HAIHBMRBE AR LA ([FREKE ) e 71 46,982,0907T and retailing
KEBIRTE
Tse Sui Luen (Guangzhou) Jewellery PRC HK$21,000,000 - 100 Manufacturing,
Company Limited (“TSLGZ") ** H ##21,000,0007T distribution of
At (EM) IREBR AR ([HRBEMN]) - jewellery and
franchising
KRERE N KB
B 5 RMBER
Tse Sui Luen Investment (China) Limited BVI US$6,863 - 100 Investment holding
AR E (FE) BRAF RERZES 6,863% 7T REER
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096

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

(continued)

Place of incorporation/

1. 2RAREEER®)
B AR &R (&)

AARMBRRZFBENOT : (8&)

Issued Percentage of equity

ordinary/registered  attributable to the

Name registration and business share capital Company Principal activities
BRALBRA  KATRMERE
g R,/ EMReagns R Vi TBER
Direct Indirect
BE %
Tse Sui Luen Jewellery Retailing Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia Malaysian - 100 Jewellery retailing
HRAD Ringgits 3,300,000 KEZTE
SRBERTE
3,300,0007T
Tse Sui Luen (Shenzhen) Jewellery PRC HK$12,500,000 - 100 Manufacturing and
Company Limited** HE 75#12,500,0007C distribution of
Himg OR) KEAR QA jewellery
KERERDH
Tse Sui Luen (Shenzhen) Trading Limited®* PRC RMB1,000,000 - 100 Jewellery trading
HnE ORI HERBR AR FE AR#1,00,0007C KEZ S
TSL Jewellery (Export) Company Limited Hong Kong HK$19,824,775 - 100 Jewellery trading
HHBUE (HO) BRAF &k 751619,824,7757C and retailing
KEEHNTE
TSL Jewellery (Macau) Limited Macau Macau Pataca - 100 Jewellery retailing
TSLIRE (RFY) BRAR P ("MOP”) 100,000 KETE
RPFI#100,0007T
TSL Jewellery Retailing (Macau) Limited Macau MOP100,000 - 100 Jewellery retailing
P EF9¥£100,0007T KETE
TSL Jewellery Commercial (Macau) Limited Macau MOP100,000 - 100 Jewellery retailing
! JRP9%100,0007T KETE



CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) - Bf 7 ¥ & Mt £ (&)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

(continued)

1. RAREEER®)
BB AR Z &R (8

Issued Percentage of equity

ADEMBARZFENT ¢ (4)

Place of incorporation/ ordinary/registered  attributable to the
Name registration and business share capital Company Principal activities
BRALBRA .  KATAFMERE
% RY/ ZMReEns AR Ok TEER
Direct Indirect
BHE HE
TSL Jewellery (H.K.) Co. Limited Hong Kong HK$42,000,390 - 100 Jewellery retailing
HIRMIRE (B8) BRAA 6 71#42,000,3907T KETE
TSL Management Services Limited Hong Kong HK$2 - 100 Management and
HmBERRS AR AR BE BT administrative
services
B RITRRT
TSL Manufacturing and Distribution Limited Hong Kong HK$67,000,000 - 100 Investment holding,
("TSL M&D”) 78 7B#67,000,0007T procurement,
HEBRER S EARAR ([HEBRERSHE]) manufacturing
and distribution of
jewellery
REER - 58 258
RAHKE
TSL Properties Management Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000 - 100 Property holding and
HIEBEEEER AT a8 BE10007T investment
BEMERRA
TSL Trading Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Property holding
B I HEME
TSLJ Kabushiki Kaisha (“TSLJKK")*** Japan Japanese Yen 75,000,000 - 96.5  Jewellery retailing
TSLIMRFH &4 ([TSLIKK ) ** A7 75,000,0008 ¢ and wholesales

RETERME
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2.1

098

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued)
Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:
(continued)

" Unofficial translation

i In addition to the ordinary shares, the issued deferred share capital of
TSLJ is HK$36,574,000

- Registered under the laws of the PRC as foreign enterprise

o Registered under the laws of the PRC as limited liability company

e Registered under the laws of Japan as limited liability company

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion
of the directors, principally affected the results for the year or formed a
substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of
excessive length.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA”™), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They
have been prepared under the historical cost convention. These financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) and all values are
rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

2.1

AAREEER (&)
B AR &R (&)
ARFMBARZHENT : (4)

‘ FFIEAESR
e BREARI HIEBMARECRELTCRARBE
36,574,0007T

. REBEFBUREZMAIIERZE
T REFEAEEAMABRAETAF
o REANREIAMABBRAELAF

EERRLERMIEARFRZMBARIAREIEFE
AEEEEIBRNAEEFEEI2HMNOAQF -
EXERRRHEAMHBARZFBERERRREBR -

mBLEE

WEMBHRERDIZREL SR GRONETEY
BRELR (BREAEFBY RS LR BB S
ERIN2E)  BEEERMZEARAREEAT
ROIREZRAEMRR - LFEPBREERES
RARRERE - WSV HERIABTLER - BEF
PR EEBESRABREREANTAE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) - Bf 7 ¥ & Mt £ (&)

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of
the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
for the year ended 31 March 2021. A subsidiary is an entity (including a
structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control
is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee (i.e,, existing rights that give the
Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority of the
voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant
facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an
investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the
investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c)  the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same
reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting policies.
The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the
Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

2.1

MBEE (&)

IREEAE

TG AVBREBIEARAREWBAG (4 A
[AREE]) HE2021FE3A3H ILFE ZHBRE -
MERARARNAGREEESMELEH 2 EE (BEE
BHER) EAEENES2ELEHETMATRE
EESEOR WA NBBYHREHRZEN
(BB FASEEREBEREHREEEES 2 BN
NERERN) P EERBH - BEBIHIE -

EARBTABEEAMEREFREHYRARZBIKRE
RSB UERE - AREERABEBEZREEBER
NHEHERHRELRBEE N B

(a) HREHRZHEMBERBEAZHZAHNR
B

() REMENLHHERZERN &

(© AEEZEFENBEEREE-

Mt B~ B B IS R IR A N R 2 MR RS HI R KR

REARNF BN EABRRE - HBEBAF 2XE

BASEBGEZGEZBEEA AR EFHEE
Bl IEZ B E -
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2.1

100

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group and to the
non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities,
equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between
members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three
elements of control described above. A change in the ownership interest of a
subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i) the assets
(including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii) the carrying
amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii) the cumulative translation
differences recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the
consideration received, (ii) the fair value of any investment retained and
(iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share
of components previously recognised in other comprehensive income
is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the
same basis as would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities.

2.1

RBLEYE (1)
AR (@)

BRLEGEERRER ZXERTHREBNEAL
AR ANSEER B R ER - BEE S S BOFER
RRERERBRATER - MEEERARBMZ
EE BERERS  UNBEASEERERRZME
RHMPA HXEBRERE  HREAKREARE
B -

% B R AR BUR £l P 8 2 Bl & S BCR AT A
ZIEESETRZET - ERZAHREY A&
EeEMTHERTIDATEREGEHRE - T
MREEbIEZMBARMARERES - AIFE

fHARELEM B AR 2 EHIRE - BINEEROZ
MEARZEE (BREEE) RAE  (DEMFE
PR a2 BREE ¢ R (iDFE ARz 2 BFTER =
B UHRGODERREZAFEE - (DEMERS
RE 2 A FEERGIDHBERTERMEES 2 85
SRR o AEEBENE M2 E AR 2 G
7 BRASEEELEREEELRRBEMERZH
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) - Bf 7 ¥ & Mt £ (&)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES 2.2 & BEREEZE5
AEBMBNAEE B BHREERIRMB2018FH T

The Group has adopted the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting 2018 and the following revised HKFRSs for the first time for the
current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3
Amendments to HKFRS 9,

Definition of a Business
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKAS 1

Definition of Material

and HKAS 8

The nature and the impact of the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting 2018 and the revised HKFRSs are described below:

(a)

Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2018 (the
“Conceptual Framework”) sets out a comprehensive set of concepts
for financial reporting and standard setting, and provides guidance
for preparers of financial statements in developing consistent
accounting policies and assistance to all parties to understand and
interpret the standards. The Conceptual Framework includes new
chapters on measurement and reporting financial performance, new
guidance on the derecognition of assets and liabilities, and updated
definitions and recognition criteria for assets and liabilities. It also
clarifies the roles of stewardship, prudence and measurement
uncertainty in financial reporting. The Conceptual Framework is not
a standard, and none of the concepts contained therein override
the concepts or requirements in any standard. The Conceptual
Framework did not have any significant impact on the financial
position and performance of the Group.

R ZBRMERRTIA T RIERT 2 MELER -

ERPHREERNEIFEFTA EHTEE
BRI REEREIN - Fl|EHEE
BB EREIR KR
BRI BRELERETHRISFTA
BEREENE IR EAMZEH

"

BEtERIES BRI A

2018 EH & 2 A ER R IERT B AV ME
ERMMEE RFEWT

(a)

2018 F B # & 2 BERAEAR (THERAELR ) 3
MRS MRS R E—BERS - YR
B &R EE BIE — 2 gt BORIR S|
WBIPT A NIRMR N B R - BIRERBREA
Bt ERBREMBERANNELS  AHEER
BERLERNFIES  UREREERAE
RRHTEE REREE ZFERTHBE
B RBERBETEEEEVBREPOE
Ao BISERYIFER - HEZOHMSTEX
BIMEMEFRB S ERZ L - SISER
HAKENHBARALRRAL BEALE -

101



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) - Bf 7 ¥ & Mt £ (&)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

(continued)

102

()

Amendments to HKFRS 3 clarify and provide additional guidance
on the definition of a business. The amendments clarify that for an
integrated set of activities and assets to be considered a business,
it must include, at a minimum, an input and a substantive process
that together significantly contribute to the ability to create
output. A business can exist without including all of the inputs and
processes needed to create outputs. The amendments remove the
assessment of whether market participants are capable of acquiring
the business and continue to produce outputs. Instead, the focus
is on whether acquired inputs and acquired substantive processes
together significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs. The
amendments have also narrowed the definition of outputs to focus
on goods or services provided to customers, investment income or
other income from ordinary activities. Furthermore, the amendments
provide guidance to assess whether an acquired process is
substantive and introduce an optional fair value concentration test
to permit a simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of
activities and assets is not a business. The Group has applied the
amendments prospectively to transactions or other events that
occur on or after 1 April 2020. The amendments did not have any
impact on the financial position and performance of the Group.

22 EFABEREEZEE (&)

()

BEMERELELEIFBEITANBERTRE
MEB TR ZFEINES] - ZHEFTES R
BE—BEBN—EEZHREEMS © EX
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) - Bf 7 ¥ & Mt 3£ (&)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

(continued)

©

(d)

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 address issues
affecting financial reporting in the period before the replacement of
an existing interest rate benchmark with an alternative risk-free rate
("RFR”). The amendments provide temporary reliefs which enable
hedge accounting to continue during the period of uncertainty
before the introduction of the alternative RFR. In addition, the
amendments require companies to provide additional information
to investors about their hedging relationships which are directly
affected by these uncertainties. The amendments did not have any
impact on the financial position and performance of the Group as
the Group does not have any interest rate hedging relationships.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 provide a new definition of
material. The new definition states that information is material
if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be
expected to influence decisions that the primary users of general
purpose financial statements make on the basis of those financial
statements. The amendments clarify that materiality will depend on
the nature or magnitude of information, or both. The amendments
did not have any significant impact on the financial position and
performance of the Group.

22 BN BEREEZ®E (&)

(©)

(d)

EEMBGRMEENFNR - HBESHERIFE39
SERBAWBEREEMNETRET AT ERR
DA R LB ) R IR G A R B AT 2 HAR
M RERE - ZEERTREAASIAZR
BRI A2 T R NEEETE RS
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WA R EDR B R - MR FET L EE AR
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R ENFIR LB B ERESIRER]
RETRAEARMEZHEE - ERIIA - HAA
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG 2.3 BEMEREMZEBHBREXEL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs, that
have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial statements.

REBH KRR AT ERERFAUATEBMEREK
2RI REER] BB ISR E LR ¢
Amendments to HKFRS 3 ERUBREENEIRBIR  HaMELZED

Reference to the Conceptual Framework?

104

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28 (2011)
Amendments to HKFRS 16
HKFRS 17
Amendments to HKFRS 17
Amendments to HKAS 1
Amendments to HKAS 1
Amendments to HKAS 8
Amendments to HKAS 12
Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020

Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform - Phase 2

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Covid-19-related Rent Concessions
beyond 30 June 202F

Insurance Contracts*

Insurance Contracts*’

Disclosure of Accounting Policies*

Classification of Liabilities as

Current or Non-current*®

Definition of Accounting Estimates*

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction®

Property, Plant and Equipment:
Proceeds before Intended Use*

Onerous Contracts - Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract®

Amendments to HKFRS 1,

HKFRS 9, Illustrative Examples
accompanying HKFRS 16,
and HKAS 412

BRI REENFIR - FIREENE - R
EAGIHEREN -
BEABREEANETH -
BEMBREENFIRR
ERVBHREENF6REAA

BRI REENE105 REZERBERAS

LEEGHENE 8% BERAZHHEE
QOMEFIAR HELTE

ERMBREENSORETR 20216 A50AK2Z
209BHEEREHLBR

ERUBHREEUETHR RELA!

ERUBREENETRETR RRAHY

Eer-fp EAbEHES B BRI RE

BEGHENSEIRETA REAERRGAFRE

BRGNS REIA Bitloat ZEE
BRAGHENERETR BE-XGHS|REREER
BEZERHE

EEGHEAZGREAR hE - BERLE -
BEB#HIZ T 350F

EEEENEIRETA EEAY — BITANZALE

BRI BHEER018F
F020FEH FEEY

ERVBHRSRAFIN  BA
FRREEAEN  BEYH
REEHF0FIERBES])
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

B Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021

E Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

o No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption
6 As a consequence of the amendments to HKAS 1, Hong Kong

Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements - Classification by
the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand
Clause was revised in October 2020 to align the corresponding wording
with no change in conclusion

/ As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17 issued in October
2020, HKFRS 4 was amended to extend the temporary exemption that
permits insurers to apply HKAS 39 rather than HKFRS 9 for annual
periods beginning before 1 January 2023

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below:

Amendments to HKFRS 3 are intended to replace a reference to the
previous Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial
Statements with a reference to the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting issued in June 2018 without significantly changing its
requirements. The amendments also add to HKFRS 3 an exception to its
recognition principle for an entity to refer to the Conceptual Framework
to determine what constitutes an asset or a liability. The exception
specifies that, for liabilities and contingent liabilities that would be within
the scope of HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 if they were incurred separately
rather than assumed in a business combination, an entity applying
HKFRS 3 should refer to HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 respectively instead
of the Conceptual Framework. Furthermore, the amendments clarify
that contingent assets do not qualify for recognition at the acquisition
date. The Group expects to adopt the amendments prospectively from
1 April 2022. Since the amendments apply prospectively to business
combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the date of first
application, the Group will not be affected by these amendments on the
date of transition.

23 CHEMEBRERZEBMBHREED @)

! MR2021F1 AT kAR Rt 2 Bt BRI A 3K
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FEORUBRENZER — EXAH B EFILZEKE
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2.3

106

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS
16 address issues not dealt with in the previous amendments which
affect financial reporting when an existing interest rate benchmark is
replaced with an alternative RFR. The Phase 2 amendments provide a
practical expedient to allow the effective interest rate to be updated
without adjusting the carrying amount when accounting for changes in
the basis for determining the contractual cash flows of financial assets
and liabilities, if the change is a direct consequence of the interest rate
benchmark reform and the new basis for determining the contractual
cash flows is economically equivalent to the previous basis immediately
preceding the change. In addition, the amendments permit changes
required by the interest rate benchmark reform to be made to hedge
designations and hedge documentation without the hedging relationship
being discontinued. Any gains or losses that could arise on transition
are dealt with through the normal requirements of HKFRS 9 to measure
and recognise hedge ineffectiveness. The amendments also provide a
temporary relief to entities from having to meet the separately identifiable
requirement when an RFR is designated as a risk component. The relief
allows an entity, upon designation of the hedge, to assume that the
separately identifiable requirement is met, provided the entity reasonably
expects the RFR risk component to become separately identifiable within
the next 24 months. Furthermore, the amendments require an entity to
disclose additional information to enable users of financial statements to
understand the effect of interest rate benchmark reform on an entity’s
financial instruments and risk management strategy. The amendments are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021 and shall
be applied retrospectively, but entities are not required to restate the
comparative information.
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2.3

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) - Bf 7 ¥ & Mt £ (&)

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

The Group had certain interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
denominated in Hong Kong dollars and foreign currencies based on the
Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate as at 31 March 2021. If the interest
rates of these borrowings are replaced by RFRs in a future period, the
Group will apply this practical expedient upon the modification of these
borrowings when the “economically equivalent” criterion is met and
expects that no significant modification gain or loss will arise as a result
of applying the amendments to these changes.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an inconsistency
between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing
with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its
associate or joint venture. The amendments require a full recognition of a
gain or loss when the sale or contribution of assets between an investor
and its associate or joint venture constitutes a business. For a transaction
involving assets that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting
from the transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to
the extent of the unrelated investor's interest in that associate or joint
venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively. The previous
mandatory effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28
(2011) was removed by the HKICPA in January 2016 and a new mandatory
effective date will be determined after the completion of a broader review
of accounting for associates and joint ventures. However, the amendments
are available for adoption now.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) - Bf 7 ¥ & Mt £ (&)

2.3

108

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 clarify the requirements for classifying liabilities
as current or non-current. The amendments specify that if an entity’s
right to defer settlement of a liability is subject to the entity complying
with specified conditions, the entity has a right to defer settlement of
the liability at the end of the reporting period if it complies with those
conditions at that date. Classification of a liability is unaffected by the
likelihood that the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement of the
liability. The amendments also clarify the situations that are considered a
settlement of a liability. The amendments are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 April 2023 and shall be applied retrospectively.
Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit an entity from deducting from the cost of
an item of property, plant and equipment any proceeds from selling items
produced while bringing that asset to the location and condition necessary
for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.
Instead, an entity recognises the proceeds from selling any such items, and
the cost of those items, in profit or loss. The amendments are effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2022 and shall be applied
retrospectively only to items of property, plant and equipment made
available for use on or after the beginning of the earliest period presented
in the financial statements in which the entity first applies the amendments.
Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have
any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 12 clarify that the exemption does not apply and that
companies are required to recognise deferred tax on such transactions. The
aim of the amendments is to reduce diversity in the reporting of deferred
tax on leases and decommissioning obligations. The amendments are
effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 April 2023,
with early application permitted. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on Group’s financial statements.
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2.3

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) - Bf 7 ¥ & Mt 3£ (&)

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 37 clarify that for the purpose of assessing whether
a contract is onerous under HKAS 37, the cost of fulfilling the contract
comprises the costs that relate directly to the contract. Costs that relate
directly to a contract include both the incremental costs of fulfilling that
contract (e.g., direct labour and materials) and an allocation of other
costs that relate directly to fulfilling that contract (e.g., an allocation of
the depreciation charge for an item of property, plant and equipment
used in fulfilling the contract as well as contract management and
supervision costs). General and administrative costs do not relate directly
to a contract and are excluded unless they are explicitly chargeable to
the counterparty under the contract. The amendments are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2022 and shall be applied
to contracts for which an entity has not yet fulfilled all its obligations at
the beginning of the annual reporting period in which it first applies the
amendments. Earlier application is permitted. Any cumulative effect of
initially applying the amendments shall be recognised as an adjustment to
the opening equity at the date of initial application without restating the
comparative information. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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2.3

10

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 sets out amendments to
HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, lllustrative Examples accompanying HKFRS 16, and
HKAS 41. Details of the amendments that are expected to be applicable to
the Group are as follows:

. HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees that an entity
includes when assessing whether the terms of a new or modified
financial liability are substantially different from the terms of the
original financial liability. These fees include only those paid or
received between the borrower and the lender, including fees paid or
received by either the borrower or lender on the other’s behalf. An
entity applies the amendment to financial liabilities that are modified
or exchanged on or after the beginning of the annual reporting period
in which the entity first applies the amendment. The amendment is
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2022. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendment is not expected to have a
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

. HKFRS 16 Leases: removes the illustration of payments from the
lessor relating to leasehold improvements in lllustrative Example 13
accompanying HKFRS 16. This removes potential confusion regarding
the treatment of lease incentives when applying HKFRS 16.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) - Bf 7 ¥ & Mt 3£ (&)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method.
The consideration transferred is measured at the acquisition date fair
value which is the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in
exchange for control of the acquiree. For each business combination,
the Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the
acquiree that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to
a proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation at fair value
or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All
other components of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when the acquired
set of activities and assets includes an input and a substantive process
that together significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets
and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation
in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances
and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held
equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value and any
resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent consideration
classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair value with changes
in fair value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) - Bf 7 ¥ & Mt £ (&)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

12

(continued)
Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of
the consideration transferred, the amount recognised for non-controlling
interests and any fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interests
in the acquiree over the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items is lower than the
fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment,
recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated
impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
value may be impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment
test of goodwill as at 31 March. For the purpose of impairment testing,
goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of
cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of
the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the
Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which the
goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount, an
impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill
is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or group
of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within that unit is
disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is
included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the
gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances
is measured based on the relative value of the operation disposed of and
the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

24 TESHEEHRE ®)

EBEHNREE )

BRI AE - BB ERARE  DRRIHE
ZIR IR R AR E SR B A 2 AR T
ZRTEEEE BRUrRBrENEEFER
PrAE BB 28 - MEREREMEBERR
BHBAREEFEZATEE RiTHEREERE
BREEEAERRZEEE WS

MYVIETER R - BB AR M R EBE
E - -FEASFERENS  MAEEHELERBR
HEBRREEA R ERE - Bl B AT ETIR
A ARENIANAETHEEZFRERENR - B
ETRENN  REBAHMEAZBEZREBAZ
BwoRERRAREHEEZHRMET EEZ
AEERERecELENHRSEELEMARN - M
ERASEEMEEXRRGERECS IR TREEN
sEAIAA R -

BEERNEEEAReELEMU (SREEFENA
B ATUR R SRFE A S EE T o IR E A B (IR
SEEBMAER) HRIIEEENREERE - BIER
MEEE - EEERNREBER TSN TR
Faﬁ%é@ °

HEEERReELEL (IRSELEMHEN) &
h—a M EZEL AN EBDHE - BIRE
EHEEBRER  BEHEBEUNEEZA
EBREE RZEBEAEHZHE  RELEH
ZHEEBERRSELSBMU ZRBMEETAHE -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) - Bf 7 ¥ & Mt 3£ (&)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the
presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability
takes place either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in
the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for
the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market
must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is
measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when
pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their
economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair
value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising
the use of unobservable inputs.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) - Bf 7 ¥ & Mt £ (&)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

14

(continued)
Fair value measurement (continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in
the financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy,
described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level

input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on
a recurring basis, the Group determines whether transfers have occurred
between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on
the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as
a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment
testing for an asset is required (other than inventories, deferred tax assets
and financial assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An
asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating
unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate
cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or
groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined for
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) - Bf 7 ¥ & Mt £ (&)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset
exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged
to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises in those
expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to whether
there is an indication that previously recognised impairment losses may
no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been a
change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of
that asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that
would have been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal
of such an impairment loss is credited to the statement of profit or loss in
the period in which it arises.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family and
that person

() has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group
or of a parent of the Group;

or
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.4 FESHEEHE &)

16

(continued)

Related parties (continued) BAE AL (F)
(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following conditions applies: (b) HABRER  mMERNKTERGERD
(i)  the entity and the Group are members of the same group; ()Y HZERBERASEBEAER-—SEZKNER
e
(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (ih —EBARSERB(IS—EHEEZER
(or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the other Al WEBARKAREZWEBAR) 2
entity); NGB A=Y NS
(i)  the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third (i) ZEBRBRAEEAR-F=ZEZEER
party; Al
(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other (iv)y —BEAEF=-FHZEERQA M5B—
entity is an associate of the third entity; BERAZFE-EZHENT
(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit () HZEBAIASBESHUASEEHENE
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to the EHMEE MBI EEENGE
Group;
(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person i)y #ZEE
identified in (a): i
(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the (vii) (a)(w)ﬁﬁ%&%'
entity or is a member of the key management personnel of 273
the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and ZE
(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, (vii) ZEBNZERA—SBEIKE @ IR
provides key management personnel services to the Group or HEEZEERBE TASEIAEE 2
to the parent of the Group. NI
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property,
plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and
location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment have
been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is normally
charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it is
incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the
expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of
the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises
such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates
them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost of
each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual value over its
estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are
as follows:

Buildings Over the shorter of the
lease terms and 2% to 5%
3to 7 years

1to 10 years

4 to 10 years

Plant and machinery
Furniture, fixtures and equipment
Motor vehicles

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different
useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a reasonable basis
among the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual values,
useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) - Bf 7 ¥ & Mt £ (&)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

18

(continued)
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant part
initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss
on disposal or retirement recognised in the statement of profit or loss in
the year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents a building under construction, which
is stated at cost less any impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Cost
comprises the direct costs of construction and capitalised borrowing costs
on related borrowed funds during the period of construction. Construction
in progress is reclassified to the appropriate category of property, plant
and equipment when completed and ready for use.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition
at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a business combination
is the fair value at the date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible
assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment
annually either individually or at the cash-generating unit level. Such
intangible assets are not amortised. The useful life of an intangible asset
with an indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether the
indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the change
in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for on a
prospective basis.

Trademarks with indefinite useful lives are stated at cost less any
impairment losses.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) - Bf 7 ¥ & Mt £ (&)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all
leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. The
Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use
assets representing the right to use the underlying assets.

(a)  Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date of
the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is available for use).
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets
includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs
incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement
date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease
terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Prepaid land lease payments 50 years
Motor vehicle 4 1o 10 years
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 1to 10 years
Buildings 2 to 3 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by the end
of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a purchase
option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of
the asset.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) - Bf 7 ¥ & Mt £ (&)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

120

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date of the
lease at the present value of lease payments to be made over the
lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable,
variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and
amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees.
The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase
option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease term
reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate the lease. The
variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate
are recognised as an expense in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group
uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of
lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and
reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification,
a change in the lease term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a
change to future lease payments resulting from a change in an
index or rate) or a change in assessment of an option to purchase
the underlying asset.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) - Bf 7 ¥ & Mt £ (&)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)
(c)  Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its
short-term leases of furniture and fixtures (that is those leases that
have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase option).

Lease payments on short-term leases are recognised as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or when
there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either an operating
lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are classified as operating
leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each component on a
relative stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted for on
a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included in revenue in the
statement of profit or loss due to its operating nature. Initial direct costs
incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term
on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as
revenue in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are accounted for as
finance leases.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) - Bf 7 ¥ & Mt £ (&)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

122

(continued)
Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently
measured at amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive
income, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception of trade
receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting the
effect of a significant financing component, the Group initially measures
a financial asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at
fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that
do not contain a significant financing component or for which the Group
has applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction price
determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for
“Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised
cost or fair value through other comprehensive income, it needs to give
rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
(“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash
flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through
profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) - Bf 7 ¥ & Mt £ (&)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers to
how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows. The
business model determines whether cash flows will result from collecting
contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial assets
classified and measured at amortised cost are held within a business
model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified and measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income are held within a business
model with the objective of both holding to collect contractual cash flows
and selling. Financial assets which are not held within the aforementioned
business models are classified and measured at fair value through profit
or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on
the trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using
the effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains and
losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) - Bf 7 ¥ & Mt £ (&)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

124

(continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of
a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed
from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position) when:

. the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

. the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the
asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows
in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an
asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if, and
to what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the
asset. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the
Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the
Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises
an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability
are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount
of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group
could be required to repay.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) - Bf 7 ¥ & Mt 3£ (&)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (“ECLs”)
for all debt instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss.
ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows
due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original
effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows
from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are
integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there
has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that
are possible within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit
exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the
timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk on a
financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition.
When making the assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable information
that is available without undue cost or effort, including historical and
forward-looking information.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) - Bf 7 ¥ & Mt £ (&)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

126

(continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
General approach (continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the Group
may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or
external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the
outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account any
credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written off
when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual
cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under the
general approach and they are classified within the following stages for
measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables and contract assets
which apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 1 —

Financial instruments for which credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition but that are not
credit-impaired financial assets and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs

Stage 2 —

Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting
date (but that are not purchased or originated credit-
impaired) and for which the loss allowance is measured
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 —
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) - Bf 7 ¥ & Mt £ (&)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or when the Group applies the practical expedient of not
adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the Group
applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified
approach, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead
recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date.
The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings, payables or as derivatives
designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the
case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly attributable
transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade payables, other payables and
accruals, interest-bearing bank and other borrowings and lease liabilities.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

128

(continued)
Financial liabilities (continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
rate method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as
through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the
effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included
in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability
is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same
lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as
a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of a new liability,
and the difference between the respective carrying amounts is recognised
in the statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the statement of financial position if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) - Bf 7 ¥ & Mt £ (&)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
is determined on the weighted average basis for homogenous items
while it is determined on an actual unit cost basis for certain unique or
specific items and, in the case of work in progress and finished goods,
comprises direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of
overheads, and where appropriate, subcontracting charges. Net realisable
value is based on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be
incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and
short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value, and have a short maturity of generally within three months when
acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, including term
deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which are not restricted as
to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or constructive)
has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable that a future
outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, provided
that a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for a
provision is the present value at the end of the reporting period of the
future expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation. The
increase in the discounted present value amount arising from the passage
of time is included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

130

(continued)
Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to
items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss,
either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to
be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period, taking into consideration interpretations and
practices prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

. when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

. in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, when
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) - Bf 7 ¥ & Mt 3£ (&)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any unused
tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary
differences arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability
in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time
of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss; and

. in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, deferred
tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future
and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each
reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are
reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the
extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability
is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

132

(continued)
Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if
the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities relate to the income taxes levied by the same taxation authority
on either same taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend
either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise
the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in
which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected
to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching
conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis in which the periods
that the costs, for which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of
goods or services is transferred to the customers at an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in
exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount, the
amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will be entitled
in exchange for transferring the goods or services to the customer. The
variable consideration is estimated at contract inception and constrained
until it is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the amount
of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the associated
uncertainty with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) - Bf 7 ¥ & Mt £ (&)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Revenue recognition (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

When the contract contains a financing component which provides the
customer with a significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods or
services to the customer for more than one year, revenue is measured
at the present value of the amount receivable, discounted using the
discount rate that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception. When the
contract contains a financing component which provides the Group with
a significant financial benefit for more than one year, revenue recognised
under the contract includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract where the
period between the payment by the customer and the transfer of the
promised goods or services is one year or less, the transaction price is not
adjusted for the effects of a significant financing component, using the
practical expedient in HKFRS 15.

(a)  Sale of jewellery products

Revenue from the sale of jewellery products is recognised at
the point in time when control of the asset is transferred to the
customer, generally on delivery of the jewellery products.

Some contracts for the sale of jewellery products provide
customers with rights of return. The rights of return give rise to
variable consideration.

24 TESHEERE )

WA FER (58)
KREEFESHZ W (8)

HENTEEREFPRHBE —FHNEARRENE
(BNERERIBBE=ER)NBERD - Al
BREREENRENE  YEAAEEETFY
MREORERNEBRER ST R KA,
Be-mMatheEeshr EBRHE-—FULEARE
MEHBRESD  AOETEINREBERER
MEZFENENABAEENNEF - EP
NRESFAHRERIRB AR —FHEER
BEH  RSZERRABTEUBHREERFISHEH
AITRENE  TERERRERLSNTEIELH
# o

(a) EmiH&

KABRIFE 2 WaREAEMBERL - XSBIN
BPERRENERCERFE  UNEEZ
ZHEBERTEPR (—RARXNERRE) M

e ©

ETEREFRHEHERELANBTEPE
B - HIRBRESIBELAZNRE -

133



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) - Bf 7 ¥ & Mt £ (&)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.4 FESHEEHE &)
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(continued)
Revenue recognition (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
(a)  Sale of jewellery products (continued)
(i) Rights of return

For contracts which provide a customer with a right to
return the goods within a specified period, the expected
value method is used to estimate the goods that will not be
returned because this method best predicts the amount of
variable consideration to which the Group will be entitled.
The requirements in HKFRS 15 on constraining estimates
of variable consideration are applied in order to determine
the amount of variable consideration that can be included
in the transaction price. For goods that are expected to be
returned, instead of revenue, a refund liability is recognised.
A right-of-return asset (and the corresponding adjustment
to cost of sales) is also recognised for the right to recover
products from a customer.

(ii) ~ Customer loyalty programmes

The Group maintains loyalty points programmes within
its retail shops in Hong Kong and the PRC, which allow
customers to accumulate award credits upon purchase
of goods in the shops and joining the programmes. The
award credits can then be redeemed for goods or other
gifts, subject to certain terms and conditions. Under HKFRS
15, the customer loyalty program gives rise to a separate
performance obligation because they provide a material right
to the customer and allocated a portion of the transaction
price to the loyalty credits awarded to customers based on
the relative stand-alone selling price.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) - Bf 7 ¥ & Mt 3£ (&)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
(b)  Service income

Service income is recognised over the scheduled period on a
straight line basis because the customer simultaneously receives
and consumes the benefits provided by the Company.

Revenue from other sources
Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the estimated
future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument or
a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the
financial asset.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the Group
transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities are recognised
as revenue when the Group performs under the contract (i.e., transfers
control of the related goods or services to the customer).

Right-of-return assets

A right-of-return asset is recognised for the right to recover the goods
expected to be returned by customers. The asset is measured at the
former carrying amount of the goods to be returned, less any expected
costs to recover the goods and any potential decreases in the value of the
returned goods. The Group updates the measurement of the asset for any
revisions to the expected level of returns and any additional decreases in
the value of the returned goods.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

136

(continued)
Refund liabilities

A refund liability is recognised for the obligation to refund some or
all of the consideration received (or receivable) from a customer and
is measured at the amount the Group ultimately expects it will have
to return to the customer. The Group updates its estimates of refund
liabilities (and the corresponding change in the transaction price) at the
end of each reporting period.

Share-based payments

The Company issues equity-settled share-based payments to certain
employees and suppliers. Employees (including directors) of the Group
receive remuneration in the form of share-based payments, whereby
suppliers render goods or services as consideration for equity instruments
(“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for grants after 7
November 2002 is measured by reference to the fair value at the date at
which they are granted. The fair value is determined by an external valuer
using a binomial valuation model (the “Binomial Model”), further details of
which are given in note 28 to the financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee benefit
expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the
period in which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled.
The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at the
end of each reporting period until the vesting date reflects the extent to
which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of
the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge
or credit to the statement of profit or loss for a period represents the
movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and
end of that period.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) - Bf 7 ¥ & Mt £ (&)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Share-based payments (continued)

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into
account when determining the grant date fair value of awards, but the
likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the Group’s
best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately
vest. Market performance conditions are reflected within the grant
date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but without
an associated service requirement, are considered to be non-vesting
conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the fair value of an
award and lead to an immediate expensing of an award unless there are
also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market performance
and/or service conditions have not been met, no expense is recognised.
Where awards include a market or non-vesting condition, the transactions
are treated as vesting irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting
condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum
an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been modified, if the
original terms of the award are met. In addition, an expense is recognised
for any modification that increases the total fair value of the share-based
payments, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the
date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had
vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised
for the award is recognised immediately. This includes any award where
non-vesting conditions within the control of either the Group or the
employee are not met. However, if a new award is substituted for the
cancelled award, and is designated as a replacement award on the date that
it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were a
modification of the original award, as described in the previous paragraph.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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(continued)
Share-based payments (continued)

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share
dilution in the computation of earnings per share.

Other employee benefits
Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund
retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees in Hong
Kong. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and are charged to the statement of profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in
an independently administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions
vest fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in the PRC,
Malaysia and Japan are required to participate in central pension schemes
operated by the local municipal government. Contributions are made based
on the requirements of the respective local municipal government. The
contributions are charged to the statement of profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension schemes.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Other employee benefits (continued)
Long service payments

The Group’s net obligations in respect of lump sum long service amounts
payable on cessation of employment in certain circumstances under the
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance represent the amount of future benefits
that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and
prior periods. The obligation is calculated using the projected unit credit
method by a qualified actuary, discounted to its present value, and the
fair value of any related plan assets is deducted. The discount rate is the
yield of Exchange Fund Notes at the end of the reporting period that have
maturity dates approximating the terms of the Group’s obligations.

Remeasurements arising from long service payment obligations,
comprising actuarial gains and losses, are recognised immediately in the
consolidated statement of financial position with a corresponding debit
or credit to retained profits through other comprehensive income in the
period in which they occur. Remeasurements are not reclassified to profit
or loss in subsequent periods.

Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net defined
benefit liability or asset. The Group recognises the following changes in
the net defined benefit obligation under “cost of sales” and “administrative
expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss by function:

. service costs comprising current service costs, past-service costs,
gains and losses on curtailments and non-routine settlements

. net interest expense or income
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(continued)
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of
such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised. All other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.
Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in
connection with the borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends proposed by the directors are classified as a separate
allocation of retained profits within the equity section of the statement
of financial position, until they have been approved by the shareholders
in a general meeting. When these dividends have been approved by the
shareholders and declared, they are recognised as a liability.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared, because the
Company’s memorandum and articles of association grant the directors
the authority to declare interim dividends.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) - Bf 7 ¥ & Mt £ (&)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is
the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the Group determines
its own functional currency and items included in the financial statements
of each entity are measured using that functional currency. Foreign
currency transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially
recorded using their respective functional currency rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency rates of
exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period. Differences arising
on settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dates
of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in
a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date
when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation
of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with
the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the item
(i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss
is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related
asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset
or non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration, the date of
initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially recognises the
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the advance
consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the
Group determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of the
advance consideration.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

142

(continued)
Foreign currencies (continued)

The functional currencies of certain subsidiaries located other than Hong
Kong are currencies other than the Hong Kong dollar. As at the end of the
reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated
into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period and their statements of profit or loss are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the exchange fluctuation reserve. On disposal
of a foreign operation, the component of other comprehensive income
relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in the statement
of profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any fair
value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising
on acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation
and translated at the closing rate.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires management
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their
accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in
outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) - Bf 7 ¥ & Mt 3£ (&)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management
has made the following judgements, apart from those involving
estimations, which have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the financial statements:

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group applied the following judgements that significantly
affect the determination of the amount and timing of revenue from
contracts with customers:

Determining the method to estimate variable consideration and assessing
the constraint for the retail of jewellery

Some contracts for the sale of jewellery products provide customers with
a right of return that give rise to variable consideration. In estimating the
variable consideration, the Group is required to exercise judgement to
determine the use of either the expected value method or the most likely
amount method based on which method better predicts the amount of
consideration to which it will be entitled.

The Group determined that the expected value method is the appropriate
method to use in estimating the variable consideration for the sale of
jewellery with rights of return, given the large number of customer
contracts that have similar characteristics.

Before including any amount of variable consideration in the transaction
price, the Group considers whether the amount of variable consideration
is constrained. The Group determined that the estimates of variable
consideration are not constrained based on its historical experience,
business forecast and the current economic conditions. In addition, the
uncertainty on the variable consideration will be resolved within a short
time frame.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described below.

Variable consideration for returns

The Group estimates variable consideration to be included in the
transaction price for the sale of jewellery products with rights of return.

The Group developed a statistical model for forecasting sales returns. The
model used the historical return data of each product to come up with
expected return percentages. These percentages are applied to determine
the expected value of the variable consideration. Any significant changes
in experience as compared to historical return pattern will impact the
expected return percentages estimated by the Group.

The Group updates its assessment of expected returns semi-annually
and the refund liabilities are adjusted accordingly. Estimates of expected
returns are sensitive to changes in circumstances and the Group’s past
experience regarding returns entitlements may not be representative of
customers’ actual returns entitlements in the future. As at 31 March 2021,
the amount recognised as refund liabilities was HK$6,680,000 (2020:
HK$6,189,000) for the expected returns (note 23).

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade receivables.
The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of various
customer segments that have similar loss patterns (i.e., by geography and
customer type).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) - Bf 7 ¥ & Mt £ (&)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables
(continued)

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical observed
default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical
credit loss experience with forward-looking information. For instance, if
forecast economic conditions (i.e., gross domestic products) are expected
to deteriorate over the next year which can lead to an increased number
of defaults in the retail sector, the historical default rates are adjusted. At
each reporting date, the historical observed default rates are updated and
changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed default rates,
forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount
of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast economic
conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast of
economic conditions may also not be representative of customer’s actual
default in the future. The information about the ECLs on the Group’s trade
receivables is disclosed in note 19 to the financial statements.

Useful lives and depreciation of property, plant and equipment

The Group determines the estimated useful lives and related depreciation
charges of its property, plant and equipment. These estimates are based
on the historical experience of the actual useful lives of property, plant
and equipment of similar nature and functions. The Group will increase
the depreciation charge where useful lives are less than previously
estimated lives, and will write off or write down technically obsolete or
non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold. Actual economic
lives may differ from estimated useful lives. Periodic review could result
in a change in depreciable lives and, therefore, depreciation charge in the
future periods.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Impairment testing of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets

The Group determines whether property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets are impaired when there are indicators that the
carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists when the
carrying values of these assets exceed their recoverable amounts, which
is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The
calculation of the fair values less costs of disposal is based on available
data from binding sales transactions in an arm’s length transaction of
similar assets or observable market prices less incremental costs for
disposing of the asset. When value in-use calculations are undertaken,
management must estimate the expected future cash flows from the asset
or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value of those cash flows.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for
all non-financial assets at the end of each reporting period. Indefinite life
intangible assets are tested for impairment annually and at other times
when such an indicator exists. Other non-financial assets are tested for
impairment when there are indicators that the carrying amounts may
not be recoverable. An impairment exists when the carrying value of an
asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is
the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The
calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is based on available
data from binding sales transactions in an arm'’s length transaction of
similar assets or observable market prices less incremental costs for
disposing of the asset. When value in use calculations are undertaken,
management must estimate the expected future cash flows from the asset
or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value of those cash flows.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
losses can be utilised. Significant judgement is required to determine
the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon
estimate and the level of future taxable profits. The carrying value of
deferred tax assets relating to recognised tax losses at 31 March 2021
was HK$3,917,000 (2020: HK$11,247,000). The amount of unrecognised
deferred tax assets relating to tax losses at 31 March 2021 was
HK$78,973,000 (2020: HK$77,538,000). Further details are contained in
note 26 to the financial statements.

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of completion and
variable selling expenses. These estimates are based on the current
market conditions and the historical experience of manufacturing and
selling products of a similar nature. It could change significantly as a
result of changes in customer taste or competitor actions in response to
a significant downturn in the industry sector. The directors reassess the
estimations at the end of each reporting period.

Customer loyalty programmes

The Group measures the cost of the loyalty award credits by reference
to the fair value of goods and gifts redeemed in the prior years and the
probability of redemption is estimated by the directors based on past
experience. Actual results may differ from the estimation.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Income tax

Significant judgements on the future tax treatment of certain transactions are
required in determining income tax provisions. The Group carefully evaluates
tax implications of transactions and tax provisions are recorded accordingly.
The tax treatment of such transactions is reconsidered periodically to take
into account all changes in circumstances and tax legislation.

Leases - Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in a lease,
and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing rate (“IBR”) to measure
lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the Group would have
to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the
funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use
asset in a similar economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects what
the Group “would have to pay”, which requires estimation when no
observable rates are available (such as for subsidiaries that do not enter
into financing transactions) or when it needs to be adjusted to reflect
the terms and conditions of the lease (for example, when leases are not
in the subsidiary’s functional currency). The Group estimates the IBR
using observable inputs (such as market interest rates) when available
and is required to make certain entity-specific estimates (such as the
subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Deferred tax liability

Deferred tax liability relating to withholding tax of undistributed earnings
of certain subsidiaries established in the PRC is provided to the extent
that it is probable that distribution is made according to the relevant tax
rules enacted in the relevant jurisdiction, and is subject to management’s
judgement on the timing and level of such distribution. Such judgement
is made with reference to the Group’'s business plan and cash flow
requirements for the holding companies of the subsidiaries. The carrying
amount of deferred tax liability provided relating to such withholding tax
amounted to HK$17,757,000 as at 31 March 2021 (2020: HK$12,588,000).
Further details are contained in note 26 to the financial statements.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business units
based on business nature and has three reportable operating segments as
follows:

(a)  Retail Business (including Hong Kong, Macau, Mainland China and
Malaysia);

(b)  Wholesale Business; and

(c)  Other Businesses.

Retail Business includes direct retail sales of jewellery products to end
consumers through the physical outlets carrying the trademark of TSL | &

I It also includes the service fee income received from the provision
of retail management services to other retailers.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Wholesale Business includes wholesale sales of jewellery products to
customers, including franchisees.

Other Businesses includes E-business and others.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating segments
separately for the purpose of making decisions about resource allocation
and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based
on reportable segment profit/(loss), which is a measure of adjusted
profit/(loss) before tax. The adjusted profit/(loss) before tax is measured
consistently with the Group’s profit/(loss) before tax except that
unallocated expenses, non-lease-related finance costs and income tax
expense are excluded from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude deferred tax assets and tax recoverable as these
assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude interest-bearing bank and other borrowings,
tax payable, deferred tax liabilities and employee benefit obligations as
these liabilities are managed on a group basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to the
selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the then prevailing
market prices.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4. REFTER (@)
Retail Business Wholesale Business Other Businesses Total
ZEEK HBER Hitnw Fobs
Year ended 31 March 2021 BZE2021F3A31HLFEE  HK$'000 BTt  HK$'000 B¥ETx HK$'000 BT HK$000 BT
Segment revenue: AMEER
Sales to external customers HERBETIREP 1,694,979 656,736 239,591 2,591,306
Other revenue HA 57,294 - - 57,294
1,752,273 656,736 239,591 2,648,600
Segment results PHEE (3,270) 132,000 (46,194) 82,536
Reconciliation: e -
Unallocated expenses APEZH (43,089)
Finance costs (other than interest HRER (TRERE
on lease liabilities) AENFE) (40,458)
Income tax expense P it (43,078)
Loss for the year AEEFA (44,089)
Segment assets: PTHEE 2,377,869 25,329 83,670 2,486,868
Reconciliation: HE -
Deferred tax assets BEREEE 33,985
Tax recoverable A EIRIE 10,167
Total assets BEE 2,531,020
Segment liabilities: PHEE: (446,340) m7,211) (7,407) (570,958)
Reconciliation: e
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings it BR1TREMER (989,086)
Tax payable EHE (8,840)
Deferred tax liabilities EEREAE (19,519)
Employee benefit obligations EERMES (661)
Total liabilities Bmak (1,589,064)
Other segment information: Hitt A HER
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1% - BERREHE 46,265 888 5,271 52,424
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TREEERE 144,525 - 13,798 158,323
Impairment of property, plant and equipment  #1% * & & :RERE 20,405 - - 20,405
Impairment of right-of-use assets FREEERE 34,098 - - 34,098
Capital expenditure® AR 18,604 - 3,613 22,217

*

. EAMXBIEREYNE BB RRE -

Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and
equipment.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4. REIFEHR (&)
Retail Business  Wholesale Business Other Businesses Total
TEER HEEB HinZ% @t
Year ended 31 March 2020 HZ2020%3A31ALEE  HKS000 BT HKS000 BT HK$000 BBTT  HKS000 BETIL
Segment revenue: DEEERE
Sales to external customers WHERE TINREF 592,454 191,882 2,863,912
Other revenue HA - - 49,915
592,454 191,882 2,913,827
Segment results DEEE 105,704 13,825 43,793
Reconciliation: EeT i
Unallocated expenses AOEIH (55,098)
Finance costs (other than interest HEER(TREHRE
on lease liabilities) BENFHE) (48,723)
Income tax expense PS8t (29,726)
Loss for the year AEEEE (89,754)
Segment assets: ATBEE 103,548 73,670 2,653,601
Reconciliation: A -
Deferred tax assets BRERIEEE 40,526
Tax recoverable Ak EFE 14,788
Total assets BEE 2,708,915
Segment liabilities: FHEE (104,109) (7,090) (774,94)
Reconciliation: A -
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings st BRI REMER (1,013,761)
Tax payable R HIE (3,355)
Deferred tax liabilities RERIERE (15.879)
Employee benefit obligations EERMEL (1,639)
Total liabilities BafRE (1,808,828)
Other segment information: Hitrn BHEH :
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment #1% - BE kR E1TE 1,204 5373 60,613
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREBERE - 12,910 198,171
Impairment of property, plant and equipment 9% MR Rk EH{E 3447 - - 3447
Impairment of right-of-use assets FEREEERNE 13,01 - - 13,01
Capital expenditure* BARL 65,570 - 33,024 98,594
* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and * BABSZBERNEYE  BELREMIBN i
equipment and prepaid land lease. HE -
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4. REZTHER &)
(a) Geographical information (a) HEEE
Revenue from external customers IREFEEEE
2021 2020
20215 20204
HK$’000 BTt HK$'000 B¥F 7t
Hong Kong and Macau B8 &R 423,559 847,988
Mainland China R B 3D, 2,163,055 1,992,246
Other countries EMBER 61,986 73,593
2,648,600 2,913,827

The revenue information above is based on the locations of
the customers.

L RREN N REPMELEE D o

Non-current assets HFRBEE
2021 2020
20215 20204
HK$’000 &% Tt HK$'000 B#F T
Hong Kong and Macau BB KR 146,016 285,206
Mainland China B A 3B 103,607 120,770
Other countries Hi xR 10,699 12,715
260,322 418,691

The non-current asset information above is based on the locations
of the assets and excludes rental deposits and deferred tax assets.

(b)

Information about major customers

The turnover from the Group’s largest customer amounted to less
than 10% of the Group’s total turnover for the current and prior year.

(b)

ESERBEEEMIREEMELEE D -
WABHEEERE METERIAERE

BREXERFPZEHR

RAFERARNFE  REAKERAEPZ
BREBHAREBZEREHDLN0%

153



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) - Bf 7 ¥ & Mt £ (&)

5.
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TURNOVER 5. ®XEH
An analysis of turnover is as follows: EEBIOWWAT -
2021 2020
20215 20204
HK$’000 &#¥ T 5T HK$'000 BT
Revenue from contracts with customers KEEFEHZ War
Sales of jewellery products HEKRE A 2,591,306 2,863,912
Service income BRISUIA 57,294 49,915
2,648,600 2,913,827
Revenue from contracts with customers RERFEY) 2 W=
(i) Disaggregated revenue information (i) DEKZEH
Retail Business Wholesale Business Other Businesses Total
Year ended 31 March 2021 HZ20153A31ALEE ZEER MEBER Hib %% @t
Segments 2 HK$’000 B¥ T HK$000 B¥TFt  HK$000 B¥Fr  HK$000 BEF T
Types of goods or services ERTREER
Sales of jewellery products HEKRB R 1,694,979 656,736 239,591 2,591,306
Service income FREHA 57,294 - - 57,294
Total revenue from contracts RERFA#NZz e
with customers 1,752,273 656,736 239,591 2,648,600
Geographical markets HEmE
Hong Kong and Macau BERRM 409,284 - 14,275 423,559
Mainland China FEIAL 1,281,913 656,736 224,406 2,163,055
Other countries HER 61,076 - 910 61,986
Total revenue from contracts RERFADZz e
with customers 1,752,273 656,736 239,591 2,648,600
Timing of revenue recognition W R
Goods transferred at a point intime ~ E&REZER 1,694,979 656,736 239,591 2,591,306
Services transferred over time FriseER s —BERA 57,294 - - 57,294
Total revenue from contracts REERFA Dz W
with customers 1,752,273 656,736 239,591 2,648,600




5.

TURNOVER (continued)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) - Bf 75 $h &= fff sE (48 )

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(i) Disaggregated revenue information (continued)

BRB
REEFEFG MW ()
() BERZEEH ()

Retail Business  Wholesale Business Other Businesses Total

Year ended 31 March 2020 HZ2020F3A31ALLEE TEEK HEEB Hi5% Bt
Segments 28 HK$'000 B FIL  HK$'000 BT  HKY000 BT HK$000 BEFIL
Types of goods or services ERSREER
Sales of jewellery products HEREEM 2,079,576 592,454 191,882 2,863,912
Service income BREHA 49,915 - - 49,915
Total revenue from contracts RERPANZ N

with customers 2,129,491 592,454 191,882 2,913,827
Geographical markets HEMS
Hong Kong and Macau A5 KR 828,470 - 19,518 847,988
Mainland China A 1,228,902 592,454 170,890 1,992,246
Other countries HMER 72119 - 1474 73,593
Total revenue from contracts with REZRPANZ IS
customers 2,129,491 592,454 191,882 2,913,827
Timing of revenue recognition R
Goods transferred at a point intime £ REZE 2,079,576 592,454 191,882 2,863,912
Services transferred over time REERz —BERA 49,915 - - 49,915
Total revenue from contracts REEPEH 2K

with customers 2,129,491 592,454 191,882 2,913,827

The following table shows the amounts of revenue recognised
in the current reporting period that were included in the contact
liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period and recognised
from performance obligations satisfied in previous periods:

TRETNARE BAMATRER BN REBDNR
FINEHBEZMESRE  ARBESER

Rz BHBEERR MRS

2021 2020
20215 20204
HK$’000 &#¥ T T HK$'000 7 F 7T
Revenue recognised that was included in contract Rk &I AE 4T
liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period: BEZBEERKE
Sales of jewellery products HEREEM 16,487 22,036
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5.

6.
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TURNOVER (continued) 5. EEHM®W)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) RKEEFPEH 2 W (5
(ii) Performance obligations (i) BHEF
Information about the Group’s performance obligations is AEBREANE T2 HEBERBMAT -
summarised below:
Sales of jewellery products HEKEER
The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of the goods BHETRZNEMREN - HEEREEEL
and payment is mainly on cash and credit card settlement. Some RENERFEE - BOBNARFRHERE
contracts provide customers with a right of return which gives rise o REEASROR A ERE -
to variable consideration subject to constraint.
Service income AR A
The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services are BHOE TR IRERSHRER - R EREA
rendered and short-term advances are normally required before —REEIREEHEN - REERZFHE—
rendering the services. Service contracts are for periods of one year FyDR—F  IREBEREREZE - 25ELD
or less, or are billed based on the time incurred. All the performance BEETERAI A —F AR ©
obligations are expected to be recognised within one year.
OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET 6. HttARWE  FHE
2021 2020
202145 20204
HK$’000 &+t HK$'000 & ¥F T
Interest income F 2 A 9,687 3,849
Foreign exchange differences, net HEE R =58 (7,549) (6.893)
Government grants* and B L & 20198 AX R S 4878
rent concessions related to COVID-19 ZHeE% 69,644 24,043
Gain on sales of scrap gold HEE S ERRA 2,7 8,499
Repair service income HEASIA 901 821
Others =) 6,107 7,199
80,961 37,518

This represents subsidies from municipal governments in Mainland China,
Employment Support Scheme and Retail Sector Subsidy Scheme from the
Government of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. There are no
unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these subsidies.

: 1t 75 6 P R B PO S BT 2 (A 4R A LA S BB R
TEE R | R BT E X EBRT EIB AL -
ZEMA B REIT 2 G R IFANE -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) - Bf 7 ¥ & Mt £ (&)

LOSS BEFORE TAX 7. BREBAIEE
The Group's loss before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting): REBZBRBAIEBENR (GTA) -
2021 2020
20215 20204
HK$’000 &¥ F 5T HK$'000 715 F 7T
Cost of goods sold* SHE R A 1,663,911 1,777,930
Provision/(reversal of provision) B (BEOE) FER
for impairment of inventories, net A|EIRRE - JFE 24,972 (12,499)
Depreciation of property, Y - BRE REREITE (H:E14)
plant and equipment (note 14) 52,424 60,613
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (note 15(a)) FREEERE (FFE15)) 158,323 198,171
Lease payments not included in the FrEHEEERTEBIEEA
measurement of lease liabilities** (note 15(c)) Z eI (H5E15(0) 4,912 3,321
Gain on lease modification B E Z Wz 392 671
Auditor’s remuneration 1% EREM BN & 2,290 2,940
Employee benefit expense EERFAX
(including directors’ remuneration (note 9)): (BREEMe (17F9)):
Wages, salaries and other benefits I&  #HehEMmEF 427,976 539,351
Pension scheme contributions*** A TE HEFGR IR BI 5,675 7,585
Employee benefit obligations (note 25) BB RF &= (MFE25) 106 127
433,757 547,063
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7.

158

LOSS BEFORE TAX (continued) 7. BRBIAIESE @
The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting): AEBZBRBATEBEE NG (GTA) « (8)
(continued)
2021 2020
20215 20204
HK$’000 &¥# F 5T HK$'000 7 ¥ F 7T
Impairment of property, W - BE REERE (FE4)

Impairment of right-of-use-assets (note 15(a))
(Reversal of)/impairment of trade

Loss on disposal of items of property,

plant and equipment (note 14)

receivables, net (note 19) FEE (M5E19)

plant and equipment

£ REEERE (HF15))
FEU IR R ORERIRE),RE -

REVF BELREEEB ZEBR

20,405 3,447
34,098 13,011
(352) 116
715 364

Hk

Cost of goods sold includes HK$84,228,000 (2020: HK$95,451,000)
relating to employee benefit expense, depreciation on property, plant
and equipment, and depreciation on right-of-use assets, which are also
included in the respective total amounts disclosed separately above
under each of these types of expenses.

Not including commission payments in relation to sales counters in
department stores and shopping malls.

At 31 March 2021, there were no forfeited contributions available to the
Group to reduce its contributions to pension schemes in future years
(2020: Nil).

Hk

SHER AR B AEE’ 84,228,000 (2020
F B 95,451,000) MEBERFIFS - W
¥ BELRBBNERTRAEEENE  BEE
BINE DRI AR LAY S EMEERAST -

TERXNTHESERBENEERRNALE -

R202153 318 » A E I 8D KRR A
A IREERRIRETBIMER (202045  48) -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) - Bf 75 $h & M sE (48 )

8. FINANCE COSTS 8. HKBEMR
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: HMEERZOWHNAT

2021 2020
20215 20204
HK$’000 &¥ T 5T HK$'000 715 F 7T

Interest on bank loans, RITER  BEXRETE
overdrafts and other loans BERHFE 34,860 43,332
Interest on lease liabilities HESENFE 9,964 14,625
Other charges Hfthsz i 5,598 5,391

50,422 63,348

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION 9. EBERTHHARZME

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed RIE_ETRE - HEQREGIFE383(1) () ~ (b) * (0)
pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (¢) and (f) of the EOBARAF (HBEEEFZER) ROIFE2E -
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure KEE 7 EERITHAHMSIHRENT

of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

2021 2020

20215 20204

HK$’000 &% F T HK$'000 ¥ T T

Fees we 743 864
Other emoluments: E AN -

Salaries and allowances Fre KoERL 8,390 7,435

Performance related bonuses BRI AR 2 TEAL - -

Pension scheme contributions VETE HERGRIRET SR 36 36

8,426 7,471

9,169 8,335
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION 9. EERTHARME &)

(continued)

Included in the directors’ remuneration were fees of HK$648,000 (2020: EEMeBEREAIN FTEILIENTES RIEHR
HK$648,000) and HK$95,000 (2020: HK$216,000) paid to independent TEENERE DRI ABE648,0007T (20204 : B
non-executive directors and a non-executive director respectively during 648,0007T) K& #95,0007T (2020 : & #216,000
the year. JT) e
Performance Pension
Salaries and related scheme
Fees allowances bonuses contributions Total
HERTEE SEEMR
e HFeRER ZIEAL  RIRGTEMER e
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT BET T BETT BET T BETRT
Year ended 31 March 2021 BE2021F3A31HLEEE
Executive directors: BITES:
Yau On Yee, Annie' B! - 4,364 - 18 4,382
Ng Yi Kum, Estella ha= - 4,026 - 18 4,044
- 8,390 - 36 8,426
Non-executive directors: FHTES :
Erwin Steve Huang? EHEXK? 95 - - - 95
Chow Chee Wai, Christopher* ARE 216 - - - 216
Chui Chi Yun, Robert* o 216 - - - 216
Chan Yue Kwong, Michael* FRAA 216 - - - 216
743 - - - 743
743 8,390 - 36 9,169
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF

(continued)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) - Bf 7 ¥ & Mt £ (&)

EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION

9. EERTHARME ©

Performance Pension
Salaries and related scheme
Fees allowances bonuses contributions Total
HRIFEE ETE MR
we 5o kR ZIEM RIREHEIMERR HBE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETFIT BT T BETIT BETIT BT
Year ended 31 March 2020 H1L2020F3A31RILEE
Executive directors: BITES:
Yau On Yee, Annie' B - 3,879 - 18 3,897
Ng Yi Kum, Estella h&EE - 3,556 - 18 3,574
- 7,435 - 36 7,471
Non-executive directors: FHITES :
Erwin Steve Huang? HEK? 216 - - - 216
Chow Chee Wai, Christopher* EafE: 216 - - - 216
Chui Chi Yun, Robert* ExCr 216 - - - 216
Chan Yue Kwong, Michael* BRI 216 - - - 216
864 - - - 864
864 7,435 - 36 8,335
- Independent non-executive directors - BYUFEHITES

! Ms. Yau On Yee, Annie is also the chief executive officer of the Group.

2 Mr. Erwin Steve Huang resigned as an non-executive director on 8

September 2020.

There were no other emoluments payable to the independent
non-executive directors during the year (2020: Nil).

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to
waive any remuneration during the year (2020: Nil).

' BLRELLTTRAEENTTHRAE -

2 EBEKEER2020F9 A8 HBHEAR R R IEHRTT
Ex-.

FATEEBHESEN TBILIERTES (2020
FE)

FREBFA BV ERARERFABRETAMNS
2k (20204 ) »
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10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 10. ZEGESFMES
The five highest paid employees during the vear included two directors FARAEERE ST MEEBE2H (20204 : 2
(2020: two), details of whose remuneration are set out in note 9 above. H)EE  HFAMeBERSEN LAHE - XEE
Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining three (2020: HfR3% (2020%F 1 38) mm B HBEE =R 8 - 4N
three) highest paid employees who are neither a director nor chief SERINT -

executive of the Company are as follows:

2021 2020
20215 20204
HK$’000 &# F 5T HK$'000 7 F T
Salaries and allowances < MoERL 5,102 4,456
Performance related bonuses EARIFIEEE 2 TEAL - -
Pension scheme contributions JEE R FGRIRGT 25K 37 36
5,139 4,492
The number of non-director, highest paid employees whose remuneration MeN FUTAR Zz == HEERREE Z AN
fell within the following bands is as follows: N
2021 2020
20215 20204
Number of Number of
employees employees
EEAZ BB AZ
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 71,000,001 7T 2% #1,500,000 7T 2 2
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 751,500,001 7T 2/E % 2,000,000 - -
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 75#2,000,001TE A% 2,500,0007T 1 1
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 7B #£2 500,001 283,000,000 7T - =
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 B#3,000,001 T2 /A% 3,500,000 - -
3 3
No emolument was paid by the Group to any of the top five highest paid FRARAEEBRERNTAAERTMEE X HE
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as (2020 : &) » fEABEREMASREMARERR
compensation for loss of office during the year (2020: Nil). e sSiEABEREE -
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FeHER

EEFNESHRIBREAFERREBS 2 A EEHRA
) E B R16.5% (20204 1 16.5%) 518 - £4
REBLAIME & 2 FER TR AT AR H BTt /938 A
RETERE -

INCOME TAX EXPENSE 1.

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2020:
16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during
the year. Taxes on profits assessable in places other than Hong Kong have
been calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in which
the Group operates.

2021 2020
20215 20204
HK$’000 B¥F T HK$'000 & #E F 7T
Current - Hong Kong NER — B

Charge for the year FAFIE 2,832 4,728
Overprovision in prior years BAFE B (1,947) (582)

Current - Other than Hong Kong RHY — BHA LSS
Charge for the year FAFIE 31,614 15,938
Underprovision in prior years BEFERETR 7 59
Deferred (note 26) IRAE (F47E26) 10,572 9,583
43,078 29,726

BARRARIZMBARMEEEE R ZEEHR K
AEWEARKRRAERZREERET

A reconciliation of the tax credit applicable to loss before tax at the
statutory rates for the jurisdictions in which the Company and the majority
of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at the effective tax
rate is as follows:

2021 2020
20215 20204
HK$’000 #B¥ T+t HK$'000 BTt
Loss before tax BRI R E 1B (1,011) (60,028)
Tax at the statutory rates RETE R E (196) (15,695)
Lower tax rates enacted by local authority B SR X - (1,466)
Expenses not deductible for tax AR 2 S 8,053 7,169
Income not subject to tax fmASE 2 A (7,729) 19)
Tax losses utilised from previous periods {5 FH LATE HARS ~ A TE B 18 (855) -
Tax losses and temporary differences AERTEEERERER
not recognised 41,465 40,260
Effect of withholding tax at 5% on the SEFTBRMB AR ZAIDIRAF5%
distributable profits of the Group’s PRC TS T2
subsidiary 4,280 -
Adjustments in respect of current tax BhUATE BB 2 TR IE{E AN HR A 22
of previous periods (1,940) (523)
Tax charge at the Group’s effective rate IRANEBE (4,260.9%) B E Fii K
of (4,260.9%) (2020: 49.5%) (20204 : 49.5%) stE 2 %A 43,078 29,726
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12.

13.

164

DIVIDENDS

The Board did not recommend the payment of any dividend for the year
(2020: Nilb).

The 2018/19 final dividend approved on 11 September 2019 amounted to
HK$13,919,000, of which HK$1,007,000 was satisfied in the form of scrip
shares. The dividend was paid on 17 October 2019.

LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE
COMPANY

The calculation of the basic loss per share amount is based on the loss for
the year attributable to owners of the Company of HK$43,980,000 (2020:
HK$89,670,000), and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of
249,182,030 (2020: 248,837,561) in issue during the year.

The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue during the
year ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.

12.

13.

Bﬁz%\
EXZETEBERAFERE (2020F : &) -

M201959 AN B #t4 2 2018/19 R HANM B 48 58 BB I
13,919,0007T » HEFE#1,007,0007T 2 B EIAR B
B A R AR - LERR BB R 201910 A17 Bk
fF o

ARREBEAREEBRER

EREABECBENERNFTEARREES ARLE
18181 43,980,0007T (20204F : 75%89,670,0007T)
MERNBETEEKRZ INEFHR249,182,030 %
(20204 : 248,837,561(% ) 5t& -

HE2021F M2020F3 A3HILEE - KEERE
AEEEE 2 D BITEEAL -



14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) - Bf 7 ¥ & Mt 3£ (&)

4. Y% - BERRE

Furniture,
Plant and fixtures and Motor Construction
Buildings machinery equipment vehicles in progress Total
B - #£B
BF HERESE ST AE EEIR k]
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT BT T BT T BETT BT BT
As at 31 March 2021 R202153A31H
At 1 April 2020: M2020F4 18 :
Cost B 34,009 18,894 540,336 6,563 - 599,802
Accumulated depreciation ZEHTE MORE
and impairment (7,273) (15,894) (438,174) (6,304) - (467,645)
Net carrying amount BREFE 26,736 3,000 102,162 259 - 132,157
At 1 April 2020 M2020F 4 418 26,736 3,000 102,162 259 - 132,157
Additions NE - - 20,876 - 1,341 22,217
Disposals B5F - m (2,849) - - (2,850)
Depreciation provided FRFTERE
during the year 777) (1,237) (50,276) (134) - (52,424)
Impairment during the year FRRE - - (20,405) - - (20,405)
Exchange realignment PN AR - 66 3,700 8 - 3,774
At 31 March 2021, net of M20213 /8318 -
accumulated depreciation Nk 25T E 25,959 1,828 53,208 133 1,341 82,469
At 31 March 2021: R2021F3A31H
Cost B 34,009 18,248 483,731 6,639 1,341 543,968
Accumulated depreciation 2 TERRE
and impairment (8,050) (16,420) (430,523) (6,506) - (461,499)
Net carrying amount BREFE 25,959 1,828 53,208 133 1,341 82,469
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 14. Y% - BERRE (@)
Furniture,
Plant and  fixtures and Motor
Buildings machinery equipment vehicles Total
B KB
BFE OEE RS &L e 1z
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT BT BT T BT
As at 31 March 2020 202053 A31H
As at 1 April 2019: 20194 A18 :
Cost [B%N 34,009 17,037 536,693 6,885 594,624
Accumulated depreciation LT E KRE
and impairment (6,496) (15,310) (436,576) (5,779) (464,161)
Net carrying amount IREFE 27,513 1,727 100,117 1106 130,463
At 1 April 2019, net of 20194 A18 -
accumulated depreciation R REHTE 27,513 1727 100,117 106 130,463
Additions hE - 2,692 65,840 - 68,532
Disposals EE - (33) (419) (12) (464)
Depreciation provided FRITERE
during the year 777) (1,358) (57,659) (819) (60,613)
Impairment during the year FRNRE - - (3,447) - (3.447)
Exchange realignment R L - (28) (2,270) (16) (2,314)
At 31 March 2020, net of H2020F3 8318 -
accumulated depreciation kR REHTE 26,736 3,000 102,162 259 132,157
At 31 March 2020: #2020%3 8318 :
Cost B AR 34,009 18,894 540,336 6,563 599,802
Accumulated depreciation ZEHTERRE
and impairment (7,273) (15,894) (438,174) (6,304) (467,645)
Net carrying amount AREDFHE 26,736 3,000 102,162 259 132,157

166



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) - Bf 7 ¥ & Mt £ (&)

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

As at the end of the reporting period, the Group’s land and buildings
in Hong Kong were pledged to secure banking facilities granted to the
Group (note 31(a)).

At the end of the reporting period, the premises permits in respect of the
property interests held under long term leases in Mainland China have not
been issued by the relevant PRC government authority. The net carrying
amount of the properties was HK$2 (2020: HK$2) at the end of the
reporting period.

At 31 March 2021, the Group’s management identified certain retail
shops which were loss-making and performed impairment assessment of
property, plant and equipment for identified retail shops with impairment
indicators and estimated corresponding recoverable amounts of the
cash-generating unit based on value-in-use calculation. Based on these
estimates, an impairment loss of HK$20,405,000 (2020: HK$3,447,000)
was recognised to write down the carrying amounts of certain property,
plant and equipment to their estimated recoverable amounts as at
31 March 2021. The recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
is determined based on a value-in-use calculation using cash flow
projections based on financial budgets covering the remaining useful lives
of the respective property, plant and equipment. The pre-tax discount
rates applied for the cash flow projections ranged from 12.2% to 18.8%.

14.

W% - BERRE @

NEFER  AEBEETRFEEERUARGSALE
HTRITREEE (HEE31))

REER - hERNMABBERFSBIIDARAEEE
FEBENYERZSBELEEMBER - A5EH
ZEMERFEBNREFEABE 27T (20209 ¢
T o

M2021F3A310 - AEBEREREA THEE
BHWZEES  UNBREBENZEEHMELD
¥ BEEEERENG  EHENRSELSENY
et PT UL B R IE R AE R EEFT B RE T © IRIEZ
5t M20214E3 4318 - B RIERREEES
#20,405,0007T (20204 : ##3,447,0007T) * BA
BZEYWE BELIEEENEEERRE R
el &5 o G EE BN AT UL 58 TR K A
BEFE  FRURESDE  BELLEOTH
AFEATHAEMNYHBEE YRS REE - Be
IR P RARAITIRE AN T12.2%%18.8% °
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15.

168

LEASES 15.

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for various items of land, offices, retail
shops, warehouses, factory and motor vehicles used in its operations.
Lump sum payments were made upfront to acquire the leased land from
the owners with lease periods of 50 years, and no ongoing payments will
be made under the terms of this land lease. Leases of buildings generally
have lease terms between 1 and 5 years. Generally, the Group is restricted
from assigning and subleasing the leased assets outside the Group. There

HE

AEBEREAHEA

AEEBEAETREEN L  HAE -

TEE

HoRE - BMERAIENEESLN - BRAEL —
RENFARETWERE T - AHR50F - M
RIFZELHBENGER - BT SRENERR
B HEBFHOEBPBRENFI1E25F - —KRM =
AEEAARALEENIANTERZRDEEES

B

are several lease contracts that include variable lease payments, which are T
further discussed below.
(a) Right-of-use assets (a) FHAEELE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and the FRAREEFAREENROBEREHNAT :
movements during the year are as follows:
Prepaid Furniture,
land lease fixtures and Motor
payment Buildings  equipment vehicles Total
AN R -
HEME BF REBERIHE RE wE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT BT BETT BT
As at 1 April 2019 20194 18 50,276 310,183 476 1,104 362,039
Additions NE 30,062 68,718 - - 98,780
Modification ET - 34,279 - - 34,279
Depreciation (note 7) & (Mis7) (2,038) (195,383) (259) (491 (198,171)
Impairment (note 7) A (HEE7) (13,01 - - (13,01
Exchange realignment i H P 4 (3,617) - - (3,613)
As at 31 March 2020 202038318
and 1 April 2020 20204 A1H 78,304 201,169 217 613 280,303
Additions ANE - 82,783 - - 82,783
Modification 1&ER - (8,920) 843 - (8,077)
Depreciation (note 7) & (His7) (2,357) (155,252) (223) (491) (158,323)
Impairment (note 7) AE (FEET7) - (34,098) - - (34,098)
Exchange realignment i R 2,081 2,173 - - 4,254
As at 31 March 2021 202143 A31H 78,028 87,855 837 122 166,842




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) - Bf 7 ¥ & Mt 3£ (&)

15. LEASES (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)

(a)

Right-of-use assets (continued)

At 31 March 2021, the Group’s management identified certain
retail shops which were loss-making and performed impairment
assessment of right-of-use assets for identified retail shops with
impairment indicators and estimated corresponding recoverable
amounts of the cash-generating unit based on value-in-use
calculation. Based on these estimates, an impairment loss of
HK$34,098,000 (2020: HK$13,011,000) was recognised to write
down the carrying amounts of certain right-of-use assets to
their estimated recoverable amounts as at 31 March 2021. The
recoverable amount of the items of cash-generating unit is
determined based on a value-in-use calculation using cash flow
projections based on financial budgets covering the remaining
lease terms plus the anticipated renewal periods of the respective
right-of-use assets. The pre-tax discount rates applied for the cash
flow projections ranged from 12.2% to 18.8%.

15. #HE®)
REBWEREAFRA (1)

(a)

EHEEE (%)

M202163A318 - R&EEERERTES TH
REBEENTEER  SREREREZNTEE
FIEHERELEERER G  HENRSES
Bz At KE BRI EAEESER
BT - BIBEZE M R2021F3A8318 ' &
7 BRI BB B8 34,098,0007T (2020
& EEI301,0000T) - SR EFEAEEE
MEEEEMRE L AT RE S5 - WeEAEM
R el S IREEREEE - FERE
EXZVE  BEARENRSKUEHAFTFHAE
HHSSEE 2B REA - BEmiEFE
BRHATITIRE AN F12.2%%18.8% °
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15. LEASES (continued) 15. HE @)
The Group as a lessee (continued) REBEERAMEA (8)
(b) Lease liabilities (b) HEAME
The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements during FREEBENEREIMERESNT

the year are as follows:

2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$’000 &¥# F 5T HK$ 000 B T T
Carrying amount at 1 April R4 A1 REREIE 239,232 325,783
New leases HEE 82,783 68,718
Modification 1B (8,469) 33,608
Accretion of interest recognised FHEERT B E (HEs)
during the year (note 8) 9,964 14,625
Payments (NE7N (193,750) (199,633)
Exchange realignment Ve i AR 2,415 (3,869)
Carrying amount at 31 March MIAINEHEREE 132,175 239,232
Analysed into: DA
Current portion mENE D 97,613 155,162
Non-current portion FETMBNEB D 34,562 84,070
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 36 to HEAENIHBEDITNEE MRS
the financial statements. 36WE -
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15. LEASES (continued) 15. #HE )
The Group as a lessee (continued) REBEEREBA (8)
(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases are (c) RIBREPEZNHEEL@EZHENT ¢
as follows:
2021 2020
20215 20204
Lease liabilities Lease liabilities
HEaE HERE
HK$’000 &¥ F T HK$'000 715 F 7T
Interest on lease liabilities (note 8) HEBERN S (MEEs) 9,964 14,625
Depreciation charge of FRAREENE (H:E7)
right-of-use assets (note 7) 158,323 198,171
Expense relating to short-term leases BT HATA & K #r T HA
and other leases with remaining M3 A3 A k2 AlfEm A
lease terms ended on or before EmAEsEAY
31 March (included in selling and (GTASHE RS HER)
distribution expenses) (note 7) (B%£7) 2,761 1,606
Variable lease payments not included Rt AHEBEHEN
in the measurement of lease liabilities A] 70 & 08
(included in selling and distribution (FrASHERDSHER)
expenses)* (note 7) (PfF&E7) 2,151 1,715
4,912 3,321
Impairment of right-of-use assets FREEERE 34,098 13,011
Total amount recognised in profit or loss RIBERERNFIEREE 207,297 229,128
* The Group leased a number of retail shops which contain * AEBEHEZEATE/EMMNEN  Z5H
variable payments terms that are based on the Group’s turnover EREUAEEERTEEREENE X
generated from the retail shops. There are also minimum monthly HAEMMASHEREGRR  ZEHE
base rental arrangements for these leases. NREREFEEMASZH -
(d) The total cash outflow for leases are disclosed in note 30(c) to the (d) BEHEEANRESRNBENGAUBEREN
financial statements. FE30(0)HEE o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) - Bf 75 $h & fif sE (48 )

16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 16.

The balance represents the Group’s trademarks which are assessed as
having indefinite useful lives because the Group is able to renew the legal
right of the trademarks at insignificant cost indefinitely.

17. OTHER ASSET 17.

Other asset represents the cost of membership for a seat at The Chinese
Gold and Silver Exchange Society which is stated at cost less any
impairment losses.

BLEE

RARRIE AR B Z IR o ARARE R AN ESR X
NEBRRATERALEELERE  SRT /AR
REMAFH -

HthEE

HUpBEERSRERZHERENA » THRR AR £
MERKFIR o

18. INVENTORIES 18. ®E
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$’000 &#¥ F 5t HK$'000 BT T
Raw materials R 116,196 95,531
Work in progress T M 42,683 44,162
Finished goods BUAY Gh 1,065,317 1,314,062
1,224,196 1,453,755
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19. TRADE RECEIVABLES 19. FEWERRX
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$’000 B¥ T T HK$'000 & # T 7T
Trade receivables FEUTAR K 129,887 91,105
Impairment A (13,796) (13,322)
116,091 77,783

The Group’s retail sales are normally made on a cash basis. Credit card
receivables from financial institutions in respect of retail sales are aged
within one month. Apart from retail customers, the Group allows an
average credit period from 30 to 90 days for other customers. The
Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables to
minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior
management. In view of the aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s
trade receivables relate to a large number of diversified customers, there
is no significant concentration of credit risk. The Group does not hold any
collateral or other credit enhancements over its trade receivable balances.
Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing in general.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the reporting
period, based on the invoice date and net of loss allowance, is as follows:

AEENTEHE - RURAERH - REZEHEM
= RAVBEEZREERRERZKEKR @
AR BREEEPIN  AEBERAGBESREFH
30E90RZBRIRHR » ANEEE ) skE B E SRR E 2
FEUBR AR IR EE R - B B A SRl B 12 8 5 )
EHERN - ENARENEKRERREREDHZ
BE  BMUBERETHNEERR - NEBLER
H P WOIR A s B R A m e T E s (=
B o BRBRER—REARE -

RIEMR - BREFREEZAHFERNRE
BB REDITIT

2021 2020

20215 20204

HK$’000 &#¥ F 5T HK$'000 & F 7T

Within 1 month MEAA R 113,962 59,397
1to 2 months 122EA W 1,495 9,680
2 to 3 months 223@MANRN 269 6,879
Over 3 months HBE3MEA 365 1,827
Total trade receivables 4B e YR K 116,091 77,783
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19.

174

TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

The movements in loss allowance for impairment of trade receivables are
as follows:

19. BUWERRR (#)

YRR 2R EBRESHMT -

2021 2020

20215 20204

HK$’000 &¥ F 5T HK$'000 ¥ F 7T

At beginning of year REH] 13,322 12,804
Impairment losses, net EEE - R (352) 1,116
Exchange realignment PE 5 % 826 (598)
At end of year RERXR 13,796 13,322

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a
provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The provision rates
are based on days past due for groupings of various customer segments
with similar loss patterns (i.e., by geographical region and customer type
and rating. The calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the
time value of money and reasonable and supportable information that
is available at the reporting date about past events, current conditions
and forecasts of future economic conditions. Generally, trade receivables
are written off if past due for more than one year and are not subject to
enforcement activity.

AEERSH®E R RERBEBREETRES T -
U EEMESRE - BEXDENAEFRLUEX
B0 (Pl - R B RE PR RFFR)
ZEBEFP AN 2 BMREBEE - HAER
BRATREME M AE R - B 2 RREE N RN HRE
HAESERBEENH Z2ABRAHER - B
IRSA R AR AR BEANRTER - —fRTE - BEES
—FRBEAZBRRAFATEDOEUERE T U
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) - Bf 75 $h & ff sE (48 )

TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 19. FBEWERR (&)
Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the TREBYIANEEF B BEEERETENERUERRNE
Group’s trade receivables using a provision matrix: ERBER
As at 31 March 2021 202153 A 31H
Past due
B
Less than 1to2 2to 3 Over
Current 1 month months months 3 months Total
My SMEAR 12218AR 2Z£3f8R @BiB3EA At
Expected credit loss rate HHEEEEE 1.6% 1.7% 1.8% 2.4% 85.6% 10.6%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) BRE#&E (BT 1) 106,769 8,098 1,018 84 13,918 129,887
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) FEHEEERE (BETF L) 1,725 141 18 2 11,910 13,796
As at 31 March 2020 20203 A31H
Past due
Less than Tto2 2to3 Over
Current 1 month months months 3 months Total
e SRIEAR 12218 A 2E3EA #BB3EA =
Expected credit loss rate BHEEEERXR 15% 1.8% 1.8% 0.8% 91.5% 14.6%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) BRE4AE GE¥TT) 54,755 1,618 7,270 4,232 13,230 91,105
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) TBHAEEEE (B¥TL) 848 204 132 34 12,104 13,322
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19. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 19. FEUWRRRRX ()
The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables, net of provisions, AEERUEFRNBEBBEZREEU T EE
are denominated in the following currencies: BB

2021 2020

20214 20204

HK$’000 &¥ F 5T HK$'000 ¥ F 7T

HKS s 313 12,884

RMB AREE 112,091 63,875

us$ ETT 3,423 17

Others HAh 264 1,007

116,091 77,783

20. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND OTHER 20. M RHMERRRHMEE

ASSETS
2021 2020
20215 20204
HK$’000 &#¥ F 5t HK$'000 7 ¥ F 7T
Prepayments FERTR 19,652 25,713
Deposits i 171,181 101,952
Right-of-return assets BREEEE 4,775 4,375
Other receivables E fth jE U R 3,985 8,21
199,593 140,251
Long-term prepayments and deposits DERERBDEEZ
classified as non-current assets RHBENRRZES (26,835) (41,506)
172,758 98,745
None of the above assets is either past due or impaired. The financial TR EEMERBNERE LHlEBRNMKEE
assets included in the above balances relate to receivables for which there BT EENES 2 ERER - BEEEERE
was no recent history of default. The ECLs are estimated by applying B2 EAREERESL BB H A EE XA -
a loss rate approach with reference to the historical loss record of the EBIEERENEEREEN AR R &R RE
Group. The loss rate is adjusted to reflect the current conditions and BEIERTER - AR BEIEEMF20219F K2020463 A
forecasts of future economic conditions, as appropriate. No loss allowance JEMEHREEBEG/ ) - MU ETIREERE -

was provided because management estimated that the ECLs as at 31
March 2021 and 2020 were minimal.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) - Bf 7 ¥ & Mt 3£ (&)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND TIME DEPOSITS 2. HeRESEEYREHER

2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$°000 &% Tt HK$'000 & # T 7T
Cash and bank balances & MERTTIER 379,422 336,750
Time deposits TEHATF R 317,656 232,003
697,078 568,753

Less: Pledged time deposits for certain B EAETRHRITRERE
short-term banking facilities (note 31(b)) 2 TEHATF R (FEE31(h)) (317,656) (232,003)
Cash and cash equivalents ReEMREEEY 379,422 336,750

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and cash equivalents
and time deposits of the Group denominated in RMB amounted to
HK$510,084,000 (2020: HK$383,338,000). RMB is not freely convertible
into other currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange
Regulations and Administration of Settlement Sale and Payment of
Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange
RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign
exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit
rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying periods of between
one day and one year depending on the immediate cash requirements
of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short term time
deposit rates. The bank balances and time deposits are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group’s time deposits denominated in RMB
amounting to HK$317,656,000 (2020: HK$232,003,000) have been
pledged to secure certain banking facilities granted to the Group (note
31(b)).

i 7

RBEHR  NEAUARBABUZRS KBS
LBY N EBFRA BB510,084,0007T (2020
& B#383,338,0007T) - ARKETREEREBA
H W R - RIEP B A2 INE B IR
AEEEESRERBETINEEE ZRITBAR
BEBBEMER o

4

FHNIRTTZ R ERE ARITHERZFBF HERIE
ME - BFAEENNRRSFR - RHEHMFR
ZERBABIREVE - WIRARE B3 R REA)
B RITEBR R ENEROERNEERF BT
I BB KA 8% 2 3RTT

BHIF2021F3A318 » REBUAREABMAER
7 1317,656,0007T (20204F : ##232,003,0007T)
2 ESEARCERRABRSAERE TRITES (W
531 (b)) °
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22. TRADE PAYABLES

An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the reporting

22. BRI

RIMERR - BNERFRIBEZ AT ZREKED

period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: T
2021 2020
20215 20204
HK$’000 &¥ F 5T HK$'000 ¥ F 7T
Within 1T month 1M&E A A 78,539 64,392
1to 2 months 122 AR 35,257 714
2 to 3 months 2ZE3EAR 22,367 44,501
Over 3 months HBiE31E A 19,192 136,11
155,355 245,718

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled on
30 to 120-day terms.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade payables are denominated in
the following currencies:

FENERFIIRR BN —RAB30E120 AERH -

REBEEMRRZREAEN TIIESESEM -

2021 2020
20214 20204

HK$’000 &¥F T HK$'000 BTt

HK$ ks 8,672 31,810
RMB AR 73,858 112,261
USs$ E7T 72,615 100,231
Others HAh 210 1,416
155,355 245,718
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23. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) - Bf 75 $h & fif sE (48 )

23. HtENRRETER

2021 2020
20215 20204
HK$’000 &% F T HK$'000 ¥ T T
Other payables H At ERIR 46,606 47,672
Customer deposits BE: & 117,302 108,179
Provision for liabilities BERE 20,979 21,145
Contract liabilities (note) GHBE M) 16,093 16,487
Refund liabilities BT AE 6,680 6,189
Accruals EETER 75,768 89,572
283,428 289,244
Other payables and accruals DI RIERB) Z H AR K
classified as non-current MEETER (1,449) (4,278)
281,979 284,966
Other payables and accruals are non-interest-bearing. HEtENRREFTEREARE -
Note: 5T
Details of contract liabilities are as follows: AREEFBOT -
2021 2020
20215 20204
HK$’000 E¥F it HK$'000 & F 7T
Short-term advances received from customers KEEFZ A EIFEY A
Sale of goods HEE M 13,758 13,422
Customer loyalty program RPEHEE 2,335 3,065
16,093 16,487
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24. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 24, GTEBTREMER

2021 2020
20215 20204
Contractual Contractual
interest interest
rate (%) Maturity HK$’000 rate (%) Maturity HK$'000
EHFIE%) Epc)= BETT  AOFE®%) Z158A BETT
Current E
Bank loans and trade BN ERNSRIRERER 2 17
financing - secured ENRESHE - FER 1.31% - 4.26% 2021 540,177  2.69% - 5.06% 2020 388,001
Bank loans - unsecured  ZERIFERHEEZ
RITER - EER 2.95% - 4.16% 2021 20,000  4.24% - 4.96% 2020 58,149
560,177 446,150
Non-current ki@
Bank loans - secured RITER — HiEE 2.61% - 4.26% 2022 428,909 4.49% - 5.06% 2022 567,611
428,909 567,611
Total am 989,086 1,013,761
Certain of the bank loans above are classified as current liabilities due ARRITREARBSRERER 2GR BMET
to the inclusion of repayment on demand clauses in the bank facilities LAJ:%E EXWOBARDAR - MBRERKEEY
agreements, without which, the maturity terms of the loans are as follows: 3 BB BRI T ¢
2021 2020
20215 20204
HK$’000 &# F T HK$ 000 & Tt
Repayment within one year or on demand B FEREIEEEHIZRERKEE 560,177 446,150
Repayment in the second year JAR2FANEHEE 428,909 138,702
Repayment in more than two years AR ZH2F N BEE - 428,909
989,086 1,013,761
Note: MisE -
All bank borrowings were denominated in Hong Kong dollars and RMB. R RITEFRII B R A REIEENL -
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25.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) - Bf 7 ¥ & Mt 3£ (&)

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

(continued)

The interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, including the bank loans
and trade finance repayable on demand, are carried at amortised cost.
None of the portions of the bank and other loans due for repayment after
one year which contains a repayment on demand clause and is classified as
current liabilities is expected to be settled within one year. This evaluation
was made considering the financial position of the Group at the date of
approval of the financial statements; the Group’s continuing compliance
with the loan covenants; the lack of events of default; and the fact that the
Group has made all previously scheduled repayments on time.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had available borrowing facilities
amounting to HK$1,106,145,000 (2020: HK$1,300,997,000), of which
HK$989,086,000 (2020: HK$1,013,761,000) had been utilised as
borrowings above as at the end of the reporting period. Certain borrowing
facilities are secured by certain assets of the Group as disclosed in note 31
to the financial statements.

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS
Long service payments

Under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance, the Group is obliged
to make lump sum payments on cessation of employment in certain
circumstances to certain employees who have completed at least five
years of service with the Group. The amount payable is dependent
on the employees’ final salary and years of service, and is reduced
by entitlements accrued under the Group’s retirement plan that are
attributable to contributions made by the Group. The Group does not
set aside any assets to fund any remaining obligations. The long service
payments are paid out from the Group’s cash on hand when such
payments are required.

The plan is exposed to interest rate risk, the risk of changes in salary
increase rate and the expected return on MPF scheme balances.

24.

25.

FFERTREMER ()

FERTER (BRREREEZRTERARES
BE) DIRBERATR - BRI BERIFREHE
BHESREREERRFI RS BEARDEBZ )
RITEFERIEREE - (ERFTERFEZEATS
B AREERAFBRERCER ZHBRR K&
EREETERIGR  RAENEN  AREBRE
ERFERZENR °

M2021F3A31R  AKEAHACREERASE
1,106,145,0007T (20204 : #%1,300,997,0007T) °
H B #989,086,000 L Z B A B (20204 : B
1,013,761,00070) RREHREE A - ETREEE
MASLESR TEEERBWHEERMEREMES -

BEEMNEHR
RS

REFE(REGD)  MAKEES THERLTEL
EREAEERBEISFNETET » BANES
RENFAAZEEIXNRARE S - BNSHE
BRETIHWREFEMRBFRAE - W BME
REBIRRET BI A7 RAE a5 i AN 5 B4 R0
BB o ANSR BN IR B EAE E A SR E R
BEBCRE - EFEELENRE - RERBEIHA
SEBEFREXN -

ZAT BIERA AR - RFEES RS S
Earm TR 2 Bk
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) - Bf 75 $h & fif sE (48 )

25. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (continued) 25.
Long service payments (continued)

The actuarial valuation specifically designated for the Group’s employees
was completed by a qualified actuary, Towers Watson, as at 31 March 2021
using the projected unit credit method.

The amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position are as follows:

EBEEANE®K @
RHEIRBE 2 (8

HZER2021F3A31H - BAEEEEMRBER
ECBAERIGEMBEE BRI RBE BB A
FEAK °

EHEEMBRNBRERNSEMOT

2021 2020

202145 20204

HK$’000 &¥# T T HK$'000 ¥ T T

Present value of defined benefit obligations ATEMNEEHIRE 661 1,639

The principal actuarial assumptions used as at the end of the reporting
period are as follows:

RNBRERREZHAUATHERR

2021 2020

20215 20204

Discount rate AR3F = 1.80% 0.80%

Expected rate of salary increases (%) TEER S & FHIR (%)

Year 2020 20204 - 3.50%

Year 2021 20214 3.50% 3.50%

Year 2022 and thereafter 2022F K LAtR 3.50% 3.50%
Expected annual return of TEHRESEEETFRER

the MPF scheme assets 3.00% 3.50%
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25.

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (continued)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) - Bf 7 ¥ & Mt £ (&)

25. EEEANZEK &)

Long service payments (continued) RHRES (@)
A quantitative sensitivity analysis for significant assumptions at the end of RBERRAEEABRERNTEEHBESTAROT ¢
the reporting period is shown below:
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) (decrease)
in defined in defined
Increase benefit Decrease benefit
in rate obligations in rate obligations
AEEANRLE 2 RAEEANRLE 2
BmE #gm,/ i) W= #gm, Cid)
% HK$'000 BTt % HK$'000 B#F It
2021 MA2021E3 A31H
Discount rate AR3IR = 0.25% (23) 0.25% 24
Future salary increase R E LM 0.25% 57 0.25% (94)
Future expected rate of KR BESEGE
return on MPF balances KRB HAE] U s = 0.25% (M8) 0.25% 166
2020 7202053 A31H
Discount rate RS 0.25% (53) 0.25% 56
Future salary increase R E LM 0.25% 182 0.25% (195)
Future expected rate of KR BES I
return on MPF balances KR 7B HAE] U s = 0.25% (306) 0.25% 435

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined based on a method
that extrapolates the impact on employee benefit obligations as a
result of reasonable changes in key assumptions occurring at the end
of the reporting period. The sensitivity analysis is based on a change in
a significant assumption, keeping all other assumptions constant. The
sensitivity analysis may not be representative of an actual change in the
defined benefit obligations as it is unlikely that changes in assumptions
would occur in isolation of one another.

LL‘@(@E“THHE%F TR MERREEMREE
EZPHEERINEBEOZEERE - IRESD
WBE%E’\EEK{E“’L%%“@ i E At 2 JR R 3R
B - RE TRERMNE LA A BRI
e MERESMARBERRAERNEBENE

RIBHZEE -
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25.

184

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (continued) 25. BERARK (@)
Long service payments (continued) ARG € (4#)
The total expenses recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or BRSNS EBRERTERNEBRHNT ¢
loss in respect of the plan are as follows:
2021 2020
20215 20204F
HK$’000 &# F 5T HK$'000 7 F T
Current service cost AN AR AN 93 86
Interest cost FEER 13 4
Net benefit expenses FREAAX 106 127
Recognised in administrative expenses Bt ATTRER 106 127
The movements in the present value of the defined benefit obligations are ATRANEBHREZEHNOT -
as follows:
2021 2020
20215 20204
HK$’000 #E¥F Tt HK$ 000 BTt
At beginning of year REH] 1,639 2,655
Remeasurements: EE
— Actuarial changes arising from —REHAERMEENBEEY
experience adjustments (781) 379
— Actuarial changes arising from —RAOSEBRREDMESE
demographic assumptions Eopri-Red - @)
— Actuarial changes arising from — REEBREIMELNBEES
financial assumptions 81 410
Current service cost N [E RR A K AN 93 86
Interest cost MEER 13 1
Benefit paid B EH (384) (1,931
At end of year RER 661 1,639




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) - Bf 75 $h & Mff sE (48 )

25. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (continued) 25. BEERA=®K (9
Long service payments (continued) RERBE 2 (8
The movements in the defined benefit obligations and the fair value of ATERFEBREEENRAFEEBAZEZFHNT ¢

plan assets are as follows:

2021 20215
Cost charged to profit or loss Remeasurement gain in other comprehensive income
FABBEZRE FAGERAREZRERA
Actuarial Actuarial
changes changes
Sub-total arising from  arising from
Net included changesin  changes in Sub-total
At 1 April Service interest in profit Benefit demographic financial  Experience in other 31 March
2020 cost expense or loss paid assumptions assumptions adjustments comprehensive 2021
fEAD G
BREY RLRIR
#2020% A MEEH TEEH FA O R2021E

4818 RERE FNE  BERNT BAEN REED  REED  CRSE 2EMANT 3A3IA
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
ARTn  ABTR  ARTR  ERTR AR ERTR BRTR BETR BMTR TR

Defined benefit obligations ~ RERFIZEH 1,639 93 13 106 (384) - 81 (781) (700) 661
2020 20204
Cost charged to profit or loss Remeasurement gain in other comprehensive income
STABRERZHE FAGFEERREBERA
Actuarial Actuarial
changes changes
Sub-total arising from  arising from
Net included changes in changes Sub-total
At 1 April Service interest in profit or Benefit demographic  infinancial  Experience in other 31 March
2019 cost expense loss paid  assumptions  assumptions  adjustments comprehensive 2020
A
REEY  HERAE
120196 A AL AR A R2020%F

418 TRsmA BFHE  BEEN BRI BEg BEES GRAE 2EYAN 3A31A

HK$000  HK$000 HK$000  HK$000 HK$000  HK$000  HK$000 HK$000  HK$'000 HK$'000

BETT BB BETT BB BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT

Defined benefit obligations R ERHZEHL 2,655 86 4 127 (1,931) 0 410 379 768 1639
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25.

186

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (continued)
Long service payments (continued)

Expected contributions to the defined benefit plan in future years are as
follows:

25. EEEAZK (@)

RHEIRBE 2 (8
FEHRARORTBABEE 2 HERT -

2021 2020

20215 20204

HK$’000 &% T T HK$'000 B#¥F T

Within the next 12 months RARRI12MEA 147 142
Between 2 and 5 years R2ESFEZ 10 153
Between 5 and 10 years REEI0FE Z 46 99
Total expected payments BTBETRIE 203 394

Defined contribution retirement plan

The Group participates in the MPF Scheme under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed
under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance and
not previously covered by the defined benefit retirement plan. The
MPF Scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan administered by
independent trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its
employees are each required to make contributions to the plan at 5%
of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant
income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

The Group also participates in defined contribution retirement benefit
schemes for all qualifying employees in the PRC, Japan and Malaysia.
The assets of the schemes are held separately from those of the Group in
funds under the control of independent trustees.

The Group’s total contributions to these schemes charged to profit or
loss during the year ended 31 March 2021 amounted to HK$5,675,000
(2020: HK$7,585,000) (note 7), representing contributions payable
by the Group to the schemes at the appropriate rates set by the local
government of its subsidiaries.

FE HFRNEE

AEBZRBREECRBIE 2B IGDD ORE -
RBBEEB(EBEIDEBRANEE R 2T EEE
RERMEBEARAZINEE - 2HEHBESF S - BT
R EIE AR EHRTRAREE - BBIMHZFEA
B2 - RERESHE BEXILEREEDERRE
SRBASKS% R BEHET - HAZARBK
ANBHE30,0007T R ER » HETBINHRTDIENRBRE -

AEETRBAATE - BARSRATEERNE
2R —ARERFEAKE - FBNEEBIN
AEENBEEYFRBBELITARARER -

REBE2021F3A31BILEFE - AEEE LS8
Fir{e 2 5k 48 58 B8 155,675,000 7T (20204 : 7B
7,585,00007t) (Fizx7) » WEEBZHF I o it
IR 5 (3% & I B A B AR B M @ BT I3 AR At R
fEH -
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DEFERRED TAX 26. EELEHIR
The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during the year are as FRELEHEEEREEZSHOT -
follows:
Withholding
Accelerated/ taxes on
(decelerated) Employee  Impairment undistributed Other
Lease tax benefit of Tax profits of temporary
liabilities  depreciation obligations inventories losses  subsidiaries differences Total
BE/ HWEAF
(§:5:3) =] KAREA Hih
HEAE RENE RHEH FERE REFR WENFER ENMER )

HKS000  HK$'000 HKS000  HK$000  HKS000  HK$000  HKS000 HK$'000
BETT  ERTT AR TR BNTR BRTm BRI BRTR BETR

At T April 2019 R201964A1A (2,345) (586) (438) (4,060) (17,409) 13,320 (22,385) (33,903)
Deferred tax charged/(credited) FRNERR

to the statement of profit or loss %/ (GtA) z

during the year (note 1) EAEHA (Fitsin) 1161 (294) 298 167 6,068 - 2183 9,583
Deferred tax credited to the FARZERARE

statement of comprehensive FTAZERFE

income during the year - - (130) - - - - (130)
Exchange differences ERES 59 7 - 108 94 (732) 267 (197)
At 31 March 2020 R2020E3A31

and 1 April 2020 NK202054 A18 (1,125) (873) (270) (3,785) (11,247) 12,588 (19,935) (24,647)
Deferred tax chargedy(credited) FRRERR

to the statement of profit or ng/GIA) 2

loss during the year (note 11) EAEHE (Firsin) 48 3,381 46 (2,715) 8,517 4,280 (3,355) 10,572
Deferred tax charged to the FRRZENARE

statement of comprehensive Bl

income during the year - - 115 - - - - 115
Exchange differences EizE (55) (4) - (203) (1,187) 889 54 (506)
At 31 March 2021 202163431 (762) 2,504 (109) (6,703) (3,917) 17,757 (23,236) (14,466)
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26.

188

DEFERRED TAX (continued) 26. EIEHIE (&)
2021 2020
20215 20204
HK$’000 &% T T HK$'000 B#F T
Net deferred tax assets recognised in the TiRA B RRERER

consolidated statement of financial position RRER A& E S5 (33,985) (40,526)

Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the AR E T AN SRR ERH
consolidated statement of financial position FEEFIB R EFRE 19,519 15,879
(14,466) (24,647)

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding tax
is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from the foreign
investment enterprises established in the PRC. The requirement is effective
from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A
lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty between
the PRC and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group, the
applicable rate is 5%. The Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes
on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries established in the PRC in
respect of earnings generated from 1 January 2008.

At 31 March 2021, deferred tax has not been recognised for certain
withholding taxes that would be payable on the unremitted earnings that
are subject to withholding taxes of the Group’s subsidiaries established
in the PRC. In the opinion of the directors, it is not probable that these
subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable future.
At 31 March 2021, the aggregate amount of temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries in the PRC for which
deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised totalled approximately
HK$721,523,000 (2020: HK$792,991,000).

RIEFRBECEMERE  RPBRKSZIIEERED
E¥rBEEEETRREBBKIONBIMAEH -
LEAR T 20081 A1H RBA » Wi AR20074F12
RA31R%ZEF - iR B EINE L E & FT1E AL
@R E - IR 8@ B SRR B AT SR
Ko RAEBMRPEK L ZHMBARIME @ BAM
EhHE5% - AL AEBEETERZENRPREKILZ
MEATR2008F1 B 1BEEL Z BFFADIKZ K
BHMBIAMEH -

MR2021F3A318 - AT AEERFBEKZIZHER
RIZADIRAFMAEABINAMERL A ERBIELER
BoBERE  ZESMBARRA R KRS AR EE
DIKZERF - R2021F3A31H  HPEKEA
AREAEENEARRZECHREAENERER
A A ABT21,523,0007T (20204 « ##E
792,991,0007T) °
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26. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 26. EIEBIRE (4#)
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following T3IEE RIS EREE AR R T A
items at applicable tax rates: o
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$’000 B¥F T HK$'000 & F 7T
Tax losses HIBEE 78,973 77,538
Others HAh 25,504 577
Deferred tax assets not recognised RIERZIELETIRE = 104,477 78,115
The above unrecognised tax losses arising in Hong Kong, Macau and 20213 A31H - LA EAEHEE485212,0007T
Japan as at 31 March 2021 of approximately HK$485,212,000 (2020: (20204 : HFHE LR HEEEA57,413,0000) RE
Hong Kong and Macau of HK$457,413,000) are available indefinitely for B RFRBAREEZ RERRIBEIS - ATERS
offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies in which the AEEEZEEAREBEAR ZAKERRE
losses arose. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect o HRKREWHE AEAEREH B ER Litt
of the above items as in the opinion of the directors, it is not considered TEBEEHKE  WEERAVTARNZIEB BREL
probable that taxable profits will be available against which the above THIBEE
items can be utilised.
There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment of RN B A A AR R R B 2 AR B O R P8 o

dividends by the Company to its shareholders.
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27. SHARE CAPITAL 27. B
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$’000 &# T 5T HK$'000 ¥ T T
Authorised: JARE ¢
1,500,000,000 ordinary shares 1,500,000,000 i &R A E
of HK$0.25 each 025D 2 B 375,000 375,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITRAR :
249,182,030 ordinary shares 249,182,030 i AL E &
of HK$0.25 each BEE0.25Tn 2 B 62,296 62,296
A summary of the movements in the Company’s share capital is as AARBASEHEENT -
follows:
Number of
shares in issue Share capital
BITRGOEE ;&S
HK$'000 A F 7T
At 1 April 2019 20194 A1H 248,551,651 62,138
Scrip issue (note 1) KRB (BzET) 630,379 158
At 31 March 2020, 1 April 2020 20203 A31H « 20204 A1H
and 31 March 2021 LA K 202143 A 31H 249,182,030 62,296
Note 1. The scrip issue included the scrip dividends for 2018/19 final dividend, Mz REBRMHBIE2018/19 KK E - #A3ITHR

resulting in the issue of 630,379 shares for a consideration of
HK$1,007,000, representing an increase in share capital and share
premium of HK$158,000 and HK$849,000, respectively.

28. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme was adopted by shareholders of
the Company on 21 July 2016 (“2016 share option scheme”). The purpose
of the 2016 share option scheme is to provide incentives or rewards to
participants thereunder for their contribution to the Group and/or to
enable the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre employees and attract
human resources that are valuable to the Group and any equity interest
(“Invested Entity”).

28.
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BB B630,379% - BHEERERBE
1,007,0007T + 7 B R AR A 15 104 #6158,000
TCLA R Rt v (B 38 AN & #5849,000 7T ©

BRESE
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R ([2016 F MR8 ]) - 2016 F R AR #EET &l
MERMEATBELRENSE TN2ESEHAE
ERERE, RAEAEESUNRELRGREESE
B URATSEESFERENERE ([HEEEE]
MARBEEANL ©



28.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) - Bf 7 ¥ & Mt £ (&)

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Under the 2016 share option scheme, the directors of the Company are
authorised, at their discretion, at any time following the date of the
adoption of the 2016 share option scheme, to offer options to any person
belonging to any of the following classes of participants to subscribe for
shares of the Company:

— any employee (whether full time or part time employee(s), including
any director or executive director but not any non-executive
director) of the Company, its subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;

- any non-executive director (including independent non-executive
directors) of the Company, any of its subsidiaries or any Invested
Entity;

- any supplier of goods or services to any member of the Group or
any Invested Entity;

— any customer of the Group or any Invested Entity;

— any person or entity that provides research, development or
technological support or other services to the Group or any
Invested Entity;

— any shareholder of any member of the Group or any Invested Entity
or any holder of any securities issued by any member of the Group
or any Invested Entity;

- any adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant to any area of
business or business development of any member of the Group or
any Invested Entity; and

— any other group or classes of participants who have contributed or
may contribute by way of joint venture, business alliance or other
business and/or financial arrangement to the development and
growth of the Group.

28.

BRESTE (@)

RIF2016 FHBAAERTE - AATEZREEEITHIG
NERM2016FREREAEZ AREZAMZE TS
FRI 2 EAERE - mBRTIEM2EERRINA
TR HBBEARRMD KB -

-  ARAE - HEAMBARREAKREREEEK
EARE (THRIELBAFRMER - RFBEMA
WITESEINBEEMIERTES);

- ARAE - BEEFEHEARSERREEEES
EFRZERMITESR (BREBUIFNTES);

— AEEEAKERARRERRREEENEW
B IRFHER

-  FAEEFREAREEEERNTFAES

-  RAARESEARREERBRMGIRE  FHER
BT SCRREARB R EMALHERE

- $EliﬁﬂﬁhﬁﬁﬁMEﬁ%$iEﬁ&
RN RAKEEFAKE RFRERMFHRE
a%%&ﬁﬁ%ﬁ SSHIFEA

- AKEEMKE R RREMRIRE TR EM
EBUEBEREB EMER (X EM
FE) HEREMHE R

- FAREENHE EBBBRHEGEBR X

B AT e B AR R B R K R R AEH
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28.

29.

30.

192

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The exercise price of options is the highest of the nominal value of the
shares, the closing price of the shares on the stock exchange on the date
of offer of the grant and the average closing price of the shares on the
stock exchange for the five business days immediately preceding the date
of offer of the grant. An offer of an option shall be deemed to have been
accepted within 28 days from the date of offer upon acceptance of the
option duly signed by the grantee together with a remittance of HK$1. The
maximum number of securities available for issue under the 2016 share
option scheme shall not exceed 10% of the issued capital of the Company.
The maximum entitlement of each grantee in any 12-month period is
limited to 1% of the ordinary shares in issue of the Company. The option
period will not be more than ten years from the date of grant of the option
and the Company’s board of directors may at its discretion determine the
minimum period for which the option has to be held or other restriction
before the exercise of the subscription right attaching thereon.

The 2016 Share Option Scheme is valid and effective for a period of 10
years, which will expire on 21 July 2026, and at the date of this report, no
share option has been granted under the 2016 Option Scheme since it has
been adopted (2020: Nil).

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for the
years are presented in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on
pages 88 to 89 of the financial statements.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH
FLOWS

(a) Major non-cash transactions

During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities of HK$82,783,000 and HK$82,783,000
(2020: HK$68,718,000 and HK$68,718,000), respectively, in respect
of lease arrangements for plant and equipment.

28.

29.

30.

BRRESTE (@)

BRENTEERROMNERE - BHRNBEREE
HWETEMEBIMESHKRTERROREERE
BERORT AR I E SR A EB ST
BHURTHE=ETNESLE - TR THRER28
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B RZTEEBARREBHITRAZI0% - FE&
BB RIR B A+ — @ A B RN AR E
EEITERMRMN% o BN B RF BRI R
HERRATSEA+TE - ARREEFGIEBR

ESEEATEBEEEMNREENCAREER
R AR HAR SR EADR )

2016 FEEMRAERTEIB MR B10F » WS MR20264F
7A2BER - HEAREH - ARFIZ2016FER
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@

REE Y HBE  FARNEEE 2 BHFIBNG
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30. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 30.
FLOWS (continued)

FERTREBRME (@)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities (b)y MEEHELE BES
2021 20214

Interest-bearing

bank and
other borrowings Lease liabilities
STERITREMER HEaE
HK$’000 #E ¥ Tt HK$’000 & T T
At 1 April 2020 20204 A1H 1,013,761 239,232
Changes from financing cash flow mEBReREE (24,675) (183,786)
New leases WHEE - 82,783
Modification [T - (8,469)
Foreign exchange movement HINEE B - 2,415
Interest expenses FEFZ - 9,964

Interest paid classified as PEAKERESRENEMFE
operating cash flows - (9,964)
At 31 March 2021 R2021E3 A31H 989,086 132,175
2020 20204

Interest-bearing

bank and
other borrowings Lease liabilities
T BRITREMER HEaE
HK$'000 7 F 7T HK$'000 75 F 7T
At 1 April 2019 201944 A1H 786,984 325,783
Changes from financing cash flow MEFR S TEEE) 226,777 (185,008)
New leases MHEE - 68,718
Modification (£l - 33,608
Foreign exchange movement 4N 2 - (3,869)
Interest expenses FERX - 14,625

Interest paid classified as PERAKERSRENENFTE

operating cash flows - (14,625)
At 31 March 2020 FR2020F3 A31H 1,013,761 239,232
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30. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 30.

FLOWS (continued)
(c) Total cash flow for leases

The total cash outflows for leases included in the consolidated

FERERERMETE ()

(o HERZALARE
ARERERERNAERSREAEN

statement of cash flows is as follows: N

2021 2020
20215 20204
HK$’000 &#¥ T 5T HK$'000 7 ¥ F 7T
Within operating activities L TEENA 14,876 17,946
Within financing activities MEEHN 183,786 185,008
198,662 202,954

31. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 3. EEER

(@) The Group entered into banking facility arrangements with banks
pursuant to which the Group’s land and buildings in Hong Kong with
an aggregate carrying value as at 31 March 2021 of HK$72,768,000
(2020: HK$75,278,000) were mortgaged by way of a first legal
charge, as securities for, inter alia, all obligations and liabilities,
actual or contingent, from time to time owing by the Group to
those banks (note 14).

(b)  As at 31 March 2021, time deposits of the Group denominated in
RMB and totalling equivalent to approximately HK$317,656,000
(2020: HK$232,003,000) have been pledged to secure standby
letters of credit relating to a cross border treasury arrangement
(note 21).
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(@) AEEHAZHBRTIVETEERELHE -
Bz AEEUFE—EZEHLEHNTRG
AEEBEFBSN I RIEFR 2021438318
EEETEEE172,768,0007T (20204 : B
75,278,00070) 1B - DUEAR (BB K
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32. COMMITMENTS 32, REHERH
(a) The Group had the following capital commitments for leasehold (a) M2021%F3A31H  AEERME - BE R
improvements at the end of the reporting period: HOERRENAT :
2021 2020
20215 20204
HK$’000 B¥F T HK$'000 & F 7T
Contracted but not provided for BEA - BRIEREE 7,410 3,731
(b) The Group has various lease contracts that have not yet (b) M2021F3A318 - REEEHARBHERE
commenced as at 31 March 2021. The future lease payments for HEEH - ZF T HEEMHEES LR ARKAE
these non-cancellable lease contracts are HK$663,000 (2020: EXEA—FANEIEMNE663,0007T (2020
HK$1,517,600) due within one year and HK$1,790,000 (2020: F - B¥1,517,6000) REZZERFREN
HK$4,200,000) due in the second to fifth years, inclusive. 75 #1,790,0007T (20204 : 4,200,000
L) (BIEERME) °
33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 33. BEALRS
(a) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these financial @ BRERTHBREREMBPOHITH 2SN &K
statements, the Group had the following transactions with related EERBE2021F3A3B L FEHEEE A+
parties during the year ended 31 March 2021: HEITLATA S
2021 2020
20215 20204
HK$’000 &% F T HK$'000 ¥ T T
(i)  Purchase from related companies () HEERFEE 180,522 275,653
(i)  Sales to a related company (i HEF—HEEQT 220,564 323,165

Amounts due to these related companies amounted to
HK$49,274,000 (31 March 2020: HK$34,578,000).

These related companies are fellow subsidiaries of Rosy Blue
Overseas Holding Limited, a preference shareholder of Partner
Logistics Limited (“Partner Logistics”), whose board of directors
is controlled by Mr. Tommy Tse, the ultimate controlling party and
substantial shareholder of the Company.

FERTLA FREE R R ZRIB A’ 49,274,0007T
(R2020F3 A31H : #B#34,578,0007T) °

A ERER A ARosy Blue Overseas
Holdings Limited (£ &Partner Logistics
Limited ([Partner Logistics ) 8918 S B ER)
2 EZMBAF o Partner LogisticsEEEH
BB YRS - AR AR AT
FRANEEERRE -
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33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

196

@

(b)

33. BEALXRS (@)

(continued) @ (&)

(i) (@) Mr. Tommy Tse, the spouse of Ms. Yau On Yee, Annie (i) (a)@lEBE R EHARNAIET —FH B
(“Ms. Annie Yau”), an Executive Director of the Company, NEIEEABIITHRAR - SEERLTER
has been employed by a subsidiary of the Company as the HNTEEBLELTZERE : (b)#lls
Deputy Chief Executive Officer of the Group; (b) Mr. Tse B EWARNAET —EWE AR EE
Sui Luen (“Mr. Tse Senior”), the father of Mr. Tommy Tse BAREEANA - S EASIEE
and father-in-law of Ms. Annie Yau, has been employed by FEZRBERBLZELT IR o RE
a subsidiary of the Company as the Founder. During the ZE2021%F3 A31H IEFE RS B A
year ended 31 March 2021, remunerations and benefit in kind FEIR S A EEE2 419,000 7T (2020 -
of HK$2,419,000 (2020: HK$2,141,000) and HK$1,689,000 BEE2.,141,000 7T ) N it B B Ao £ A
(2020: HK$1,304,000) were paid to Mr. Tommy Tse and Mr. 1,689,000 7T (20204 : ##1,304,000
Tse Senior, respectively. JC) e A E WA % o

The above transactions in respect of items (i) and (ii) were not FHREOGFMDBER S RE EMRRFE4AZL

continuing connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the TR —IEFERERS - AAREERA -

Listing Rules. In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the ZERGEABEFBRETIRESBEGKTE

transactions were carried out on normal commercial terms and in 1T e

the ordinary course of business.

The related party transactions in respect of items (iii)(a) and (iii) FEIE A iia) and (i) ZBEEA LR 5

(b) above constitute continuing connected transactions as defined M ETRANEUAZAE 2 HERERS -

in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Since the amount in respect RHEIE AT - AREAE Db EBE

of item (iii)(b) is below the de minimis threshold for the purpose FER ETAEBIZE4A 76 G KK EA R IK
of Rule 14A.76 of the Listing Rules, item (iii)(b) is fully exempt oo BEZIE B (i (b) Al ERR BRI E « FE
from shareholders’ approval, annual review and all disclosure Bz R EMRBAIZETERE -

requirements under the Listing Rules.

Compensation of key management personnel of the Group: by ZAEBFTZEEAEMSD :

2021 2020

20215 20204

HK$’000 &#¥ Tt HK$'000 7 ¥ F 7T

Short term employee benefits RHIES R 11,534 10,422

Post-employment benefits EABEF 54 54
Total compensation paid to TR TFEEEBEAE

key management personnel Eof ek k] 11,588 10,476

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in note 9 to
the financial statements.

EFMDE — PHBRRH T REMEI -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) - Bf 7 ¥ & Mt 3£ (&)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as

at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

34, BERSEZEMIE

MBEMR - ZER2EBMTAREENT ¢

2021 20215
Financial assets MKEE
Financial assets
at amortised cost
Ei7¢: £)2 %N
ABZHBEEE
HK$’000 &¥ T T
Trade receivables JFEUR AR X 116,091
Financial assets included in prepayments, BEEEMNK - HiEUERK
other receivables and other assets LEMEEMEEE 175,166
Time deposits TE HifF K 317,656
Cash and cash equivalents ReMKREEEY 379,422
988,335
Financial liabilities MiEEE
Financial liabilities
at amortised cost
TR AR A
ARZHHAE
HK$’000 &% T T
Trade payables FERTRR X 155,355
Financial liabilities included in other BEEEMERNRK
payables and accruals LEGERZMBEE 122,374
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings T BRITREMER 989,086
Lease liabilities HEAE 132,175
1,398,990
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (continued) 34, BERSEZEMIE (@)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as

at the end of the reporting period are as follows: (continued)

RBERR - TR 2EMTAREENT - (8)

2020 20204
Financial assets MiEEE
Financial assets
at amortised cost
R SRR AR
ARG EE
HK$'000 & #F 7T
Trade receivables FEULAR K 77,783
Financial assets included in prepayments, BEEEMN - EiEUERK
other receivables and other assets REMEE 2 HBEEE 110,163
Time deposits EHITFE 232,003
Cash and cash equivalents Be kRS EEY 336,750
756,699
Financial liabilities BEas
Financial liabilities
at amortised cost
TREE SRR AR
ARG RE
HK$'000 7 F 7T
Trade payables FERTBR X 245,718
Financial liabilities included in other BEEEMERNRK
payables and accruals METERZUHARG 137,244
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings FTESRITREMERK 1,013,761
Lease liabilities HEAE 239,232
1,635,955
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) - Bf 7 ¥ & Mt 3£ (&)

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 35. ¢RI IEBE>AVEERAFEEER
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial instruments, BETEREABMEANFTEEREEZHEIA
other than those with carrying amounts that reasonably approximate to Sh - AREENMBTAZ ERAEEEATEEBENT ¢

fair values, are as follows:

Carrying amounts Fair values
IRMEE DYEE
2021 2020 2021 2020
20214 20204 20214 20204
HK$’000 BTt HK$'000 BE Tt HK$000 BEF T HK$'000 BTt
Financial liabilities BKaE
Interest-bearing bank FFERITREMER
and other borrowings 989,086 1,013,761 989,086 1,013,761
Fair value hierarchy: NFEEEZER
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy of the TERENNAEENESHT A AT EBEAZER -

Group’s financial instruments:

Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed: BAFEEREZER:
2021 20214
Fair value measurement using
ATEEHEAR
Quoted Significant Significant
prices in observable unobservable
active markets inputs inputs Total
SERTSRE EAUBRYE BEAREUNBERHUE aH
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
(#R511) (#7A12) (8 7B13)
HK$'000 B¥Ft HK$000 B¥TT HK$000 BETIT HK$000 BEFT
Financial liabilities P 3=R
Interest-bearing bank FTERITREMER
and other borrowings - - 989,086 989,086
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FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 35.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Fair value hierarchy: (continued)

Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed: (continued)

SRMIBECZAFEERAFEESR (&)

NEEBESEL &)
BAFEEHEEZEE (&)

2020 20204
Fair value measurement using
ATEEHESR
Quoted Significant Significant
prices in observable unobservable
active markets inputs inputs Total
ERTISRE EANBREE EAHUNBRAR Atk
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
(& 5h) (#A12) (& 513)
HK$'000 BEFIr  HK$000 BEFIT  HKS000 BEFT  HK$000 BEFT
Financial liabilities BRAE
Interest-bearing bank FTERITREAMER

and other borrowings -

- 1,013,761 1,013,761

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements
between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3 for
both financial assets and financial liabilities (2020: Nil).

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash equivalents,
time deposits, trade receivables, trade payables, financial assets included
in prepayments, other receivables and other assets and financial liabilities
included in other payables and accruals approximate to their carrying
amounts largely due to short term maturities of these instruments.

FAYEIZ QT EEFEZTEEEREN R
22 BB - NEASEHARRZ (20204 © )

ERECHERELBEEEY  EHEFHR - EBR
R BNERS B ERNR - Rt kA
MWEEMBEENBSEEMEN R RETER
ZHBREZ AFEELAKEERE  TE2AR
ZETE/REMAEE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) - Bf 7 ¥ & Mt £ (&)

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy: (continued)
Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed: (continued)

The Group’s finance department headed by the Chief Financial Officer
is responsible for determining the policies and procedures for their fair
value measurement of financial instruments. The finance department
reports directly to the Chief Financial Officer. At the end of each reporting
period, the finance team analyses the movements in the values of financial
instruments and determines the major inputs applied in the valuation. The
valuation is reviewed and approved by the Chief Financial Officer.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at
the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current
transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation
sale. The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the
fair values:

The fair values of the non-current portion of interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings have been calculated by discounting the expected
future cash flows using rates currently available for instruments with
similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. The Group’s own
non-performance risk for the non-current portion of interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings as at 31 March 2021 and 2020 was assessed
to be insignificant.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings, time deposits and cash and cash equivalents.
The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for
the Group’s operations. The Group has various other financial assets
and liabilities such as trade receivables and trade payables, which arise
directly from its operations.

35.

36.

SRIBACZAFEERAFEESER &)

NEBESEL &)
BEAFEEHEZERE | (&)

HAKENEREMBRAESENMBERKAEEE
TRTANDFEEAEZBRMNER - MEEK
BERAERVBEERR - EBRREHR - UH
BB eRm T ANBEEZPNETHERBNET
EHE - HESKERVBEEZEHMIE -

WHBEERBEZATEE BTRARFEL
B DU ERNERRSTPRIANRBKZ S
AR T R FEERER TR TIERRR

ARERITREMERNIERDEEBN I AFEER
DEBABRBEEUGER EERBRERFSIEBEHTE
RFEEFEAFRRBEERE - NEER2021F K&
2020F3 A3 BFE BRIT R EME RN IERE IS
A TRORBE T G AIEEK -

MEEREERERBEGK

AEBZIZ2eMTABBBRITRAMER
RITEX EARERE  F2HE  THERR
RelREeEEY  UEERTAZTERENAS
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PR o
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest
rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The board of
directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and
they are summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates
relates primarily to the Group’s long term debt obligations with a floating
interest rate.

The following sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming that change
in interest rates had occurred at the year end date and had been applied
to the exposure to interest rates for financial instruments in existence at
that date. A 1% increase or decrease is used when reporting interest rate
risk internally to key management personnel and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 1% higher/lower and all other variables were
held constant, the Group’s loss for the year ended 31 March 2021 would
increase/decrease and the retained profits as of 31 March 2021 would
decrease/increase by HK$6,690,000 (2020: HK$8,332,000). This is
mainly attributed to the Group’s exposure to interest rates on its variable
rate borrowings.

36.

BERREEEERBER (&)

%vaﬁlﬂﬁﬁ?‘iiigﬂu%ﬂfﬂ - HNEE R
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Tiﬁﬂﬁﬁi BRI E E e 2 R

M= &b
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UNTZHEREDMIDBERANEEHGNFERAEEM
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ZHERERE - EMEEEEABA2HBAEER
B RATRAMEENR TR Z R - NERE
AR Z & I AR & B (E O RT A -

fFIRIE I TEKIE - MATE B EBREIE
AEBFHZE 202163 A318 IHFEE 2 EE &R 20214
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) - Bf 7 ¥ & Mt £ (&)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures mainly arising from
sales and purchases by operating units in currencies other than the units’
functional currencies. The currency giving rise to this risk is primarily US$.
The Group does not hold or issue any derivative financial instruments for
trading purposes or to hedge against fluctuations in foreign exchange
rates. The Group mitigates this risk by conducting the sales and purchases
transactions in the same currency, whenever possible.

In the opinion of the directors, US$ is reasonably stable under the Linked
Exchange Rate System with HK$ and accordingly, the Company does not
have any significant foreign exchange risk.

Credit risk

The Group’s exposure to credit risk mainly arises from granting credit to
customers in the ordinary course of operations. The Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk on recognised financial assets is limited to their
carrying amount at the end of the reporting period.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group reviews
the recoverability of receivables individually and collectively periodically
and at the end of each reporting period to ensure that adequate
impairment loss is made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the
management of the Group considers that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced. The Group has no significant concentration of credit
risk, with exposure spread over a number of counterparties and customers.

36.

BEREEEZREBER (8
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 36.

POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk (continued)

Maximum exposure and year-ending staging

The tables below shows the credit quality and the maximum exposure to
credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, which is mainly based on past
due information unless other information is available without undue cost
or effort, and year-end staging classification as at 31 March 2021 and 2020.

The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for financial assets.

BERREEEERBER (&)

EERE @)
BERBRELAIERSE
TEBEALENEERE JIREEEERES

EERK  BRIEEABRKARE NEESEAM
ER o BRAITREBUBBER » RR2021F &
2020F3ANHZFRDBENEAER - 27HT
BUBEENKREAE -

As at 31 March 2021 7202163 A831H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12{8 AFEH
EEFE 2HEHEEEE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F1ER FRER EIRER A% =
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT BET T BET T BETT BETT
Trade receivables* JRE Ui B - - - 129,887 129,887
Financial assets included in prepayments, — BIEETBM - H YR
other receivables and other assets REMBEZHBEEE
— Normal** —EFE~ 175,166 - - - 175,166
Time deposits EHER
— Not yet past due — [ AR H 317,656 - - - 317,656
Cash and cash equivalents e RREEEY
— Not yet past due — AR 379,422 - - - 379,422
872,244 - - 129,887 1,002,131
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 36.

POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk (continued)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) - Bf 7 ¥ & Mt 3£ (&)

Maximum exposure and year-ending staging (continued)

As at 31 March 2020

BEREEEZREBER (8

EERR (&)
BERBREXSERSE (B
F2020F3 A31H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12{E A E
EEFE > HEHEERE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
BIPER FEOREER EIMEE 7% &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT BT BB BEFT
Trade receivables* UG B 0 - - - 91,105 91,105
Financial assets included in prepayments, — BIEETEMFR -« H iR
other receivables and other assets REMEBEZHHEE
— Normal** = MEE= 110,163 - - - 110,163
Time deposits TEHIF T
— Not yet past due — [ A8 E 232,003 - - - 232,003
Cash and cash equivalents ReERREEEY
— Not yet past due — [HAR I HA 336,750 - - - 336,750
678,916 - - 91105 770,021

For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified approach

for impairment, information based on the provision matrix is disclosed

in note 19 to the financial statements.

The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments, other

receivables and other assets is considered to be “normal” when they
are not past due and there is no information indicating that the financial
assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.

*k

AE B AR AL 77 AT A4 I AR SR RU(E AR
B B R B R R M S RE M9 -

HeESERMNR - Rt ERTR R A EENT B
EEVEOMATEEMBRZSVUBEEZ(E
B R B VIRER R AR - AZEMBEE
ZIEREERERIER]-
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 36. MEEREEBEREXE (&)
POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk MENE 2R R
The Group is exposed to liquidity risk in respect of settlement of trade NEBGRENMEAER - TRRES KT EBRITR
payables, financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals, HEMEFRUERRREREEEAYRBESRR -
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings and lease liabilities, and also AEBEZHRABTHERRHEST K E5/FE
in respect of its cash flow management. The Group’s policy is to regularly ERTEZEERAEBEBITZBER  BREARZZ
monitor its liquidity requirements, its compliance with lending covenants IR RN AR & MEEBEG TR 2 ARG ERE -
and its relationship with its banks to ensure that it maintains sufficient NEMREEHREERRBESTK -
reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of funding from major
financial institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and
longer term.
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the end of the RMERR  AEBIZRETOERTEREFEZ
reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted payments, is as BB EIIHERNT
follows:
On demand
or less than 1 year 1to 5 years Total
REREE
RIFUT 1855 g
2021 20215 HK$’000 #B¥ T T HK$’000 #B¥ T+t HK$’000 BT 7t
Trade payables FERTEREX 155,355 - 155,355
Financial liabilities included in BEEEMENRK
other payables and accruals B ERAZUEEE 122,374 - 122,374
Interest-bearing bank FTEIRITREMEFK
and other borrowings 645,768 446,437 1,092,205
Lease liabilities HEAE 101,434 35,528 136,962
1,024,931 481,965 1,506,896




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) - Bf 7 ¥ & Mt 3£ (&)

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 36. BIEREEEEREE (8

POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)

mEELRER (&)

On demand
or less than 1 year 1to 5 years Total
HIFLAT 1E5F BRE
2020 2020%F HK$'000 T T HK$'000 B#F T HK$'000 B#F T
Trade payables ARE N 245,718 - 245,718
Financial liabilities included in BEEHEMENKK
other payables and accruals EErERZMBAR 137,244 - 137,244
Interest-bearing bank sEERITREMERK
and other borrowings 484,036 615,880 1,099,916
Finance lease payables ENRERE 162,811 86,329 249,140
1,029,809 702,209 1,732,018

As at 31 March 2021, the Group’s term loans with a repayment on demand
clause in the amount of HK$476,325,000 (2020: HK$307,473,000) were
repayable within one year in accordance with the terms of the loans. The
loan agreement contained a repayment on demand clause giving the bank
the unconditional right to call in the loan at any time and therefore, for
the purpose of the above maturity profile, the total amount was classified
as “on demand”.

Notwithstanding the above clause, the directors do not believe that these
bank loans will be called in its entirety within 12 months, and they consider
that these borrowings will be repaid in accordance with the maturity dates
as set out in the loan agreements. This evaluation was made considering:
the financial position of the Group at the date of approval of the financial
statements; the Group’s compliance with the loan covenants; the lack of
events of default, and the fact that the Group has made all previously
scheduled repayments on time.

HZE2021F3A318 ' AEBEREREZKRZ
RHEERBH B 476,3250007T (20204 : B
307,473,0007T) © JHIRRBEFOERER —FRNE
B ZBERBEeSREREEIER  BTRTE
IRAFREFIBE RS Bk EEZE R - Fitw Lt BIHiAR
NZERZ BBEEIERREREE] -

o

BELMIER  EEATRBRZEFRITEFERN2
AARKER2BEER  MECMHRRBELERS
RBHNERBENDHBER - thFEDZEBA
TEIE  ARERAMBERERAZMER 2 M HHIOR
REBFEETERGER O RBROEN  A&H
BEERERZER
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to
maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it
in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics
of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to
shareholders or issue new shares. The Group has been imposed with several
capital requirements from banks on the Group’s equity to total assets ratio,
net gearing ratio and consolidated tangible net worth. As of 31 March 2021
and 2020, the Group has complied with these capital requirements. No
changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing
capital during the year ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.

The Group monitors capital using net gearing ratio, which is total
borrowings less cash and cash equivalents and time deposits divided by
total equity of the Group. Total borrowings include interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings. The Group’s policy is to maintain the net gearing
ratio not greater than 80%. The net gearing ratios as at the end of the
years were as follows:

36.

BERREEEERBER (&)

ARER
AEMERER EBABARBAEBBMHLE

K2R UHFHRRZERLET  UXHEHE
BRIEIMER 2 EE °

REERESEEERERE - WREAERRE 8 LHE
BAEZRBBEHEELAE - AEFAERE
AR REEAREFHERRERN ZEE - RE
BARTERENETHER - AEBNERBITHAE
EENETEARTE  BREASEZREHBEE
thE - BELEREAEREESFE - R2021963 A4
3IIAK20206 3318 AEEFANEEARRTE °
REZE2021F3A31AIEFE K2020F3A31AIEF
B AAREBEMNEE  BoRSURBEHES L -

AEEMNAFRELERERER  IAKENBE
ERRERRSEBORERER  BAEDR
B mEERREFERITRAMER - AEEZK
KB FFRBELETZNE0% - RMEHRRFAE
BEEMT

2021 2020

20215 20204

HK$’000 B¥ Tt HK$ 000 /¥ T T

Total equity HERAARE 941,956 900,087
Total borrowings less cash and REERHASRACEEY

cash equivalents and time deposits KEHER 292,008 445,008

Debt to equity ratio FARELR 31% 49%




37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY 37.

(a)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) - Bf 7 ¥ & Mt £ (&)

Information about the statement of financial position of the

B iR 3 R R

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

() ARAWPBARRBERNBRSHRMOT

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment
Interests in subsidiaries

CURRENT ASSETS
Prepayments and deposits
Cash and cash equivalents

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Other payables and accruals

NET CURRENT LIABILITIES
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Deferred tax liabilities

NET ASSETS

EQUITY
Issued capital
Reserves

TOTAL EQUITY

2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$°000 &% Tt HK$'000 & # T 7T
EREBEE
Y - WE R E 575 1,035
M B A Rl RS 727,486 742,015
728,061 743,050
RENEE
BT RES 173 225
BeMBESEEY 216 309
389 534
REAE
Hib R R ETEA (1,998) (2,084)
(1,998) (2,084)
REBEERE (1,609) (1,550)
HEERRBARS 726,452 741,500
EREBEE
FEFHEARE (90) (164)
(90) (164)
BEZRE 726,362 741,336
E=
B EITR A (62,296) (62,296)
it (664,066) (679,040)
A (726,362) (741,336)

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 23

June 2021.

Yau On Yee, Annie B8 & &

Ng Yi Kum, Estella (L= Directors %

NN NG

EEESN202156 A 23 BARZE A T3 o
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37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY 37. BtHiRReRa® (&)

(continued)

(b) A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: (b) ARBZHEEBENT :
Share
Share option Contributed Retained Proposed
premium reserve surplus profits dividend Total
BK
BRHEE BRERE BB RBEF RERE Mz

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000
BRI E%TRL O A%TIT O BETR BETE EBTI

At 1 April 2019 201954 A18 121162 15,719 14,770 540,576 13,919 706,146
Total comprehensive loss ZFEEEH

for the year bk - - - (14,036) - (14,036)
Scrip shares re 2018/19 2018/197 5

final dividend R EMR B 849 - - - (1,007) (158)
Forfeiture of share option BRMZ BRRAE - (15,719) - 15,719 - -
Dividends paid RERBIRERE

during the year - - - - (12,912) (12,912)
At 31 March 2020 7202053 A31H

and 1 April 2020 }2020%481H 122,01 - 14,770 542,259 - 679,040
Total comprehensive loss ANEEEHE

for the year bk - - - (14,975) - (14,975)
At 31 March 2021 R2021%E3A31H 122,01 - 14,770 527,284 - 664,065
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37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves

@

)

(D)

(@iv)

Share premium represents premium arising from the issue of
shares at a price in excess of their par value per share.

Capital reserve include the difference between the aggregate
nominal value of the share capital of the subsidiaries and
their combined net assets acquired pursuant to the group
reorganisation and restructuring.

Other reserves include statutory reserve and exchange
fluctuation reserve. Statutory reserve is appropriated from
the profit after taxation of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries
under the applicable laws and regulations in the PRC, while
exchange fluctuation reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations. Exchange reserve is dealt
with in accordance with the accounting policies set out in
note 2.4 to the financial statements.

The contributed surplus of the Company represents
the excess of the fair value of the shares of the Group’s
subsidiaries acquired pursuant to a group reorganisation over
the nominal amount of the Company’s ordinary shares issued
in exchange therefor, less the set-off of the accumulated
losses of the Company amounting to HK$865,747,000 as at
29 February 2004 pursuant to a capital reorganisation.

Share option reserve comprises the fair value of share options
granted which are yet to be exercised, as further explained in
the accounting policy for share-based payments in note 2.4
to the financial statements. The amount will be transferred
either to share capital account when the related options are
exercised, or to retained profits should the related options
expire or be forfeited.

38. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the
board of directors on 23 June 2021.
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
LEHBBE

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests ANEBRBERAHBEE 2 (EREE - BERIFER
of the Group for the last five financial years/period, as extracted from the MEER  BEEACDLAHZEERMNBERRANEEY] /B
published audited financial statements and restated/reclassified as appropriate, is ¥ 98 (ZEMA) - SHIWT o HIABE I FFBK S EXE

set out below. This summary is not part of the audited financial statements. BRER—FD -
RESULTS &

Thirteen Year ended

months ended 28 February

31 March 2018 2017

Year ended 31 March HE HE

HEIAINBLEE 20184 20174

2021 2020 2019 38318 2H28H

20215 20204 20194 -+=1@A IEFE

HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BT T BT T BT T BT T

TURNOVER L 2,648,600 2,913,827 4,064,920 4,137,179 3,410,923

(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX  BRHiAT (E548), &F (1,011) (60,028) 99,442 89,850 51,882

Income tax expense Fsfi & A (43,078) (29,726) (45,275) (40,342) (28,678)
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE ZEE ZHE

YEAR/PERIOD (&18),/ &F| (44,089) (89,754) 54,167 49,508 23,204

Attributable to: FEAGEMD -

Owners of the Company KARER A (43,980) (89,670) 54,161 49,419 23177

Non-controlling interests FEAEARAR R M 2 (109) (84) 6 89 27
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE ZEE ZHE

YEAR/PERIOD (&18),/ &F| (44,089) (89,754) 54,167 49,508 23,204
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY (CONTINUED) - A F B IS 2 ()

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

BE  BERFERRRER

As at

As at 31 March 28 February

MA3A31R 2017

2021 2020 2019 2018 R20174

20214 20204 20194 20184 2A28H

HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BET T BT T BET T BB T T

Non-current assets IERBEE 310,730 495,091 284,882 236,898 249,646

Current assets MENEE 2,220,290 2,213,824 2,172,265 2,316,952 2,379,922

2,531,020 2,708,915 2,457,147 2,553,850 2,629,568

Current liabilities mEEE (1,103,964) (1,135,351) (1,345,295) (959,817) (911,282)

Non-current liabilities IERBAE (485,100) (673,477) (26,142) (441,219) (744,004)

Net assets BEZE 941,956 900,087 1,085,710 1,152,814 974,282

Issued capital AT (62,296) (62,296) (62,138) (61,709) (52,584)

Reserves G4 (879,911) (837,918) (1,023,611 (1,091,125) (921,841)
Equity attributable to owners KARHER A

of the Company FE(hE B RE (942,207) (900,214) (1,085,749) (1152,834) (974,425)

Non-controlling interests FEIE AR AR R A s 251 127 39 20 143

Total equity EReE (941,956) (900,087) (1,085,710) (1,152,814) (974,282)
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SUMMARY OF PROPERTIES
MEREE

Gross floor area

Location (Square Feet)
EEEE

i B (FFR)

Percentage
interest
in property

YIEERE L R

Category
of tenure

FHNDE

Usage

ke

214

Private Car Parking Space

Nos. 43-50 and 73, Basement, and

Lorry Car Parking Space Nos. 1-4, 6, 11 and 14, 1st Floor

Summit Building, 30 Man Yue Street,

Hung Hom, Kowloon, Hong Kong N/A
EBNEAMRBEHIOREETHKRE

HEE43-505% K 735R ALK B AR (L K.

—IB1-45% - 65% - N R4S EEIAENL

Units A1-A7, B, Front and Rear Portion,

Storeroom No.3 and 5, Ground Floor;

Units A1-A2, B and C, 1st Floor;

Unit E-H, 2nd Floor, and

Units A-K and Flat Roof, 3rd Floor

Summit Building, 30 Man Yue Street,

Hung Hom, Kowloon, Hong Kong 91,455
BBNEAWRMEI0REETHKRE
HNA-A7EERL « BEENL - BIEEH - IRSHEDE
—HEAI-A28 (L - BRCEAL : ZHE-HEM K
ZRBA-KEURFA

Units A & B, 1st Floor, Shui Ki Industrial Building,

No. 18, Wong Chuk Hang Road,

Aberdeen, Hong Kong 10,716
BERBBHEMTBSRINEIEANE —EAZBEN

Flat A, 21st Floor, Block 7,

Parc Palais, No. 18 Wylie Road

Kowloon, Hong Kong 1,245
BRBNERIRE IS BREIETE2IEAE

100%

100%

100%

100%

M



SUMMARY OF PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) - ¥ (% 2(#&)

Percentage
Gross floor area interest Category
Location (Square Feet) in property of tenure Usage
EEEE
I 2h (FFR) YRR R FHHNDE A
5 Unit Alon Level 1Tand 2, Block 2,
Heng Chang Garden, Beijing, PRC 1,654 100% L R
REILRTESEE2E—2 ZEAIE
6 Flat 01, 23rd Floor, Block F, Beijing Rome Garden,
Cao Hui Road, Chaoyang District,
Beijing, PRC 1,735 100% L R
PR ATMHGEREERESTCRFE-+T =2 15%RE
L: Long term lease L: RKHZEY
M:  Medium term lease M:  FRHEREEA
C: Carpark C: JHEA
I Industrial unit | TXASEN
R: Residential R: {EF=£H
N/A: Not applicable N/A = i A
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TSE SUI LUEN JEWELLERY (INTERNATIONAL) LIMITED

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)
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